diss. eth no. 25186

# ROLE OF GLP-1 IN ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS

A thesis submitted to attain the degree of DOCTOR OF SCIENCES OF ETH ZURICH (Dr. sc. ETH Zurich)

presented by

NINO JEJELAVA MSc. In Bio-Engineering and Biotechnology; EPFL (Lausanne, Switzerland)

> born on 17 August 1986 citizen of Georgia

accepted on the recommendation of

Prof. Wolfgang Langhans, examiner Prof. Strefan Trapp, co-examiner Prof. Thomas Lutz, co-examiner Dr. Shin Jae Lee, co-examiner

Nino Jejelava: Role of GLP-1 in energy homeostasis  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$  2018

«Poor old Pyecraft! Great, uneasy jelly of substance! The fattest clubman in London.

"I expect," he said, "you take no more exercise than I do, and probably you eat no less." (Like all excessively obese people he fancied he ate nothing.) "Yet,"–and he smiled an oblique smile– "we differ."

And then he began to talk about his fatness and his fatness; all he did for his fatness and all he was going to do for his fatness; what people had advised him to do for his fatness and what he had heard of people doing for fatness similar to his. "A priori," he said, "one would think a question of nutrition could be answered by dietary and a question of assimilation by drugs." It was stifling. It was dumpling talk. It made me feel swelled to hear him.

"I'd give anything to get it down," he would say–"anything," and peer at me over his vast cheeks and pant.

[...]

"So far as I–can make it out, this is a recipe for Loss of Weight. ("Ah!" said Pyecraft.)

"Let me try it," said Pyecraft. "It's nasty stuff," I said. "No matter," he said, and took it.»

Herbert George Wells

The Truth About Pyecraft (From Twelve Stories, 1903)

Obvious limitations do not allow me to acknowledge personally every individual, who indirectly or otherwise contributed to this work and helped me to reach this point in life. However, if I could acknowledge every single person who assisted me in reaching my dream, I most definitely would name you all one by one, and would have expressed my genuine gratitude and thankfulness towards your support, motivation, help, time and inspiration. In that case I am confident the acknowledgements section would have been longer than the entire thesis. Yet still I would be in fear not to miss somebody very important. That's why I would like to start my acknowledgments with expressing my sincere gratitude to each such individual and even if I don't write your name in particular, if you have ever supported or inspired me at any point in my life, in any possible way, this gratitude and appreciation goes to you!

Certain people have however had a significant influence on the course of my doctoral studies, and I would like to take this opportunity to thank them individually below.

First and foremost, I'd like to thank Prof. Wolfgang Langhans. Not only did he give me the opportunity to work in his wonderful lab, but also paid a great deal of attention to my research and professional carrier. He gave me the chance to extend my research interests with side projects and reinforced me at each and every step of it; this was very important for me for acquiring new skills, and also in shaping me as a scientist. I value and cherish every discussion we had.

I would also like to thank my supervisor Dr. Shin Jae Lee who let me work on her project, and in spite of her extremely busy schedule, found time to help and be the main decision maker throughout the study.

I am grateful to my thesis committee member Prof. Stefan Trapp, who always found time to visit our lab and to engage me in valuable discussions. His landmark papers were an inspiration for our major research project. I believe the number of times I have referred to his papers exceeds any other references!

To Prof. Thomas Lutz who agreed and found time, on short notice, to become a member of my committee. Who always expressed interest in my research projects and gave valuable feedback on presentations during lab-meetings. I am grateful to Prof. Urs. Meyer and Dr.Ulli Weber for spending hours in teaching me animal behaviour work, starting from performing experiments, and finishing with analysis and interpretation. You have opened up a whole new world to me.

My sincere thanks to Dr.Jean Philip Krieger, who was always there to teach different techniques, explaining how to perform analysis, and sharing his experience with data interpretation. He was always eager to give his feedback on current study development, showed genuine interest in others research, and was extremely flexible in helping rescue experiments when necessary.

Myrtha Arnold – without your help more than half of my thesis would have been technically impossible to complete. Your surgery experience is outstanding and it was a pleasure to learn from the best! Working with you was always efficient. Your impeccable organization and technical skills pushed me to set higher standards for my own performance. You always took more tasks upon yourself than were in your duties for common good, thus setting an example of how to be a team player. By performing most of the group responsibilities, room/equipment maintenances, ordering/ deliveries, calls, you allowed students to focus mainly on research. I would like to sincerely thank you for all the time you have invested in the lab, fighting for optimal storage, cleaning, refilling. Without all of this work, I believe the lab in general would have been much slower.

Many thanks to Sharon Kaufmann for all the days spent together in animal rooms and metabolites lab; for all the fun time spent on the lab roof grilling for the parties; for chair dances in the corridors, lost bets and most importantly, all the amazing cakes for which I could never guess which fruit was trapped inside.

I am sincerely grateful to Nadja Weissfeld for her understanding, support, and friendship. There are people whom you might pass by for four years only to discover in the last couple of months how great of a personality they have, and how much empathy they possess. Nadja is such an individual, and I will always cherish our friendship.

I would like to thank all my lab members it was great to be part of the team! My thanks to the whole of Wolfrums group for the invaluable discussions, and our unforgettable football matches!

I would like to thank my master's thesis supervisor Prof. Hilal Lashuel, who never saw my different background of a physicist as a limitation, and trained me to transform into a bioengineer. He taught me to critically read scientific papers, design experiments with right controls, and to professionally present data, all of which are essential skills for a scientist.

My sincere thanks to Mirva Hejjaoui, Awad Loay and Bruno Fauvet who were not only my first teachers in the lab, but were also supportive colleagues and true friends. You made me fall in love with science and led me to jump with all my passion into the PhD. Your hard work was a shining example of the fact that there are no limits to human capacity, and one can have no time for anything and still find time to complete everything.

I am grateful to my teachers from bachelor's studies, especially Svimon Tsereteli, Yuri Papava and Nino Partsvania. Special thanks to Mrs. Natela Chachava, who introduced me to research by giving the best possible class in the physics practicum filled with general discussions and educational talks, and also for introducing me to the lab of Prof. Revaz Zaridze. In this lab I was fortunate to have a supportive supervisor: Kakhaber Tavzarashvili, a valuable teacher: Davit Kakulia, George Chelidze and great friends: George Khajaia, Alex Bijamov.

Special thanks to Buba Chhikvishvili who showed me the beauty of biology, provided me with corresponding necessary literature and pointed my attention to the nature of the world and why it evolved into appearance as we experience it now.

My sincere thanks to my school teachers: Marina Mtsketadze, Gulsunda Shakarashvili, Makvala Silagadze and Maia Mikadze. My high school teachers: Tengiz bibilashvili, Niko Chkhaidze, Maia Gabunia, Grigol Gogoberidze, Zaza Osmanov, Zurab Vardanashvili and Temur Gachechiladze.

I am very grateful to my friends in no particular order: Hemant Tyagi, Christian and Olivier Blanvillain, Ioseb Beridze, Lilia Salimova, Josefine, Leifsdotter, Saoussen Ben Halima, Bella Magold, Vladimer da Elene Tsiklashvili, Nikoloz Tsverava, Nikoloz Cimakuridze, Tako Makatsaria, Lali bibilashvili, Nika Kartvelishvili, Aleksandre Margishvili, Tatia Kobaladze, David Sulava, Natia Patibashvili, Mariam Tkebuchava, David Ninidze, Giga Gigauri, Lasha Berejiani, Mikhael Titberidze, Shota Lekashvili, David Boinagrov, David Samkharadze, Vahtang Gomelauri, Natia Revazishvili, Hady Abdelmonim, Natia, Lasha and Beka Kokashvili, Boris Khalfin, Daine and Dorian Cransac, Alessandro Scarpa, Gabriele Siegel, Vika, Marina and Nino Sukhishvili, Vahtang Tsiskaridze, Bichiko Miminoshvili, Zurab Topuria, Tinatin Rukhadze and Salome Gamakharia. I can talk hours about each one of you and the acknowledgments section will not be enough to cover the details of where, when, and how you helped me. My heartfelt thanks to all of you for all the inspirational talks, motivation bursts, happy memories, and for being my natural antidepressants.

I would like to thank my family starting with my parents Maria Dvaladze and George Jejelava. They worked hard to give me the future that I have and sacrificed their own interests by putting mine in front. My mom quit her job so that I could finish my degree, and my uncle Anton Dvaladze used all of his accumulated vacations over years to fly here and support me. My aunts Ekaterine Vardiashvili- Jejelava and Nina Jejelava, together with their beautiful families, have always cheered, encouraged and helped me. Each and every member of my Jejelava and Dvaladze family, I consider myself extremely fortunate to have such a strong bonded and supportive family.

My brother Juansher Jejelava is my idol in life. Be it pre-school, school, or university – he was always my teacher, mentor, and best friend. He was the first PhD in our family and is also our pride. This 34 years old associated professor took months off in between his job in order to teach me how to baby sit and change baby diapers. He is the finest example of an individual possessing both talent and an amiable personality; he has always motivated me to aspire for greater achievements and balance in life.

I am deeply grateful to my husband Giorgi Gviani for fully supporting me. He moved to live in Schwerzenbach, close to the lab, so that I would waste less time in transport and focus more on my research. In the process, he himself spent hours every day the train to commute to his workplace in Bern. While he occasionally complained about spending evenings alone, and sometimes felt that my love for rodents was perhaps greater, he was always willing to change and adjust his plans in a way so that I could still join. He actually learned to distinguish just by smell whether I had visited mice and rat rooms that day. He not only patiently read my thesis, but also gave me the biggest gift of my life.

Finally, words are not enough to express my love for my son Numa Gviani. He patiently sat in my belly for 9 months while I was writing my thesis, and never caused trouble - even when he encountered the smell of mice/rats, or the unwelcoming touch of low metal cold lab tables. He gently encouraged me with kicks to move around more, and was a great reminder that physical exercise is indeed our greatest weapon in the fight against obesity.

# CONTENTS

1	GEN	ERAL	INTRODUCTION	1		
	1.1	Obesi	ty as worldwide problem: tendencies, possible causes			
		and v	iable approaches	1		
		1.1.1	Short overview of current on obesity trends worldwide	1		
		1.1.2	Limitations of epidemiological data	4		
		1.1.3	Genetics	4		
		1.1.4	Evolutionary predisposition towards obesity	5		
		1.1.5	Bacterial 'domination'	5		
		1.1.6	Diet and lifestyle interactions in obesity	6		
	1.2	Appro	oaches to combat obesity	6		
		1.2.1	Use of weight-reducing drugs	6		
		1.2.2	Bariatric surgery	7		
	1.3	1.3 Understanding the central and peripheral control of food				
		intake	2	7		
		1.3.1	Central control of eating	8		
		1.3.2	Peripheral signals and gut peptides involved in en-			
			ergy homeostasis	9		
		1.3.3	Leptin action on the brain	10		
		1.3.4	Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)	12		
		1.3.5	Role of PPG neurons and their possible regulators	14		
	1.4	Aims	of the thesis	16		
	1.5	Refere	eferences			
2	ROL	EOFP	PG NEURONS IN REGULATING ENERGY HOMEOSTA-			
	SIS	SIS IN MICE 3ª				
	2.1	Abstra	act	35		
	2.2	Introduction				
	2.3 Materials and Methods		ials and Methods	37		
		2.3.1	Animals and housing	37		
		2.3.2	DIO studies	38		
		2.3.3	Surgeries	38		
		2.3.4	PPG LV-shPPG knockdown	38		
		2.3.5	DREADD activator / silencer virus injection	39		
		2.3.6	Leptin receptor antagonist (LRA) injection	39		
		2.3.7	Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)	40		

		2.3.8	mRNA level quantification of other genes 40	С
		2.3.9	Mouse perfusion	1
		2.3.10	Immunohistochemical staining	1
		2.3.11	Phenomaster study	2
		2.3.12	Statistical analysis	2
	2.4	Result	s	2
		2.4.1	HFD exposure increases central PPG mRNA expres-	
			sion in mice	2
		2.4.2	Leptin signalling deficiency increases central PPG mRNA	
			expression in mice	4
		2.4.3	Chronic LRA injection into the 4th ventricle triggers	
			BW loss 44	4
		2.4.4	PPG mRNA knockdown decreases FI and amelio-	
			rates BW gain in DIO mice 46	5
		2.4.5	PPG mRNA knockdown reduces hypothalamic NPY	
			expression	5
		2.4.6	PPG mRNA knockdown does not affect PC enzyme	
			levels in NTS 46	5
		2.4.7	Acute PPG neuronal activation and silencing using	
			hM3Dq and hM4Di DREADD has opposite effects on	
			food intake	9
		2.4.8	Chronic PPG neuronal activation and silencing with	
			hM3D1 and hM4Di DREADD increases and decreases	
			body weight, respectively	1
	2.5	Discus	ssion $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $5^{2}$	1
	2.6	Refere	nces	9
з	INT	ESTINA	L LYMPH AS A READOUT OF MEAL–INDUCED GLP-1	
5	REL	EASE	6'	5
	3.1	Abstra	$\mathbf{ct}$	5
	3.2	Introd	uction	6
	3.3	Mater	ials and Methods	7
	J.J	3.3.1	Catheter maintenance	à
		3.3.2	Lymph and blood sampling in relation to test meal	
		<i>J</i> . <i>J</i> . <i>–</i>	with or without IP GLP-1 injection	С
		3.3.3	GLP-1 and insulin measurements	1
		3.3.4	Glucose and TG measurements	1
		3.3.5	DPP-IV activity assay	1
		3.3.6	Data analysis	2
	3.4	Result	s	2
	<u> </u>		1	

	3.4.1	The HFD and LFD test meals increased MLD lymph	
		and HPV plasma GLP-1 concentrations	72
	3.4.2	IP GLP-1 injections increased MLD lymph and HPV	
		plasma GLP-1 concentrations independent of test meal	
		fat content	74
	3.4.3	Insulin, glucose and fat metabolites showed similar	
		profiles in MLD lymph and HPV plasma	77
	3.4.4	DPP-IV activity was higher in HPV plasma compared	
		to MLD lymph	80
3.5	Discus	sion	81
3.6	Refere	nces	86
CEN	EDAT T	DISCUSSION	01
GEN	Ouomu	ious of the main findings	91
4.1	Overv		91
4.2	Centra	ally and peripherally produced GLP-1	92
	4.2.1	Do peripheral and central GLP-1 have different roles?	92
	4.2.2	Possible mechanism of PPG upregulation	93
	4.2.3	Can PPG KD prevent DIO?	95
	4.2.4	Species differences	96
4.3	Final r	emarks	97
4.4	Refere	nces	98
	3.5 3.6 GEN 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.2 3.4.3 3.4.4 3.5 Discus 3.6 Refere GENERAL I 4.1 Overv 4.2 Centra 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.3 Final I 4.4 Refere	<ul> <li>3.4.1 The HFD and LFD test meals increased MLD lymph and HPV plasma GLP-1 concentrations</li></ul>

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

$\alpha$ -MSH	alpha melanocyte stimulating hormone
AgRP	agouti-related peptide
AMPK	adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
ANOVA	analysis of variances
AP	area postrema
ARC	arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus
AUC	area under the curve
BAT	brown adipose tissue
BBB	blood brain barrier
BDNF	brain derived neurotropic factor
BMI	body mass index
BTS	biotinylated tyramine solution
BW	body weight
CAA	central autonomic area
CART	cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript
CBS	caudal brainstem
ССК	cholecystokinin
CD	standard chow diet
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CNO	clozapine-N-oxide
CNS	central nervous system
CVO	circumventricular organ
DIO	diet-induced obesity
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle Medium
DMH	dorsomedial hypothalamus
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DMV	dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus nerve
DPP-IV	dipeptidyl peptidase-IV

DREADD	designer receptor exclusively activated by designer drugs
Ex-4	exendin-4
<i>Ex-</i> 9	exendin-(9-39)
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
FDA	Federd Drug Adminstration
FI	food intake
Fig	figure
GABA	$\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GI	gastrointestinal
GIP	gastric inhibitory polypeptide
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide-1
GLP-1R	glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor
GLP-2	glucagon-like peptide-2
Glu-Cre	glucagon promoter - Cre recombinase
Glu-YFP	glucagon promoter - yellow fluorescent protein
HEK <b>-</b> 293	Human embryonic kidney cells 293
HFD	high-fat diet
HPV	hepatic portal vein
ICV	intracerebroventricular
IL-6	interleukin-6
IML	intermedialateral cell column
IP	intraperitoneal
JAK2	Janus-activated kinase
KD	knockdown
LepR	leptin receptor
LFD	low fat diet
LHA	lateral hypothalamic area
LRA	leptin receptor antagonist
LV	lentivirus
MC4R	melanocotrin-4 receptor
MLD	mesenteric lymph duct

NAc	nucleus accumbens
NPY	neuropeptide-Y
NTRK2	neurotrophic tyrosine kinase 2
NTS	nucleus of the tractus solitarii
OECD	organizatuin fir economic co-operation and development
P-STAT3	phosphorylated STAT3
PBS	phospate buffered saline
PBST	0.3% Triton-X 100 in PBS
PC1/3	protein convertase 1/3
PC2	protein convertase 2
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PCSK1	proconvertase 1
PEG	polyethylene glycol
PFA	paraformaldehyde
Phox2b	paired-like homeobox 2b
PKA	protein kinase A
РМСН	pro-melanin concentrating hormone
РОМС	proopiomelanocortin
PPG	preproglucagon
PVN	paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus
РҮҮ	peptide tyrosine tyrosine
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RER	respiratory exchange ratio
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RT	reverse transcription
RT-PCR	reverse transcript – polymerase chain reaction
SDA	subdiaphragmatic vagal deafferentation
SEM	standard error of the mean
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
SIM1	single-minde homolog 1
SOCS3	suppressor of cytokine signaling 3
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3

ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus
rate of oxygen consumption
ventral tegmental area
week(s)
white adipose tissue
world health organization
wild type
yellow fluorescent protein

Obesity has become a great problem worldwide. According to world health organization reports in 2016, more than 1.9 billion adults were overweight worldwide and over 650 million of these were obese. Obesity has both instant (psychological) and long-term health consequences. It is linked to various diseases including cardiovascular diseases, type-2-diabetes, etc. Therefore, growing public health concerns emphasize the need to develop a strategy to treat or – better - prevent obesity.

Obesity develops if energy intake is greater than energy expenditure over a longer time-period. A better understating of the gut-brain interactions in the context of energy homeostasis with the focus on food intake (FI) may help to find novel solutions to treat and prevent obesity. One of the intestinal peptides that has the capacity to control energy intake and metabolism is glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), which is produced in the periphery by enteroendocrine L-cells and centrally in pre-pro glucagon (PPG) neurons.

One of our goals was to gain some basic knowledge about the role of centrally produced GLP-1 in energy homeostasis (Chapter 2). To this end, we generated a lentivirus (LV)-mediated PPG knockdown (KD) mouse model and characterized its phenotype. The KD resulted in decreased body weight gain and daily FI in HFD-fed mice compared to their corresponding virus-injected controls. We found a decrease in hypothalamic NPY mRNA expression in KD compared to control animals. These findings suggest that PPG neurons can stimulate FI through NPY signaling.

In addition, we addressed the question of PPG neuronal activation and silencing using the 'designer receptors exclusively activated by designer drugs' (DREADD) technology. Acute DREADD-mediated activation of PPG neurons decreased FI while silencing had the opposite effect. We also addressed the effects of PPG neuronal activation on energy expenditure and observed that it results in a decrease of respiratory rate and an increase in heat loss. Together, these findings indicate that PPG neurons play an important role in energy homeostasis and suggest that their function is more complex than commonly thought.

The experiments described In Chapter <sub>3</sub> focused on peripheral GLP-1. We used an unrestrained rat model to collect intestinal lymph and hepatic portal vein (HPV) blood with the aim of precisely measuring the release of

endogenous intestinal GLP-1 in relation to isocaloric meals with a different fat content. In addition, we aimed at addressing the possible physiological relevance of IP administered GLP-1.

With the aim to evaluating whether intestinal lymph would provide a better readout than HPV plasma for the secretion of intestinal peptides and metabolites, we measured in both compartments, i.e., in the mesenteric lymph duct (MLD) and in the HPV, in parallel at different time points the concentrations of GLP-1, insulin, glucose, and triglycerides (TG) associated with different test meals and exogenously administered GLP-1. In addition, we characterized the dipeptidyl peptidase-IV (DPP-IV) activity to evaluate its possible influence on the GLP-1 concentrations measured in MLD lymph and HPV plasma. DPP-IV activity in HPV plasma was higher than in intestinal lymph, which presumably contributed to the lower levels of GLP-1 in HPV plasma compared to MLD lymph. Insulin and glucose showed similar profiles in MLD lymph and HPV plasma, whereas TG levels were of course higher in lymph than in plasma. Our findings indicate that intestinal lymph provides a sensitive readout for intestinal GLP-1 release when fat-rich diets are consumed. While it is less interesting to monitor insulin and other metabolites in intestinal lymph, it may still be useful for some actions of gut peptides under certain conditions.

The General Discussion Chapter 4 extends the interpretations of our own findings, discusses their limitations and puts them into a broader perspective. It also identifies new questions that our findings raise, and discusses future directions that research in this area might take. Our findings and animal models add to the basic knowledge about the role of GLP-1 and contribute to mounting evidence that central GLP-1 producing PPG neurons may eventually become a promising therapeutic target for the fight against obesity.

Übergewicht ist zu einem weltweiten Problem geworden. Den Berichten der Weltgesundheitsorganisation von 2016 zufolge, sind mehr als 1.9 Milliarden Erwachsene übergewichtig und von diesen über 650 Millionen adipös. Übergewicht hat sowohl unmittelbare psychische als auch lang-fristige (psychische und physische) Gesundheitsfolgen. Es steht im direkten Zusammenhang mit verschiedenen Krankheiten wie Herz-Kreislauf-Erkrankungen, Typ-2-Diabetes usw. Im Interesse der öffentlichen Gesundheit ist es deshalb notwendig, eine wirksame Strategie zur Behandlung oder - besser - Vorbeugung von Adipositas zu entwickeln.

Übergewicht entsteht, wenn über längere Zeit die Energieaufnahme grösser ist als die -abgabe. Ein besseres Verständnis der Interaktionen zwischen Darm und Gehirn in Bezug auf die Energiehomöostase und inbesondere mit dem Fokus auf die Nahrungsaufnahme könnte helfen, neuartige Lösungen zu finden, um Übergewicht zu behandeln und vorzubeugen. Eines der Intestinalpeptide, welches die Möglichkeit bietet, die Energieaufnahme und den Metabolismus zu kontrollieren, ist Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1). GLP-1 wird peripher von enteroendokrinen L-Zellen und zentral von Pre-proglucagon (PPG) Neuronen produziert.

Eines unserer Ziele war es, das Grundlagenwissen über die Rolle von zentral produziertem GLP-1 bei der Regulation der Energiehomöostase zu vermehren (Kapitel 2). Dazu generierten wir mittels Lentiviren ein Mäusemodel mit einem PPG Knockdown (KD) und charakterisierten dessen Phänotyp. Verglichen mit den virusinjizierten Kontrollen führte der Gen-Knockdown bei Mäusen, die mit einer Hochfettdiät gefüttert wurden, zu einer verminderten Körpergewichtszunahme und zu einer reduzierten Nahrungsaufnahme. Zudem stellten wir bei den KD-Mäusen im Vergleich zu den Kontrollen eine verminderte mRNA Expression von NPY im Hypothalamus fest. Diese Befunde deuten darauf hin, dass PPG Neurone die Nahrungsaufnahme über NPY Signalwege stimulieren.

Darüber hinaus untersuchten wir die Frage der Aktivierung und Deaktivierung von PPG Neuronen mittels der 'designer receptors exclusively activated by designer drugs' (DREADD) Technologie. Die akute Aktivierung der PPG Neurone mittels DREADD führte zu einer reduzierten Nahrungsaufnahme, während die Deaktivierung den gegensätzlichen Effekt hatte. Wir erfassten auch die Energie während der Aktivierung von PPG Neuronen und stellten eine Reduktion der Atemfrequenz und einen erhöhten Wärmeverlust fest. Diese Resultate weisen darauf hin, dass PPG Neurone eine wichtige Rolle bei der Energiehomöostase spielen und lassen vermuten, dass deren Funktion komplexer ist als bisher angenommen.

Die in Kapitel 3 beschriebenen Experimente konzentrierten sich auf peripheres GLP-1. Wir verwendeten hierfür ein Modell, bei welchem sich die Ratten während dem Sammeln von intestinaler Lymphe und Pfortader (HPV) Blut uneingeschränkt bewegen konnten. Das Ziel war die exakte Messung der Ausschüttung von endogenem intestinalem GLP-1 während isokalorischen Mahlzeiten mit verschiedenem Fettgehalt.

Ein weiteres Ziel war, zu evaluieren, ob die intestinale Lymphe ein besseres Readout für die Sekretion von intestinalen Peptiden und Metaboliten ist als HPV Plasma. Wir erfassten dazu parallel und zu verschiedenen Zeitpunkten, die Konzentrationen von GLP-1, Insulin, Glukose und Triglyceriden (TG) in Relation zu verschiedenen Testmahlzeiten und nach exogen verabreichtem GLP-1 im Pfortaderblut und in Lymphe aus dem mesenterialen Lymphkanal.

Zusätzlich charakterisierten wir die Aktivität der Dipeptidylpeptidase -4 (DPP-IV), um eine mögliche Beeinflussung der GLP-1 Konzentrationen in der Intestinallymphe und im HPV Plasma zu evaluieren. Die DPP-IV Aktivität im HPV Plasma war höher als in der Intestinallymphe, was wahrscheinlich zu den geringeren GLP-1 Konzentrationen im HPV Plasma im Vergleich zu den Konzentrationen in der Intestinallymphe beitrug. Insulin und Glukose wiesen in der Intestinallymphe und im HPV Plasma ein ähnliches Profil auf, während dieTG, wie erwartet, in der Lymphe höher waren als im Plasma.

Unsere Resultate weisen darauf hin, dass Intestinallymphe ein sensitiver Readout für die intestinale GLP-1 Freisetzung ist, wenn fettreiche Nahrung konsumiert wird. Weniger interessant ist es, Insulin und Metabolite in der Intestinallymphe zu messen. Die Messung von Fettmetaboliten könnte unter bestimmten Bedingungen und für spezielle Fragestellungen (Fettabsorption, etc.) jedoch nützlich sein.

Die allgemeine Diskussion in Kapitel 4 erweitert die Interpretationen unserer eigenen Befunde, diskutiert deren Beschränkungen und stellt sie in einen grösseren Rahmen. Zudem werden auch neue Fragen, die unsere Befunde aufwerfen und zukünftige Richtungen diskutiert, in welche die Forschung in diesem Bereich gehen könnte. Unsere Befunde vermehren den Kenntnisstand bezüglich der Rolle von GLP-1 bei der Regulation der Energiehomöostase und unterstützen sich mehrende Hinweise darauf, dass zentrale, GLP-1 produzierende Neurone ein valables Ziel für die Therapie der Adipositas sein könnten.

1

#### GENERAL INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 OBESITY AS WORLDWIDE PROBLEM: TENDENCIES, POSSIBLE CAUSES AND VIABLE APPROACHES

The media and the scientific community refer to obesity as an epidemic. Obesity prevalence increased dramatically over the past decades, and such a fast change can not be simply attributed to genetics. Our modern life style, which involves only little exercise and an abundance of food with high energy density and often poor nutritional value are the main factors to blame [90,97,98,105,160]. Even though the most obvious and least invasive solution would be to incorporate more exercise in our daily life and to change our diet, human nature tends to resist such changes, and the majority of us still dream about other, simpler solutions. Adhering to a diet for a lifetime is probably one of the most difficult rules to keep. Hence, we are waiting for a 'magic pill' that would solve all our problems, allowing us to eat as much as we want and, should we not like our picture in the mirror or get health complications due to the overweight, have a drug to solve these problems for us as well. If this medicine would be of natural, organic origin, it might conquer consumers of all believes. But, as much as we wish to have such a solution, as far we are still away from achieving it.

To have the fundamental scientific knowledge about what causes obesity and what changes in the body once we reach the obese status, is the key to finding a viable approach to combatting obesity and its metabolic consequences. My work in the lab related to gaining further knowledge in the field of obesity, with the focus on the role of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) in the control of food intake (FI) and regulation of energy homeostasis.

## 1.1.1 Short overview of current on obesity trends worldwide

Obesity is an excessive accumulation of body fat. It is linked to several health problems, such as type-2-diabetes mellitus (T2DM), metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular diseases, and some types of cancer [100]. Judged

by the so called BMI (calculated by the formula  $weight(kg)/height^2(m^2)$ ), which aims at quantitatively assessing the amount of tissue mass relative to an individual's height, people can be categorized as underweight (< 18.5), normal weight (18.5-24.9), overweight (> 25), or obese (> 30) [20]. The BMI does, however, not asses the tissue or body composition, i.e., the ratios among the amount of muscles, fat and bones. Knowing a person's weight and height is therefore not sufficient to judge an individual's true obesity status. For example, an athlete with lots of muscles falls into the same BMI category as an obese person with the same height and weight, but much less muscle mass [56,89]. Nevertheless, despite its obvious limitations, the BMI is still the most widely used method to judge on the overall obesity status of the population. And globally the figures are daunting. Obesity has increased by approximately 40% between 1980 and 2013 [109]. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) worldwide http://www.who.int/gho/ncd/:

- 39% women and 39% of men were overweight at the age of 18+ in 2016
- 18% of children and adolescents were overweight or obese in the age range of 5-19 in 2016

Childhood obesity remains one of the biggest challenges to be tackled, otherwise the number of obese individuals will continue to increase over time, and the burden for our health care systems will be daunting [6,67,85, 93].

The level of adiposity increases in all countries, making it a truly global problem [18,41,119,143]. Women and men, both, are similarly susceptible to develop obesity, i.e., obesity is not a sex or gender-specific problem. It is therefore reasonable to consider women and men together and look at the statistics of individual countries over time. The obesity trends over time reveal that the USA together with Mexico are taking the lead, followed by Australia and England Fig. 1.1.

Unfortunately, the awareness of the obesity pandemic does not do anything to alleviate it. This failure to deal with a recognized problem by behavioural modification calls for a better understanding of the causes that lead to such a profound increase in obesity worldwide. It is necessary to direct the efforts of research towards possible solutions to slow down these trends and to eventually be able to prevent it and perhaps also help those



FIGURE 1.1: Obesity rates in different countries reported as rate of obesity in percentage versus time in years. Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD) analysis of health survey data 2014. Note: Measured height and weight in Australia, England, Korea, Mexico and the United States; self-reported in other countries. Source: http://www.oecd.org/ newsroom/more-efforts-needed-to-tackle-rising-obesity.htm

people who already are obese and are facing the health complications associated with it.

# 1.1.2 Limitations of epidemiological data

It is worth mentioning that epidemiological data are limited in several ways. First, in most cases weight and height data for the BMI score are self-reported rather than measured across the population. This can lead to bias (as mentioned in relation to the OECD survey data) because women are less willing to report their true BW compared to men. Second, not all people categorized as obese based on BMI are actually unhealthy [53]. Rather, a person can have a substantial accumulation of fat and yet be considered healthy in regards to metabolic as well as cardio-respiratory fitness ('obesity paradox'), and in some cases even carry a lower risk of all-cause mortalities than people with normal BMI [13, 53, 113, 157]. The biggest limitation of epidemiological studies is that they can not take into consideration all complex influencing factors [66].

# 1.1.3 Genetics

It is widely accepted that one of the main contributors to developing obesity is our modern life style, but it is also clear that a genetic component determines the risk to develop an obese phenotype under these conditions [58]. Studies in monozygotic twins revealed high heritability values for the BMI, even if the twins grew up in different environments [165]. Studies in adopted children revealed that the children's BMI correlates better with their biological parents' BMI than with their adopted parents' BMI [138,141].

Monogenetic forms of obesity are rare and may play a role in up to 5% of obese individuals [3,52]. Over 200 single gene mutations in homozygous form can be associated to human obesity (all these mutations are found in only 10 genes), for example leptin, leptin receptor, pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), proconvertase 1 (PCSK1), melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R), brainderived neurotropic factor (BDNF), neurotrophic tyrosine kinase 2 (NTRK2), and single-minded homolog 1 (SIM1) [3,12,104,123]. Interestingly all these genes code for proteins involved in the leptin-melanocortin signaling pathway in the hypothalamus, which emphasizes the importance of this pathway for energy homeostasis [3,43,52]. Polygenetic forms of obesity are, however, much more frequent; usually the combination of several altered genes, which can vary greatly among individuals, accounts for an enhanced susceptibility to gain weight in our current obesogenic environment. The underlying causes are therefore complex and require further attention [43, 165].

#### 1.1.4 Evolutionary predisposition towards obesity

The so-called 'thrifty gene'- theory proposes that the capability to store large amounts of fat could have been an advantage for early humans during the hunting and gathering time [107, 108]. In modern society, however, this trait is disadvantageous, because food is constantly available and, hence, the propensity to store large amounts of fat might lead to obesity [140].

The 'thermogenesis hypothesis' states that climate changes influenced the genes. In fact, around the world differences with respect to the prevalence of obesity between warm and cold-adapted ethnic groups can be seen. Thus, people living in warm climates have a higher obesity prevalence than those living in cold climates. Body shape, overall body surface and thermogenesis could be related to climate [135].

Although all these hypotheses have some valid arguments, none can explain the wide range of obesity forms. Nevertheless, it is still worth to consider human evolution for a better understanding of modern human eating behavior leading to obesity. For example, humans have not developed alone. Rather, they have co-existed with certain microorganisms for millions of years. Hence, it is also interesting to consider the modifications that these microorganisms undergo nowadays and how our lifestyle changes affect them and how factors they release in turn affect us.

#### 1.1.5 Bacterial 'domination'

Many different microorganisms live on the surface of the mucosa in the human intestine, i.e., they colonize our gut. The collection of all these microbes is called human gut microbiota [58, 120]. The gut microbiota supposedly represent more than 3 million non-redundant genes [120], which outnumbers the human genome by far (x150) [120]. It should therefore not be surprising that microbiota and their changes contribute to various aspects of energy homeostasis, possibly also including the development of metabolic diseases such as obesity and T2DM [147, 163, 164]. In gen-

eral microbiota can influence many aspects of human metabolism, such as biosynthesis of the steroid hormones, bile salt metabolism, etc. [60,142,155, 158,168].

Analysis of human feces revealed that they contain mainly seven bacterial phyla: Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Fusobacteria, Verrucomicrobia and Cyanobacteria [86, 147]. Changes in the ratio of these bacterial populations supposedly can affect energy homeostasis [29,71,158,164].

# 1.1.6 Diet and lifestyle interactions in obesity

Environmental factors such as life style and diet preferences influence body weight (BW). Sugar-sweetened beverage consumption has been implicated in the obesity epidemic, as has a high intake of fried foods, usually resulting in higher energy intake [20,66]. Additional factors are a high intake of saturated fatty acids, disturbed sleep, social factors, and a reduction in physical activity, which all combine to shape an individual's BW [20,105,119].

# 1.2 APPROACHES TO COMBAT OBESITY

# 1.2.1 Use of weight-reducing drugs

For individuals with a BMI above 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> drug treatments are considered as an option, especially if the high BMI is accompanied by complications such as T2DM, dyslipidemia or hypertension [100]. Different classes of anti-obesity drugs are currently approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). One class of drugs is designed to reduce absorption of calories. Orlistat (Xenical®, Roche) - inhibits the intestinal lipase and, hence, the intestinal absorption of triglycerides; other drugs act on FI through targeting appetite controlling pathways in the brain. For example, Lorcaserin HCl (Belviq®, Arena Pharmaceutics) - serotonin receptor agonist; Pramlintide (Symlin®, AstraZeneca) - amylin analog and Liraglutide (Saxenda®, Novo Nordisk) - GLP-1 analog; [28, 112]. Despite large number of drugs on the market, it is noteworthy that the maximum weight loss that can be expected to result from such medications is only in the range of 5-10 kg over 2 years [38], which doesn't seem much if somebody is heavily obese. One should also mention possible side effects of these drugs and the simple fact that they are not always effective. For example,

7

it is not clear which sub-population of patients will respond effectively to one or the other drug and at which doses. Hence, there is a need for more personalized pharmacologic intervention. Ideally, the pharmacological response should be assessed in relation to genetic tests. The recognition of this need gave rise to the field of pharmacogenetics [22]. Overall, however, at least until now, bariatric surgery rather than pharmacologic approaches, alone or in combination with diets, still is the most effective means against obesity and its metabolic consequences [136].

#### 1.2.2 Bariatric surgery

Bariatric Surgery was first used over 60 years ago. Currently every year more than 200.000 bypass surgeries are performed alone in the USA [80, 110]. Originally, all the health benefits of bariatric surgery were attributed to a physical limitation of FI due to the reduction in stomach size together with malabsorption of nutrients [137,144]. Interestingly, however, improvements in T2DM occur prior to the significant BW loss, which suggests that other factors such as gut hormones, bile acids, gut microbiota etc. may be involved [96, 134].

The bariatric surgery approach, however, has also shortcomings. Thus, several studies report that the capacity to absorb vitamin D and other nutrients is substantially reduced after surgery [35, 44, 48]. This and the fact that bariatric surgery is invasive, leads to gut remodeling and can entail infections, stomach obstruction or a constant feeling of nausea with frequent vomiting, calls for better methods to treat obesity [110, 129, 134]. Nevertheless, the undeniable metabolic benefits and the current unavailability of other, more efficient methods, account for the fact that bariatric surgery remains the most efficient and widely used method to combat obesity worldwide.

#### 1.3 UNDERSTANDING THE CENTRAL AND PERIPHERAL CONTROL OF FOOD INTAKE

As mentioned before, what we eat and how much we eat can lead to obesity [12, 29, 66, 67, 75, 113, 138, 157]. It is therefore important to ask what makes us eat one or the other kind of food, how much and how often. Of course countless factors can influence eating, and as a result, our daily choices of food usually changes [18]. Nevertheless, despite the undeniable global obesity problem discussed so far, not everybody is obese, and in healthy adults, BW and the amount of accumulated fat (i.e., the size of the body's fat stores) remain in fact amazingly stable. This is supposedly due to a potent physiological mechanism that maintains energy homeostasis. This mechanism allows for the matching of energy expenditure and energy intake over a long time. Its morphological substrate is a neuronal network linking different brain areas [39, 132]. In other words, the brain receives the information about the level of fat stored in the body through one or another signal and matches FI and energy expenditure adequately.

# 1.3.1 Central control of eating

One of the most important brain regions involved in the regulation of energy homeostasis is the hypothalamus [16, 130, 139]. The hypothalamus has the capacity to integrate the signals coming from the periphery, in particular the adiposity signals derived from adipose tissue, and it is also critical in responding to afferent signals from the gut and the brain stem [51]. The arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus (ARC) contains several populations of neurons that are characterized by the expression of proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) or agouti-related peptide (AgRP) and neuropeptide-Y (NPY). Activation of the neurons that co-express NPY and AgRP increases FI and reduces energy expenditure, i.e., these neuropeptides are anabolic. Activation of the neurons that co-expresses CART and POMC decreases FI and increases energy expenditure, and these neuropeptides are therefore called catabolic [5, 14, 139, 166].

# 1.3.1.1 POMC and CART neurones in the ARC

POMC neurons release the neuropeptide alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone ( $\alpha$ -MSH), which inhibits FI through its capacity to bind to melanocortin receptors [72]. Pro-hormone convertase (PC) enzymes are required for POMC prohormone convertase PC1/PC3 to produce melano-cortins [74]. In case of  $\alpha$ -MSH the MC4R receptor on the target neurons is required for it to inhibit FI [70]. Mice deficient in POMC have increased FI and, as a consequence, show weight gain [166]. In humans homozygous mutations in the POMC gene result in early onset of obesity, adrenal insufficiency and red hair pigmentation [83]. Also, polymorphisms of the MC4R are the most frequent mono-genetic contributors to overweight [58]. Subsets of POMC neurons are responsive to leptin. The POMC neurons that express the leptin receptor are stimulated by leptin, and in leptin-deficient mice these neurons are inhibited [36].

The majority of POMC neurons co-express CART. Intracerebroventricular (ICV) administration of CART was shown to inhibit FI [82]. Blocking the flow of cerebrospinal fluid between the third and fourth ventricles eliminated this effect, suggesting that it originates from CART signaling in the hindbrain rather than the hypothalamus [2]. Unexpectedly, twice daily administration of CART into the ARC in rats for 1 week produced a 60% increase - rather than decrease - in FI [1,78,82]. This is in line with an experiment in which overexpression of CART in the ARC resulted in increased cumulative FI and BW gain [78], indicating that under certain conditions CART may have an orexigenic effect. Together these findings suggest that CART might be involved in at least two distinct circuitries where in one it may act as an anorectic and in the other as an orexigenic signal [139].

#### 1.3.1.2 NPY and AgRP neurones in the ARC

NPY can act at five different receptors (Y1, Y2, Y3, Y4, and Y5) [132]. ICV injection of NPY in rats increases FI. The stimulatory effect of NPY on eating is mainly mediated through Y1 and Y5 receptors. Most NPY is co-expressed with AgRP [7, 17]. Deletion of NPY/AgRP in young mice was shown to reduce FI and BW [14, 54, 132]. Because NPY/AgRP neurons extensively project to the PVN, the DMN and the LHA interest focused on the capacity of these projections to mediate the enhanced FI [14]. ICV Injection of NPY and AgRP into the PVN produced a stimulation of FI [25, 139].

#### 1.3.2 Peripheral signals and gut peptides involved in energy homeostasis

In previous paragraphs, I described some aspects of the hypothalamic circuitries in the regulation of energy homeostasis. I also mentioned that these central mechanisms are downstream of and activated or inhibited by peripheral signals. This raises the questions of 1) which are these peripheral signals, 2) how do they reach the brain, and 3) when and where do they emerge?

Many hormones and nutrient-related peripheral signals can influence energy homeostasis. Among them are satiating gut peptides such as peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY), glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), and cholecystokinin (CCK), which all can lead to meal termination, as opposed to FI stimulating peptides such as ghrelin. In addition to gut hormones, other factors such as metabolic processes can also affect energy homeostasis and, in particular, FI [62]. As I cannot cover all the peripheral signals comprehensively within the scope of this thesis, I will mostly focus on signals related to my work:

Gut peptides: GLP-1 and CCK are satiation peptides that signal the brain together with neuronal signals generated by gastric distention. Mostly these two hormones, similar to gastric distension, trigger neural signals in afferent fibres of the vagus nerve, which project from the gut to the NTS in the caudal hindbrain [62].

Leptin signalling deficiency in the brain was shown to reduce the capacity of CCK to decrease FI, which resulted in an increase in meal size. Similar findings were reported for leptin and GLP-1 [99,116]. Interestingly, the NTS and the ARC are reciprocally connected, both directly and indirectly. This interaction is important for the modulation of satiation signals by leptin, i.e., in essence for the modulation of eating by the amount of energy stored in the body [26,51,94]. In addition, leptin can modulate the satiation signals by acting on hindbrain leptin receptors [94, 132]

#### 1.3.3 Leptin action on the brain

Every person has a different settling point of BW, which is the result of environmental factors acting upon a certain genetic background. As long as the environment or any other factor does not change, an energy balance will be established that may be maintained over a long time. As changes in BW of adult individuals are mainly due to changes in body fat, fat is supposed to be the critical variable that is kept relatively constant. Adipose tissue stores energy in form of lipids and has the capacity to release different compounds into the blood to inform the brain about the amount of energy stored, like the fuel gauge of a car. Leptin, a major secretory compound of adipose tissue, encoded by the ob gene, is the prototypical adiposity signal. In many conditions the plasma levels of leptin are approximately proportional to the size of the fat stores [27, 131]. By modulating energy intake and expenditure, leptin has the capacity to regulate the amount of fat stored in the body. In this context, low levels of leptin shut off all energy consuming activities and make any edible food attractive to prompt eating [23, 40, 94, 130, 132, 133, 162]. Leptin deficiency or leptin signalling deficiency causes an obese phenotype. In the case of leptin deficiency this obese phenotype can be fully reversed by leptin administration [159, 167]. Leptin can enter the brain and act on its receptor that is expressed in the

main neuronal populations involved in the regulation of energy balance in the hypothalamus, but also in other brain areas, in particular in the hindbrain [10, 21, 130]. A primary target of leptin in the hypothalamus is the hypothalamic ARC with its different sets of peptidergic neurons, secreting orexigenic neuropeptide Y and AgRP or the anorexigenic POMC (see above) [9, 36, 91, 132]. The central administration of leptin decreases FI and BW [9, 10, 23]. Leptin administration suppresses NPY and AgRP neurons and activates POMC and CART neurons [15, 23, 82, 162]. The overall effect of these actions is catabolic. In addition, as also mentioned before, leptin acts on PVN and LHA neurons, where it decreases the expression of orexin and melanin stimulating hormone (MSH) [79]. Fig. 1.2 (adapted from [132]) summarizes the hypothalamic signalling pathways downstream of leptin and insulin with increasing or decreasing body fat mass and with FI as a readout [132].

Leptin receptors are also expressed in the NTS, and 4<sup>th</sup> ventricle leptin injection also reduces FI, whereas leptin receptor knockdown in the NTS was shown to increase FI [133]. Several neuronal populations in the NTS express functional leptin receptors, including Prepro-glucagon (PPG) neurons that produce GLP-1. Taking into account that both GLP-1 and leptin reduce FI, and that leptin depolarizes PPG neurons, PPG neurons can be regulated by leptin [50, 51, 55, 59].

Obese individuals commonly exhibit a reduced leptin responsiveness, which is often called leptin resistance. Leptin resistance could be due to either a compromised leptin transport across the blood brain barrier (BBB) or to decreased sensitivity of leptin receptors to leptin. Persistent high levels of circulating leptin can eventually cause leptin resistance [42, 145]. HFD feeding can induce obesity and leptin resistance [88, 91, 101]. Peripheral and central leptin resistance can be distinguished [24, 92]. Central leptin resistance was shown to occur in the hypothalamic ARC [91]. Signalling is also impaired in the VMN, DMN and PVN, whereas some neuron populations in the NTS appear to remain leptin sensitive [101, 130, 132, 145]. Whether pre-pro glucagon (PPG) neurons in the NTS are leptin sensitive or become insensitive, and under which conditions, is unclear and needs to be further investigated. Thus, within the CNS regionally selective leptin resistance seems to take place, and in general, central leptin resistance usually occurs later than peripheral resistance.

Insulin produced by  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreatic islets is also implicated in energy homeostasis regulation as an adiposity signal. Similar to leptin,



FIGURE 1.2: Schematic representation of signals regulating NPY/AgRP and POMC neurons in the context of food intake [132].

circulating insulin reflects the size of the body's fat stores and acts centrally to inhibit eating [170].

# 1.3.4 Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)

GLP-1 is a 30 amino acid peptide, produced primarily in enteroendocrine cells in the intestine and in a distinct group of neurons in the NTS. In the intestine, GLP-1 is secreted by the open-type endocrine L-cells with a triangular shape, which are located in the basal lamina of the intestinal epithelium [19]. Their cytoplasmic processes reach the gut lumen. This way L-cells can sense digestion products of carbohydrates, lipids and proteins, i.e., the overall nutritional status in the gut lumen, and generate an appropriate response in terms of GLP-1 secretion [121,122]. The density of L-cells increases throughout the small and large intestines from oral to caudal, i.e., even the rectum contains a high density of L-cells [148,149].

GLP-1 is encoded by the pre-pro-glucagon gene, and the gene product undergoes post-translational processing by enzymes called pro-hormone convertases PC1, PC2 and PC3. These enzymes are encoded by the PscK1 gene [126–128, 169]. Importantly, the PC1-3 enzymes do not only process pro-glucagon and glucagon, but also proopiomelanocortin, proinsulin, and proghrelin. Several studies have shown a relationship between the frequency of PCSK1 gene polymorphisms in the population and the increase in the susceptibility to obesity [11,62].

After GLP-1 is released and diffuses from the basal lamina to the lamina propria, it is taken up into the capillaries. Some of the released GLP-1 also ends up in intestinal lymph. After its release, the enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-IV) rapidly degrades GLP-1. DPP-IV is located on the surface of the endothelial cells lining the capillaries, and it can be cleaved to be released into the blood stream [31–34,63]. The degradation of GLP-1 is so rapid that only about 25% of the released GLP-1 reach the hepatic portal vein. Substantial further degradation occurs in the liver [33]. As a result, only 10-15% of the initially secreted amount of GLP-1 reaches the systemic circulation and may eventually get to the pancreas and the brain. In addition to DPP-IV, there is an additional enzyme called neutral endopeptidase for which GLP-1 is a substrate [118]. The biological half-life of GLP-1 in the blood is therefore extremely short, i.e., only 1-2 min [150].

GLP-1 circulates in several forms, of which GLP-1 (7 - 36) and GLP-1 (7 - 37) are known to be active. There seems to be no specific difference between the functions of these two forms. The only known difference is that GLP-1 (7 - 36) is more abundant than GLP-1 (7 - 37) [62].

GLP-1 signals through the GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R), which is a secretin receptor family class 2, a seven-transmembrane domain G-protein coupled receptor that is widely distributed in peripheral organs (pancreatic islets, heart, kidney, muscles, gastro-intestinal tract) and brain. The functions of GLP-1 for all these target tissues are not exactly known, but the most important known function of GLP-1 appears to be its incretin effect [115, 148, 161]. The term 'incretin' refers to the amplification of glucose-induced insulin secretion by a hormone secreted from the gastrointestinal tract. Experiments with the infusion of antagonists to GLP-1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide (GIP) in rats revealed that these two hormones are the most important incretins [47, 64, 65, 77, 151]. Interestingly, both hormones require the presence of increased plasma levels of glucose to stimulate insulin secretion. In other words, they enhance glucose-induced insulin release. Although GIP levels appear to be about 10-fold higher than GLP-1 levels, GLP-1 is reportedly more effective [45,61,102,106,152]. Activation of GLP-1 receptors does not only enhance glucose-induced insulin secretion, but also promotes  $\beta$ -cell insulin synthesis as well as  $\beta$ -cell proliferation, and it decreases  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis [62].

Besides its incretin effect, GLP-1 also affects nutrient absorption, primarily by slowing down gastrointestinal motility and gastric acid secretion. This presumably prolongs and thus enhances an eating-inhibitory signal from gastric vagal mechanoreceptors, which could contribute to the eating inhibition induced by GLP-1. The major satiating effect of endogenous GLP-1 is, however, mediated by vagal afferent GLP-1R [81, 111]. Under normal conditions, a direct central satiating effect of endogenous GLP-1 is unlikely, given the short biological half-life. Massively increased circulating levels of GLP-1 might however contribute to the eating-inhibitory and antidiabetic effects of bariatric surgery [87, 117].

### 1.3.5 Role of PPG neurons and their possible regulators

As mentioned above, GLP-1 is produced not only peripherally, but also centrally by a small population of neurons, the cell bodies of which are primarily located in the NTS. These neurons are characterized by the expression of PPG. In addition to the NTS, PPG neurons are also present in the medulla reticular formation and in the olfactory bulb. The PPG neurons in the olfactory bulb are, however, only local interneurons, i.e., most of the PPG projections in the brain originate from PPG neurons in the NTS [30,73,84,103,114,124,146,153].

PPG neurons have direct projections to the following areas: the central autonomic area (CAA), intermediolateral cell column (IML), spinal cord, arcuate nucleus (ARC), ventral tegmental area (VTA), dorsomedial hypothalamus (DMH), paraventricular nucleus (PVN), nucleus accumbens (NAc), and dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMNX) [4, 37, 146, 153], as shown on Fig. 1.3 adapted from [146].

The highest density of PPG neuronal projections are found in the PVN and DMH. In addition, PPG neurons were shown to project to the NAc. The target areas of PPG neuronal projections usually express functional GLP-1R, whereas PPG neurons themselves lack GLP-1R [49, 84, 95, 114]. Little is known about which cell types in the NTS express GLP-1R. The lack of a proper GLP-1R antibody makes it very difficult to address this question.

Species differences between rats and mice were reported with respect to the function of PPG neurons and their regulatory mechanisms. For example, the PPG expression level in PPG neurons appears to be regulated by leptin in mice, but not in rats [68]. Importantly, also GLP-1R distribution in the brain differs between the two species, and it is still unclear, which


FIGURE 1.3: Schematic representation of brainstem PPG neuronal inputs and their projections. Brainstem PPG neurons receive inputs (blue) and sending outputs in (red) [146].

animal model more closely resembles the human situation. In mice, ICV injections of GLP-1R agonist have been shown to have many effects including a reduction of FI, improved glycemic control, hypothermia and neuroprotection [76]. In turn, the delivery of a GLP-1R antagonist into the 4th ventricle was shown to increase FI [57]. Studies in mice have also shown that PPG neurons can be activated by leptin, CCK, oxytocin, LiCl, and gastric distension [40, 46, 125, 146, 154]. Taking into consideration that some of these stimuli are considered to be 'aversive' this raises the possibility that the capacity of central GLP-1 to decrease FI might be partly though mechanisms involving induction of illness or nausea.

Several studies have addressed the role of PPG neurons using the designer receptor exclusive activated designer drug (DREADD) approach. Such activation of PPG neuronal terminals in the VTA reduced HFD intake compared to non-activated receptor expressing mice, and this was suggested to be achieved by reducing the synaptic drive onto mesolimbic dopamine neurons [156]. Although the study claimed to investigate the function of specific PPG neuronal activation, because they used Phox2b-Cre mice for DREADD virus injection, the employed method was not PPG specific; rather, it targeted a much broader neuronal population in the NTS. So, there is still a need for studies specifically targeting PPG neurons in the future.

In rats, a lentivirus-mediated knockdown of NTS PPG neurons was performed to address the role of PPG [8]. This study reportedly achieved a 50% knockdown efficiency in NTS and a 30% knockdown efficiency at the PPG neuronal terminals in the PVN. Rats displayed hyperphagia, glucose intolerance and HFD-induced BW gain compared to scrambled shRNA injected control animals, indicating a physiological role of central PPG in energy homeostasis [8]. To my knowledge, PPG knockdown studies in mice have not been published so far. Also, whether central GLP-1 produced by PPG neurons has different effects from that produced in the periphery by enteroendocrine cells, or what the interactions between central and peripheral GLP-1 are, needs further investigation.

### 1.4 AIMS OF THE THESIS

GLP-1 is mainly produced in the L-cells of the small intestine and centrally by PPG neurons in the NTS. The production of GLP-1 in these two places raises the possibility that the sites of action as well as the functions of GLP-1 may differ depending on the origin of GLP-1. While peripheral GLP-1 and its effects have been extensively studied, less is known about the central GLP-1, and in particular about the regulation of GLP-1 producing PPG neurons. Several studies have shown that the production of GLP-1 in the gut is decreased in HFD-induced conditions of DIO [69]. One of the reasons for the dramatic antidiabetic and antiobesity effect of bariatric surgery supposedly are the substantially increased circulating levels of GLP-1 after surgery. Other studies suggest, that while peripheral GLP-1 decreases central PPG mRNA expression increases in obesity. The reasons and consequences of this central increase are unclear and require further investigations. Although the GLP-1 expression levels in the gut and the brain were not measured in the same experiments and can therefore not be directly compared, they still raise questions about this potentially divergent central and peripheral GLP-1 regulation.

As was briefly touched upon in Chapter 1 (introduction) previous studies have implicated NTS-derived GLP-1 in the control of energy intake and expenditure. In Chapter 2, I describe our investigations into central GLP-1 and PPG neuronal function in normal and obese conditions. In this context, our first aim was to verify previously published data on PPG mRNA upregulation upon HFD feeding and to gain further understanding with

respect to the relation between PPG mRNA levels and obesity onset. We therefore assessed central PPG mRNA levels during long-term HFD feeding in mice. The results suggested that leptin could be a possible regulator and the major reason of central PPG mRNA upregulation, which lead us to the second aim of this part of my thesis, i.e., to use leptin signaling deficient obese ob/ob and db/db mice to address this possibility. Because our results revealed that leptin has the capacity to modulate PPG levels, but is not the major reason of the upregulation of PPG, we further investigated the effect of leptin on PPG expression using chronic injections of a leptin receptor antagonist into the 4<sup>th</sup> ventricle of DIO animals. To further examine the consequences of central PPG upregulation we used a LV-mediated central PPG KD in HFD-fed DIO mice to thoroughly characterize the induced phenotype. We also wanted to address the consequences of a modulation of PPG neurons. To this end we activated or silenced the PPG neurons in HDF-fed DIO mice using the DREADD-technology for further characterization.

In Chapter 3, finally, I focus on peripheral rather than central GLP-1. We cannulated the mesenteric lymph duct (MLD) to use lymph as a potentially better readout than hepatic portal vein (HPV) plasma for monitoring intestinal GLP-1 secretion. We equipped rats with MLD, HPV and IP catheters, allowing for parallel sampling of MLD lymph and HPV plasma as well as for peptide administration (the IP catheters). Animals were offered isocaloric HFD and LFD test meals for the monitoring of endogenous GLP-1 release. In addition, exogenous GLP-1 was injected at different doses to challenge the detection range and to see how an anorectic dose of GLP-1 would change the HPV and MLD GLP-1 concentrations. In addition to GLP-1, we measured insulin and metabolites, such as glucose and triglycerides, and how they evolved after the isocaloric HFD and LFD test meals.

In the Chapter 4, I summarize all findings and discuss their interpretations and limitations in a broader context and with respect to possible future studies.

#### 1.5 REFERENCES

1. Abbott CR, Rossi M, Wren AM, Murphy KG, Kennedy AR, Stanley SA, Zollner AN, Morgan DGA, Morgan I, Ghatei MA, Small CJ, and Bloom SR. *Evidence of an orexigenic role for cocaine- and amphetamine-*

*regulated transcript after administration into discrete hypothalamic nuclei.* Endocrinology 142: 3457-3463, 2001.

- 2. Aja S, Sahandy S, Ladenheim EE, Schwartz GJ, and Moran TH. *Intracerebroventricular CART peptide reduces food intake and alters motor behavior at a hindbrain site.* Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 281: R1862-R1867, 2001.
- 3. Albuquerque D, Stice E, Rodriguez-Lopez R, Manco L, and Nobrega C. *Current review of genetics of human obesity: from molecular mechanisms to an evolutionary perspective.* Mol Genet Genomics 290: 1191-1221, 2015.
- 4. Alhadeff AL, Rupprecht LE, and Hayes MR. *GLP-1 Neurons in the nucleus of the solitary tract project directly to the ventral tegmental area and nucleus accumbens to control for food intake.* Endocrinology 153: 647-658, 2012.
- 5. Asnicar MA, Smith DP, Yang DD, Heiman ML, Fox N, Chen YF, Hsiung HM, and Koster A. *Absence of cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript results in obesity in mice fed a high caloric diet*. Endocrinology 142: 4394-4400, 2001.
- Bacchini D, Licenziati MR, Affuso G, Garrasi A, Corciulo N, Driul D, Tanas R, Fiumani PM, Di Pietro E, Pesce S, Crino A, Maltoni G, Iughetti L, Sartorio A, Deiana M, Lombardi F, and Valerio G. *The Interplay among BMI z-Score, Peer victmization, and self-concept in outpatient children and adolescents with overweight or obesity*. Child Obes 13: 242-249, 2017.
- 7. Bagnol D, Lu XY, Kaelin CB, Day HEW, Ollmann M, Gantz I, Akil H, Barsh GS, and Watson SJ. Anatomy of an endogenous antagonist: Relationship between Agouti-related protein and proopiomelanocortin in brain. J Neurosci 19: 1999.
- 8. Barrera JG, Jones KR, Herman JP, D'Alessio DA, Woods SC, and Seeley RJ. *Hyperphagia and increased fat accumulation in two models of chronic CNS GLP-1 loss of function.* J Neurosci 31: 3904-3913, 2011.
- 9. Baskin DG, Breininger JF, and Schwartz MW. Leptin receptor mRNA identifies a subpopulation of neuropeptide Y neurons activated by fasting in rat hypothalamus. Diabetes 48: 828-833, 1999.

- 10. Baskin DG, Breininger JF, and Schwartz MW. *Leptin receptor mRNA identifies a subset of hypothalamic neuropeptide Y neurons involved in body weight regulation.* Diabetes 47: A14-A14, 1998.
- 11. Bataille D. *Pro-protein convertases in intermediary metabolism: islet hormones, brain/gut hormones and integrated physiology.* J Mol Med 85: 673-684, 2007.
- 12. Bell AC, Kremer PJ, Magarey AM, and Swinburn BA. *Contribution of 'noncore' foods and beverages to the energy intake and weight status of Australian children*. Eur J Clin Nutr 59: 639-645, 2005.
- Bell JA, Hamer M, Sabia S, Singh-Manoux A, Batty GD, and Kivimaki M. *The natural course of healthy obesity over 20 years*. J Am Coll Cardiol 65: 101-102, 2015.
- 14. Bewick GA, Gardiner JV, Dhillo WS, Kent AS, White NE, Webster Z, Ghatei MA, and Sr B. *Postembryonic ablation of AgRP neurons in mice leads to a lean, hypophagic phenotype.* Faseb J 19: 1680-1682, 2005.
- Billington CJ, Briggs JE, Grace M, and Levine AS. Effects of Intracerebroventricular injection of neuropeptide-Y on energy-metabolism. Am J Physiol 260: R321-R327, 1991.
- Bouret SG, Draper SJ, and Simerly RB. Formation of projection pathways from the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus to hypothalamic regions implicated in the neural control of feeding behavior in mice. J Neurosci 24: 2797-2805, 2004.
- 17. Broberger C, Johansen J, Johansson C, Schalling M, and Hokfelt T. *The neuropeptide Y agouti gene-related protein (AgRP) brain circuitry in normal, anorectic, and monosodium glutamate-treated mice.* P Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 15043-15048, 1998.
- 18. Budnik A, and Henneberg M. *Worldwide increase of obesity is related to the reduced opportunity for natural selection.* Plos One 12: 2017.
- 19. Buffa R, Capella C, Fontana P, Usellini L, and Solcia E. *Types of endocrine cells in human colon and rectum.* Cell Tissue Res 192: 227-240, 1978.
- Burkert N, Rasky E, Freidl W, and Muckenhuber J. Overweight and Obesity - BMI and health-related factors are socio-economic determined. Wien Klin Wochenschr 122: A43-A44, 2010.

- 21. Campfield LA, Smith FJ, Guisez Y, Devos R, and Burn P. *Recombinant* mouse ob protein - evidence for a peripheral signal linking adiposity and central neural networks. Science 269: 546-549, 1995.
- 22. Cascorbi I, Bruhn O, and Werk AN. *Challenges in pharmacogenetics*. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 69: S17-S23, 2013.
- 23. Cheung CC, Clifton DK, and Steiner RA. *Proopiomelanocortin neurons are direct targets for leptin in the hypothalamus*. Endocrinology 138: 4489-4492, 1997.
- 24. Chhabra KH, Adams JM, Jones GL, Yamashita M, Schlapschy M, Skerra A, Rubinstein M, and Low MJ. *Reprogramming the body weight set point by a reciprocal interaction of hypothalamic leptin sensitivity and Pomc gene expression reverts extreme obesity*. Mol Metab 5: 869-881, 2016.
- Clark JT, Kalra PS, Crowley WR, and Kalra SP. Neuropeptide-Y and human pancreatic-polypeptide stimulate feeding-behavior in rats. Endocrinology 115: 427-429, 1984.
- 26. Clemmensen C, Chabenne J, Finan B, Sullivan L, Fischer K, Kuchler D, Sehrer L, Ograjsek T, Hofmann SM, Schriever SC, Pfluger PT, Pinkstaff J, Tschop MH, DiMarchi R, and Muller TD. GLP-1/Glucagon coagonism restores leptin responsiveness in obese mice chronically maintained on an obesogenic diet. Diabetes 63: 1422-1427, 2014.
- 27. Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, Ohannesian JP, Marco CC, McKee LJ, Bauer TL, and Caro JF. *Serum immunoreactive leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans*. New Engl J Med 334: 292-295, 1996.
- Cosentino G, Conrad AO, and Uwaifo GI. *Phentermine and topiramate for the management of obesity: a review*. Drug Des Dev Ther 7: 267-278, 2013.
- 29. Cotillard A, Kennedy SP, Kong LC, Prifti E, Pons N, Le Chatelier E, Almeida M, Quinquis B, Levenez F, Galleron N, Gougis S, Rizkalla S, Batto JM, Renault P, Dore J, Zucker JD, Clement K, Ehrlich SD, and Consortium AM. *Dietary intervention impact on gut microbial gene richness (vol 500, pg 585, 2013).* Nature 502: 2013.
- De Silva A, Salem V, Long CJ, Makwana A, Newbould RD, Rabiner EA, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR, Matthews PM, Beaver JD, and Dhillo WS.

*The Gut hormones PYY3-36 and GLP-1(7-36) amide reduce food intake and modulate brain activity in appetite centers in humans.* Cell Metab 14: 700-706, 2011.

- Deacon CF, and Holst JJ. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitors: A promising new therapeutic approach for the management of type 2 diabetes. Int J Biochem Cell B 38: 831-844, 2006.
- 32. Deacon CF, Johnsen AH, and Holst JJ. *Degradation of GLP-1 by human* plasma in-vitro yields an N-terminally truncated peptide that is a major endogenous metabolite in-vivo. J Clin Endocr Metab 80: 952-957, 1995.
- 33. Deacon CF, Pridal L, Klarskov L, Olesen M, and Holst JJ. *Glucagonlike peptide 1 undergoes differential tissue-specific metabolism in the anesthetized pig.* Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 271: E458-E464, 1996.
- 34. Deacon CF, Wamberg S, Bie P, Hughes TE, and Holst JJ. *Preservation of active incretin hormones by inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase IV suppresses meal-induced incretin secretion in dogs*. J Endocrinol 172: 355-362, 2002.
- 35. Dewey M, and Heuberger R. *Vitamin D and calcium status and appropriate recommendations in bariatric surgery patients.* Gastroenterol Nurs 34: 367-374, 2011.
- 36. do Carmo JM, da Silva AA, and Hall JE. *Leptin reduces food intake but fails to raise blood pressure in mice with deficiency of insulin receptor substrate* (*Irs2*) *in the entire brain or specifically in Pomc neurons*. Hypertension 63: E156-E156, 2014.
- 37. Dossat AM, Lilly N, Kay K, and Williams DL. *GLP-1 receptors in nucleus accumbens affect food intake*. J Neurosci 31: 14453-14457, 2011.
- 38. Douketis JD, Macie C, Thabane L, and Williamson DF. *Systematic review of long-term weight loss studies in obese adults: clinical significance and applicability to clinical practice.* Int J Obesity 29: 1153-1167, 2005.
- 39. Edholm OG. Energy-Balance in Man studies carried out by division of human physiology, national-institute-for-medical-research. J Hum Nutr 31: 413-431, 1977.
- 40. Elias CF, Kelly JF, Lee CE, Ahima RS, Drucker DJ, Saper CB, and Elmquist JK. *Chemical characterization of leptin-activated neurons in the rat brain*. J Comp Neurol 423: 261-281, 2000.

- 41. Ezenwaka CE, Okoye O, Esonwune C, Onuoha P, Dioka C, Osuji C, Oguejiofor C, and Meludu S. *High prevalence of abdominal obesity increases the risk of the metabolic syndrome in nigerian type 2 diabetes patients: using the international diabetes federation worldwide definition.* Metab Syndr Relat D 12: 277-282, 2014.
- 42. Fam BC, Morris MJ, Hansen MJ, Kebede M, Andrikopoulos S, Proietto J, and Thorburn AW. *Modulation of central leptin sensitivity and energy balance in a rat model of diet-induced obesity*. Diabetes Obes Metab 9: 840-852, 2007.
- Farooqi IS, and O'Rahilly S. *Monogenic obesity in humans*. Annu Rev Med 56: 443-+, 2005.
- 44. Fish E, Beverstein G, Olson D, Reinhardt S, Garren M, and Gould J. *Vitamin D status of morbidly obese bariatric surgery patients.* J Surg Res 164: 198-202, 2010.
- 45. Flint A, Tangaa W, Rugbjerg K, Raben A, Astrup A, and Holst JJ. *The effect of GIP on postprandial appetite and energy expenditure.* Int J Obesity 28: S168-S168, 2004.
- 46. Fraser KA, and Davison JS. *Gastric distension induces C-Fos immunoreactivity in the rat-brain stem.* Cholecystokinin 713: 164-166, 1994.
- 47. Gault VA, O'Harte FPM, Harriott P, Mooney MH, Green BD, and Flatt PR. Effects of the novel (Pro(3))GIP antagonist and exendin(9-39)amide on GIP- and GLP-1-induced cyclic AMP generation, insulin secretion and postprandial insulin release in obese diabetic (ob/ob) mice: evidence that GIP is the major physiological incretin. Diabetologia 46: 222-230, 2003.
- 48. Gemmel K, Santry HP, Prachand VN, and Alverdy JC. *Vitamin D deficiency in preoperative bariatric surgery patients*. Surg Obes Relat Dis 5: 54-59, 2009.
- Goke R, Larsen PJ, Mikkelsen JD, and Sheikh SP. Distribution of GLP-1 binding-sites in the rat-brain - evidence that Exendin-4 is a ligand of brain GLP-1 binding-sites. Eur J Neurosci 7: 2294-2300, 1995.
- 50. Goldstone AP, Mercer JG, Gunn I, Moar KM, Edwards CMB, Rossi M, Howard JK, Rasheed S, Turton MD, Small C, Heath MM, OShea D, Steere J, Meeran K, Ghatei MA, Hoggard N, and Bloom SR. *Leptin interacts with glucagon-like peptide-1 neurons to reduce food intake and body weight in rodents.* Febs Lett 415: 134-138, 1997.

- 51. Goldstone AP, Morgan I, Mercer JG, Morgan DGA, Moar KM, Ghatei MA, and Bloom SR. *Effect of leptin on hypothalamic GLP-1 peptide and brain-stem pre-proglucagon mRNA*. Biochem Bioph Res Co 269: 331-335, 2000.
- 52. Gonzalez JR, Gonzalez-Carpio M, Hernandez-Saez R, Vargas VS, Hidalgo GT, Rubio-Rodrigo M, Garcia-Nogales A, Estevez MN, Perez LML, and Rodriguez-Lopez R. FTO Risk haplotype among early onset and severe obesity cases in a population of western spain. Obesity 20: 909-915, 2012.
- 53. Goyal A, Nimmakayala KR, and Zonszein J. *Is There a paradox in obesity?* Cardiol Rev 22: 163-170, 2014.
- 54. Greenman Y, Kuperman Y, Drori Y, Asa SL, Navon I, Forkosh O, Gil S, Stern N, and Chen A. *Postnatal ablation of POMC neurons induces an obese phenotype characterized by decreased food intake and enhanced anxiety-like behavior.* Mol Endocrinol 27: 1091-1102, 2013.
- 55. Grill HJ, and Hayes MR. *Hindbrain neurons as an essential hub in the neuroanatomically distributed control of energy balance*. Cell Metab 16: 296-309, 2012.
- 56. Hassanein MT, Chang CC, Baurley J, Gilliland F, Gauderman WJ, Schumacher F, and Berhane K. *Obesity variants sssociated with longitudinal change of BMI in both hispanic and caucasian children from the children's health study.* Diabetes 59: A5-A5, 2010.
- 57. Hayes MR, Bradley L, and Grill HJ. *Endogenous hindbrain GLP-1 receptor activation contributes to the control of food intake by mediating gastric satiation signaling*. Endocrinology 150: 2654-2659, 2009.
- 58. Heianza Y, and Qi L. *Gene-diet interaction and precision nutrition in obesity.* Int J Mol Sci 18: 2017.
- 59. Hisadome K, Reimann F, Gribble FM, and Trapp S. *Leptin directly depolarizes preproglucagon neurons in the nucleus tractus solitarius electrical properties of glucagon-like peptide 1 neurons.* Diabetes 59: 1890-1898, 2010.
- 60. Holdeman LV, Good IJ, and Moore WEC. *Human fecal flora variation in bacterial composition within individuals and a possible effect of emotional stress*. Appl Environ Microb 31: 359-375, 1976.

- 61. Holst JJ. On the physiology of GIP and GLP-1. Horm Metab Res 36: 747-754, 2004.
- 62. Holst JJ. The physiology of GLP-1. Physiol Rev 87: 1409-1439, 2007.
- Holst JJ, and Deacon CF. GLP-1 mediates the therapeutic actions of DPP-IV inhibitors. Diabetologia 48: 612-615, 2005.
- 64. Holst JJ, and Gromada J. *Role of incretin hormones in the regulation of insulin secretion in diabetic and nondiabetic humans.* Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 287: E199-E206, 2004.
- Holst JJ, and Orskov C. Incretin hormones an update. Scand J Clin Lab Inv 61: 75-85, 2001.
- 66. Hruby A, and Hu FB. *The Epidemiology of obesity: A big picture*. Pharmacoeconomics 33: 673-689, 2015.
- 67. Hunma S, Ramuth H, Miles-Chan JL, Schutz Y, Montani JP, Joonas N, and Dulloo AG. *Body composition-derived BMI cut-offs for overweight and obesity in Indians and Creoles of Mauritius: comparison with Caucasians.* Int J Obesity 40: 1906-1914, 2016.
- 68. Huo LH, Gamber KM, Grill HJ, and Bjorbaek C. *Divergent leptin signaling in proglucagon neurons of the nucleus of the solitary tract in mice and rats.* Endocrinology 149: 492-497, 2008.
- 69. Hussein MS, Abushady MM, Refaat S, and Ibrahim R. *Plasma level* of *GLP-1* in obese egyptians with normal and impaired glucose tolerance. Arch Med Res 45: 58-62, 2014.
- 70. Huszar D, Lynch CA, FairchildHuntress V, Dunmore JH, Fang Q, Berkemeier LR, Gu W, Kesterson RA, Boston BA, Cone RD, Smith FJ, Campfield LA, Burn P, and Lee F. *Targeted disruption of the melanocortin-*4 receptor results in obesity in mice. Cell 88: 131-141, 1997.
- 71. Ierardi E, Sorrentino C, Principi M, Giorgio F, Losurdo G, and Di Leo A. Intestinal microbial metabolism of phosphatidylcholine: a novel insight in the cardiovascular risk scenario. Hepatol Surg Nutr 4: 289-292, 2015.
- 72. Jimenez EG, Cordero MJA, Lopez CAP, and Garcia IG. Monogenic human obesity: role of the leptin-melanocortin system in the regulation of food intake and body weight in humans. An Sist Sanit Navar 35: 285-293, 2012.

- 73. Karra E, and Batterham RL. *The role of gut hormones in the regulation of body weight and energy homeostasis*. Mol Cell Endocrinol 316: 120-128, 2010.
- 74. Kishi T, Aschkenasi CJ, Lee CE, Mountjoy KG, Saper CB, and Elmquist JK. Expression of melanocortin 4 receptor mRNA in the central nervous system of the rat. J Comp Neurol 457: 213-235, 2003.
- 75. Kitzinger HB, and Karle B. *The epidemiology of obesity*. Eur Surg 45: 80-82, 2013.
- 76. Knauf C, Cani PD, Ait-Belgnaoui A, Benani A, Dray C, Cabou C, Colom A, Uldry M, Rastrelli S, Sabatier E, Godet N, Waget A, Penicaud L, Valet P, and Burcelin R. Brain glucagon-like peptide 1 signaling controls the onset of high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance and reduces energy expenditure. Endocrinology 149: 4768-4777, 2008.
- 77. Kolligs F, Fehmann HC, Goke R, and Goke B. *Reduction of the incretin effect in rats by the GLP-1 receptor antagonist Exendin(9-39) amide.* Diabetes 44: 16-19, 1995.
- 78. Kong WM, Stanley S, Gardiner J, Abbott C, Murphy K, Seth A, Connoley I, Ghatei M, Stephens D, and Bloom S. A role for arcuate cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript in hyperphagia, thermogenesis, and cold adaptation. Faseb J 17: 1688-1690, 2003.
- 79. Kow LM, and Pfaff DW. *The effects of the Trh metabolite cyclo*(*His-Pro*) *and its analogs on feeding*. Pharmacol Biochem Be 38: 359-364, 1991.
- Kremen AJ, Linner JH, and Nelson CH. An experimental evaluation of the nutritional importance of proximal and distal small intestine. Ann Surg 140: 439-448, 1954.
- Krieger JP, Arnold M, Pettersen KG, Lossel P, Langhans W, and Lee SJ. Knockdown of GLP-1 receptors in vagal afferents affects normal food intake and glycemia. Diabetes 65: 34-43, 2016.
- 82. Kristensen P. *Hypothalamic CART is a new anorectic peptide regulated by leptin.* Prog Obes R 351-355, 1999.
- 83. Krude H, Biebermann H, Luck W, Horn R, Brabant G, and Gruters A. *Severe early-onset obesity, adrenal insufficiency and red hair pigmentation caused by POMC mutations in humans.* Nat Genet 19: 155-157, 1998.

- 84. Larsen PJ, TangChristensen M, Holst JJ, and Orskov C. *Distribution of glucagon-like peptide-1 and other preproglucagon-derived peptides in the rat hypothalamus and brainstem*. Neuroscience 77: 257-270, 1997.
- 85. Laxy M, Stark R, Peters A, Hauner H, Holle R, and Teuner CM. *The non-linear relationship between BMI and health care costs and the resulting cost fraction attributable to obesity.* Int J Env Res Pub He 14: 2017.
- 86. Le Chatelier E, Nielsen T, Qin JJ, Prifti E, Hildebrand F, Falony G, Almeida M, Arumugam M, Batto JM, Kennedy S, Leonard P, Li JH, Burgdorf K, Grarup N, Jorgensen T, Brandslund I, Nielsen HB, Juncker AS, Bertalan M, Levenez F, Pons N, Rasmussen S, Sunagawa S, Tap J, Tims S, Zoetendal EG, Brunak S, Clement K, Dore J, Kleerebezem M, Kristiansen K, Renault P, Sicheritz-Ponten T, de Vos WM, Zucker JD, Raes J, Hansen T, Bork P, Wang J, Ehrlich SD, Pedersen O, and Consortium M. *Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers*. Nature, vol 500: 541-546, 2013.
- Le Roux CW, Aylwin SJB, Batterham RL, Coyle F, Borg CM, Prasad V, Shurey S, Ghatei MA, Patel AG, and Bloom SR. *Gut hormone profiles may explain reduced appetite and food intake following bariatric surgery*. Obes Surg 15: 936-936, 2005.
- Levin BE, and Dunn-Meynell AA. *Reduced central leptin sensitivity in rats with diet-induced obesity*. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283: R941-R948, 2002.
- 89. Lin YM. BMI, Perceived Health Status and Happiness: The Dirct vs. Indirect effect of obesity. Int J Ecol Econ Stat 37: 30-43, 2016.
- 90. Lissau I. *Overweight and obesity epidemic among children*. Answer from European countries. Int J Obesity 28: S10-S15, 2004.
- 91. Lu HQ, Buison A, Jen KLC, and Dunbar JC. Leptin resistance in obesity is characterized by decreased sensitivity to proopiomelanocortin products. Peptides 21: 1479-1485, 2000.
- 92. Masuzaki H, Ogawa Y, Aizawa-Abe M, Hosoda K, Suga J, Ebihara K, Satoh N, Iwai H, Inoue G, Nishimura H, Yoshimasa Y, and Nakao K. *Glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity in transgenic mice overexpressing leptin with lethal Yellow agouti mutation - Usefulness of leptin for the treatment of obesity-associated diabetes.* Diabetes 48: 1615-1622, 1999.

- 93. Mengel E, Tillmann V, Remmel L, Kool P, Purge P, Latt E, and Jurimae J. Extensive BMI gain in puberty is associated with lower increments in bone mineral density in estonian boys with overweight and obesity: A 3-Year Longitudinal Study. Calcified Tissue Int 101: 174-181, 2017.
- 94. Mercer JG, Moar KM, Findlay PA, Hoggard N, and Adam CL. *Association of leptin receptor (OB-Rb), NPY and GLP-1 gene expression in the ovine and murine brainstem.* Regul Peptides 75-6: 271-278, 1998.
- 95. Merchenthaler I, Lane M, and Shughrue P. Distribution of pre-proglucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor messenger RNAs in the rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol 403: 261-280, 1999.
- 96. Miras AD, and le Roux CW. *Mechanisms underlying weight loss after bariatric surgery*. Nat Rev Gastro Hepat 10: 575-584, 2013.
- 97. Mohammadpour-Ahranjani B, Rashidi A, Karandish M, Eshraghian MR, and Kalantari N. *Prevalence of overweight and obesity in adolescent Tehrani students, 2000-2001: an epidemic health problem.* Public Health Nutr 7: 645-648, 2004.
- 98. Morabia A, and Costanza MC. The obesity epidemic as harbinger of a metabolic disorder epidemic: Trends in overweight, hypercholesterolemia, and diabetes treatment in Geneva, Switzerland, 1993-2003. Am J Public Health 95: 632-635, 2005.
- 99. Morais T, Pereira SS, Andrade S, Moreira A, Monteiro D, Costa M, Patricio B, Carreira M, Casanueva FF, and Monteiro MP. *Plasma leptin response after chronic GLP-1 exposure is modulated by the integrity of the vagus nerve*. Medicine 95: 2016.
- 100. Morgan CL, Peters JR, McEwan P, and Currie CJ. *The association between obesity (BMI) and health-related utility in subjects with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes.* Diabetologia 47: A345-A345, 2004.
- 101. Mori H, Hanada R, Hanada T, Aki D, Mashima R, Nishinakamura H, Torisu T, Chien KR, Yasukawa H, and Yoshimura A. Socs3 deficiency in the brain elevates leptin sensitivity and confers resistance to diet-induced obesity. Nat Med 10: 739-743, 2004.
- 102. Mortensen K, Christensen LL, Holst JJ, and Orskov C. *GLP-1 and GIP are colocalized in a subset of endocrine cells in the small intestine.* Regul Peptides 114: 189-196, 2003.

- 103. Murphy KG, and Bloom SR. *Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homeostasis*. Nature 444: 854-859, 2006.
- 104. Mutch DM, and Clement K. *Unraveling the genetics of human obesity*. Plos Genet 2: 1956-1963, 2006.
- 105. Nanchahal K, Morris JN, Sullivan LM, and Wilson PWF. *Coronary heart disease risk in men and the epidemic of overweight and obesity*. Int J Obesity 29: 317-323, 2005.
- 106. Nauck MA, Heimesaat MM, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Ebert R, and Creutzfeldt W. Preserved incretin activity of GLP-1 [7-36 Amide] but Not of synthetic human gastric-inhibitory polypeptide in patients with type-2 diabetesmellitus. J Clin Invest 91: 301-307, 1993.
- 107. Neel JV. Diabetes Mellitus a thrifty genotype rendered detrimental by progress. Am J Hum Genet 14: 353-362, 1962.
- 108. Neel JV. Diabetes mellitus: A 'thrifty' genotype rendered detrimental by 'progress'? B World Health Organ 77: 694-703, 1999.
- 109. Ng M, Fleming T, and Robinson M. *Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013 (vol 384, pg 766, 2014).* Lancet 384: 746-746, 2014.
- 110. Nguyen NT, and Varela JE. *Bariatric surgery for obesity and metabolic disorders: state of the art.* Nat Rev Gastro Hepat 14: 160-169, 2017.
- 111. Nishizawa M, Nakabayashi H, Uchida K, Nakagawa A, and Niijima A. The hepatic vagal nerve is receptive to incretin hormone glucagon-like peptide-1, but not to glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, in the portal vein. J Autonom Nerv Syst 61: 149-154, 1996.
- 112. O'Connor A, and Swick AG. *Interface between pharmacotherapy and genes in human obesity*. Hum Hered 75: 116-126, 2013.
- 113. Ogden CL, Kit BK, Fakhouri THI, Carroll MD, and Flegal KM. *The epidemiology of obesity among adults*. Gi Epidemiology: Diseases and Clinical Methodology, 2nd Edition 394-404, 2014.
- 114. Orskov C, TangChristensen M, Holst JJ, and Larsen PJ. *Distribution of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and other preproglucagon derived peptides in the rat hypothalamus and brain stem.* Diabetes 45: 546-546, 1996.

- 115. Orskov C, Wettergren A, and Holst JJ. Secretion of the incretin hormones glucagon-like peptide-1 and gastric inhibitory polypeptide correlates with insulin secretion in normal man throughout the day. Scand J Gastroentero 31: 665-670, 1996.
- 116. Owyang C, Hao YB, and Avula H. *The satiety action of CCK is entirely dependent on leptin.* Gastroenterology 128: A612-A612, 2005.
- 117. Patriti A, Facchiano E, Gulla N, Aisa MC, and Annetti C. *Gut hormone* profiles following bariatric surgery favor an anorectic state, facilitate weight loss, and improve metabolic parameters. Ann Surg 245: 157-158, 2007.
- 118. Plamboeck A, Holst JJ, Carr RD, and Deacon CF. *Neutral endopeptidase* 24.11 and dipeptidyl peptidase IV are both mediators of the degradation of glucagon-like peptide 1 in the anaesthetised pig. Diabetologia 48: 1882-1890, 2005.
- 119. Popoola A, Butt M, Ouarda TBMJ, and Khayal I. Secondary effects of sleep deficiency include Automatically Capturing Sleep and Social Factors to Understand Ramadan in the Real World. 2014 Ieee-Embs International Conference on Biomedical and Health Informatics (Bhi) 338-341, 2014.
- 120. Qin JJ, Li RQ, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, Nielsen T, Pons N, Levenez F, Yamada T, Mende DR, Li JH, Xu JM, Li SC, Li DF, Cao JJ, Wang B, Liang HQ, Zheng HS, Xie YL, Tap J, Lepage P, Bertalan M, Batto JM, Hansen T, Le Paslier D, Linneberg A, Nielsen HB, Pelletier E, Renault P, Sicheritz-Ponten T, Turner K, Zhu HM, Yu C, Li ST, Jian M, Zhou Y, Li YR, Zhang XQ, Li SG, Qin N, Yang HM, Wang J, Brunak S, Dore J, Guarner F, Kristiansen K, Pedersen O, Parkhill J, Weissenbach J, Bork P, Ehrlich SD, Wang J, and Consortium M. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature 464, 59-65, 2010.
- 121. Qualmann C, Nauck MA, Holst JJ, Orskov C, and Creutzfeldt W. *GLP-1* (7-36-Amide) secretion in response to luminal sucrose from the upper and lower gut a study using alpha-glucosidase inhibition (Acarbose). Scand J Gastroentero 30: 892-896, 1995.
- 122. Ranganath L, Norris F, Morgan L, Wright J, and Marks V. *Inhibition* of carbohydrate-mediated GLP-1 (7-36)amide secretion by circulating nonesterified fatty acids. Clin Sci 96: 335-342, 1999.

- 123. Rankinen T, Zuberi A, Chagnon YC, Weisnagel SJ, Argyropoulos G, Walts B, Perusse L, and Bouchard C. *The human obesity gene map: The 2005 update*. Obesity 14: 529-644, 2006.
- 124. Rinaman L. Ascending projections from the caudal visceral nucleus of the solitary tract to brain regions involved in food intake and energy expenditure. Brain Res 1350: 18-34, 2010.
- 125. Rinaman L, and Rothe EE. GLP-1 receptor signaling contributes to anorexigenic effect of centrally administered oxytocin in rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283: R99-R106, 2002.
- 126. Rouille Y, Bianchi M, Irminger JC, and Halban PA. *Role of the prohormone convertase PC2 in the processing of proglucagon to glucagon.* Febs Lett 413: 119-123, 1997.
- 127. Rouille Y, Kantengwa S, Irminger JC, and Halban PA. *Role of the prohormone convertase PC3 in the processing of proglucagon to glucagon-like peptide* 1. J Biol Chem 272: 32810-32816, 1997.
- 128. Rouille Y, Westermark G, Martin SK, and Steiner DF. Proglucagon Is processed to glucagon by prohormone convertase Pc2 in Alpha-Tc1-6 Cells. P Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 3242-3246, 1994.
- 129. Sanchez-Hernandez J, Ybarra J, Gich I, De Leiva A, Rius X, Rodriguez-Espinosa J, and Perez A. *Effects of bariatric surgery on vitamin D status and secondary hyperparathyroidism: A prospective study.* Obes Surg 15: 1389-1395, 2005.
- 130. Satoh N, Ogawa Y, Katsuura G, Hayase M, Tsuji T, Imagawa K, Yoshimasa Y, Nishi S, Hosoda K, and Nakao K. *The arcuate nucleus as a primary site of satiety effect of leptin in rats.* Neurosci Lett 224: 149-152, 1997.
- 131. Schwartz MW, Peskind E, Raskind M, Boyko EJ, and Porte D. *Cerebrospinal fluid leptin levels: Relationship to plasma levels and to adiposity in humans.* Nat Med 2: 589-593, 1996.
- 132. Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Seeley RJ, and Baskin DG. *Central nervous system control of food intake*. Nature 404: 661-671, 2000.
- 133. Scott MM, Williams KW, Rossi J, Lee CE, and Elmquist JK. *Leptin* receptor expression in hindbrain GLP-1 neurons regulates food intake and energy balance in mice. J Clin Invest 121: 2413-2421, 2011.

- 134. Seeley RJ, Chambers AP, and Sandoval DA. *The role of gut adaptation in the potent effects of multiple bariatric surgeries on obesity and diabetes.* Cell Metab 21: 369-378, 2015.
- 135. Sellayah D, Cagampang FR, and Cox RD. *On the evolutionary origins of obesity: a new hypothesis.* Endocrinology 155: 1573-1588, 2014.
- 136. Sevilla S, and Hubal MJ. *Genetic modifiers of obesity and bariatric surgery outcomes.* Semin Pediatr Surg 23: 43-48, 2014.
- 137. Shah SS, Todkar JS, Shah PS, and Cummings DE. *Diabetes remission and reduced cardiovascular risk after gastric bypass in Asian Indians with body mass index <* 35 *kg/m*(2). Surg Obes Relat Dis 6: 332-338, 2010.
- 138. Silventoinen K, Rokholm B, Kaprio J, and Sorensen TA. *The genetic and environmental influences on childhood obesity: a systematic review of twin and adoption studies.* Int J Obesity 34: 29-40, 2010.
- 139. Simpson KA, Martin NM, and Bloom SR. *Hypothalamic regulation of food intake and clinical therapeutic applications*. Arq Bras Endocrinol 53: 120-128, 2009.
- 140. Speakman JR, Rance KA, and Johnstone AM. *Polymorphisms of the FTO gene are associated with variation in energy intake, but not energy expenditure.* Obesity 16: 1961-1965, 2008.
- 141. Stunkard AJ, Sorensen TIA, Hanis C, Teasdale TW, Chakraborty R, Schull WJ, and Schulsinger F. *An adoption study of human obesity*. New Engl J Med 314: 193-198, 1986.
- 142. Tang WHW, Wang ZE, Levison BS, Koeth RA, Britt EB, Fu XM, Wu YP, and Hazen SL. *Intestinal microbial metabolism of phosphatidylcholine and cardiovascular risk*. New Engl J Med 368: 1575-1584, 2013.
- 143. Tappy L, and Le KA. *Metabolic effects of fructose and the worldwide increase in obesity.* Physiol Rev 90: 23-46, 2010.
- 144. Thaler JP, and Cummings DE. *Hormonal and metabolic mechanisms of diabetes remission after gastrointestinal surgery.* Endocrinology 150: 2518-2525, 2009.
- 145. Tillman EJ, and Swoap SJ. *Effects of chronic fructose feeding on leptin sensitivity and obesity in mice.* Faseb J 24: 2010.

- 146. Trapp S, and Richards JE. The gut hormone glucagon-like peptide-1 produced in brain: is this physiologically relevant? Curr Opin Pharmacol 13: 964-969, 2013.
- 147. Turnbaugh PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, Cantarel BL, Duncan A, Ley RE, Sogin ML, Jones WJ, Roe BA, Affourtit JP, Egholm M, Henrissat B, Heath AC, Knight R, and Gordon JI. *A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins.* Nature 457: 480-487, 2009.
- 148. Unger RH, Ketterer H, and Eisentra.Am. *Distribution of immunoas*sayable glucagon in gastrointestinal tissues. Metabolism 15: 165-167, 1966.
- 149. Unger RH, Ohneda A, Valverde I, Eisentraut AM, and Exton J. *Characterization of responses of circulating glucagon-like immunoreactivity to intraduodenal and intravenous administration of glucose*. J Clin Invest 47: 48-65, 1968.
- 150. Vilsboll T, Agerso H, Krarup T, and Holst JJ. Similar elimination rates of glucagon-like peptide-1 in obese type 2 diabetic patients and healthy subjects. J Clin Endocr Metab 88: 220-224, 2003.
- 151. Vilsboll T, and Holst JJ. Incretins, insulin secretion and Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 47: 357-366, 2004.
- 152. Vilsboll T, Krarup T, Deacon CF, Madsbad S, and Holst JJ. *Reduced postprandial concentrations of intact biologically active gluccagon-like pep-tide* 1 *in type* 2 *diabetic patients*. Diabetes 50: 609-613, 2001.
- 153. Vrang N, and Larsen PJ. *Preproglucagon derived peptides GLP-1, GLP-2 and oxyntomodulin in the CNS: Role of peripherally secreted and centrally produced peptides.* Prog Neurobiol 92: 442-462, 2010.
- 154. Vrang N, Phifer CB, Corkern MM, and Berthoud HR. *Gastric distension induces c-Fos in medullary GLP-1/2-containing neurons*. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 285: R470-R478, 2003.
- 155. Walford GA, Ma Y, Clish C, Florez JC, Wang TJ, Gerszten RE, and Grp DPPR. *Metabolite profiles of diabetes incidence and intervention response in the diabetes prevention program*. Diabetes 65: 1424-1433, 2016.
- 156. Wang XF, Liu JJ, Xia JL, Liu J, Mirabella V, and Pang ZPP. *Endogenous GLP-1 suppresses high-fat food intake by reducing synaptic drive onto mesolimbic dopamine neurons*. Cell Rep 12: 726-733, 2015.

- 157. Wang YF, and Lim HJ. *Epidemiology of obesity: the global situation*. Nutr Health Ser 19-34, 2014.
- 158. Wang ZN, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, Koeth R, Levison BS, Dugar B, Feldstein AE, Britt EB, Fu XM, Chung YM, Wu YP, Schauer P, Smith JD, Allayee H, Tang WHW, DiDonato JA, Lusis AJ, and Hazen SL. *Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease.* Nature 472: 57-82, 2011.
- 159. Weigle DS, Bukowski TR, Foster DC, Holderman S, Kramer JM, Lasser G, Loftonday CE, Prunkard DE, Raymond C, and Kuijper JL. *Recombinant ob protein reduces feeding and body-weight in the ob/ob mouse*. J Clin Invest 96: 2065-2070, 1995.
- 160. Wilding J. The eat of the land: The obesity epidemic and how overweight *Americans can help themselves.* Nature 391: 759-759, 1998.
- 161. Willms B, Werner J, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Creutzfeldt W, and Nauck MA. Gastric emptying glucose responses, and insulin secretion after a liquid test meal: Effects of exogenous glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)-(7-36) amide in type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetic patients. J Clin Endocr Metab 81: 327-332, 1996.
- 162. Wilson BD, Bagnol D, Kaelin CB, Ollmann MM, Gantz I, Watson SJ, and Barsh GS. *Physiological and anatomical circuitry between Agoutirelated protein and leptin signaling*. Endocrinology 140: 2387-2397, 1999.
- 163. Wos-Oxley ML, Medina E, Janus LM, Bleich A, and Pieper DH. *Indepth characterization of human-flora associated rodent models: colonization efficacy and stability of the transplanted human bacterial community.* Int J Med Microbiol 299: 95-95, 2009.
- 164. Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen YY, Keilbaugh SA, Bewtra M, Knights D, Walters WA, Knight R, Sinha R, Gilroy E, Gupta K, Baldassano R, Nessel L, Li HZ, Bushman FD, and Lewis JD. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science 334: 105-108, 2011.
- 165. Xia QH, and Grant SFA. *The genetics of human obesity*. Ann Ny Acad Sci 1281: 178-190, 2013.
- 166. Yaswen L, Diehl N, Brennan MB, and Hochgeschwender U. *Obesity in the mouse model of pro-opiomelanocortin deficiency responds to peripheral melanocortin.* Nat Med 5: 1066-1070, 1999.

- 167. Zhang YY, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, and Friedman JM. *Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homolog*. Nature 372: 425-432, 1994.
- 168. Zhernakova A, Kurilshikov A, Bonder MJ, Tigchelaar EF, Schirmer M, Vatanen T, Mujagic Z, Vila AV, Falony G, Vieira-Silva S, Wang J, Imhann F, Brandsma E, Jankipersadsing SA, Joossens M, Cenit MC, Deelen P, Swertz MA, Weersma RK, Feskens EJM, Netea MG, Gevers D, Jonkers D, Franke L, Aulchenko YS, Huttenhower C, Raes J, Hofker MH, Xavier RJ, Wijmenga C, Fu JY, and Study LC. Population-based metagenomics analysis reveals markers for gut microbiome composition and diversity. Science 352: 565-569, 2016.
- 169. Zhu XR, Zhou A, Dey A, Norrbom C, Carroll R, Zhang CL, Laurent V, Lindberg I, Ugleholdt R, Holst JJ, and Steiner DF. *Disruption of PC1/3 expression in mice causes dwarfism and multiple neuroendocrine peptide processing defects*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99: 10293-10298, 2002.
- 170. Zimmet PZ, Collins VR, de Courten MP, Hodge AM, Collier GR, Dowse GK, Alberti KGMM, Tuomilehto J, Hemraj F, Gareeboo H, Chitson P, Fareed D, and Grp MNS. *Is there a relationship between leptin and insulin sensitivity independent of obesity? A population-based study in the Indian ocean nation of Mauritius.* Int J Obesity 22: 171-177, 1998.

# ROLE OF PPG NEURONS IN REGULATING ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS IN MICE

*Authors:* Nino Jejelava, Sonja Müller, Wolfgang Langhans, Shin Jae Lee

Federal Institute of Technology, (ETH) Zurich, Switzerland;

#### 2.1 ABSTRACT

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) produced in the nucleus tractus solitarii (NTS) is implicated in the control of energy intake and expenditure. Blocking central GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R) signalling with a GLP-1R antagonist prevented diet-induced obesity (DIO) in mice, suggesting that the HFDinduced rise in brain GLP-1 levels contributes to DIO development. We here found that feeding mice a 60% HFD for 10 weeks increased NTS pre-pro-glucagon (PPG, GLP-1 precursor) mRNA expression compared to chow-feeding. Similarly, leptin deficient ob/ob mice showed elevated PPG mRNA expression in the NTS, which was reduced by leptin treatment, suggesting that the PPG gene is regulated by leptin.

Surprisingly, blocking leptin signalling in the 4<sup>th</sup> ventricle using leptin receptor antagonist (LRA) decreased food intake (FI), body weight (BW), and NTS PPG mRNA levels in DIO mice. Furthermore, NTS PPG knockdown (PPG KD) using lentiviral-mediated RNA interference decreased BW gain and daily FI. The reduced FI in PPG KD mice was associated with a decrease in hypothalamic NPY expression. On the other hand, acute activation of PPG neurons using designer receptors exclusively activated by designer drugs (DREADD) technology also decreased short-term FI and energy expenditure (EE) in DIO mice, suggesting that a GLP-1-independent mechanism was responsible for the anorexigenic effect. Our results indicate that a chronic increase in central PPG levels with HFD feeding contributes to the obesity phenotype by modulating hypothalamic neural circuits involved in the control of energy intake and expenditure.

#### 2.2 INTRODUCTION

36

Glucagon like peptide-1 (GLP-1) encoded by the pre-pro-glucagon gene (PPG) is produced peripherally by L-cells in the gut and centrally by a small population of neurons in the lower brain steam, i.e., in the nucleus tractus solitarii (NTS) and the medulla reticular formation [1]. The PPG gene does not only encode for GLP-1 and glucagon, but also for other hormones. Posttranslational modification of pre-pro-glucagon by prohormone convertases (PC1, PC2, PC3) leads to GLP-2, oxyntomodulin (OXM), intervening peptide-1(IP-1) and glicentin (GCG peptides) [2–4].

Gut-derived GLP-1 enhances glucose-induced insulin secretion, inhibits gastric emptying and reduces FI [5,6]. GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R) agonists are currently approved for the treatment of type-2 diabetes (T2D), and one of them (liraglutide) was recently also approved for the therapy of obesity [7,8]. While the role of peripheral GLP-1 is well established, less is known about the role of centrally produced GLP-1. Because systemically applied GLP-1R agonists can directly activate GLP-1R in the hypothalamus and in the hindbrain [9, 10], understanding GLP-1 signalling in the brain will be crucial for developing a GLP-1R agonist-based strategy to combat obesity.

In previous studies ICV injections of GLP-1R agonists reduced FI and glycemia, had a neuroprotective effect and produced hypothermia in mouse and rat models [1,6,11–17]. Furthermore, activation of PPG neuronal terminals in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) using a chemogenetic (DREADD) approach reduced consumption of a high-fat diet (HFD) compared to control treatment through a reduced synaptic drive onto mesolimbic dopamine neurons [18, 19].

PPG neurons are activated by various signals including cholecystokinin (CCK), oxytocin, lithium chloride (LiCl), gastric distension, and leptin [1]. In fact, PPG neurons express functional leptin receptors (LepR), and they are depolarized upon the administration of leptin [20]. Fasting, which reduces circulating leptin levels, results in a downregulation of central PPG mRNA expression, whereas leptin injection can restore the PPG levels [11]. Less is known, however, about the role of leptin signalling in PPG regulation in obesity, and this needs further investigations.

PPG neurons directly project to different brain areas including the hypothalamus. The arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus (ARC) contains neuropeptide Y (NPY)/agouti-related protein (AgRP) and pro-opiomelano-cortin (POMC)/cocaine- and amphetamine-related transcript (CART) neu-

rons that are considered major controllers of FI [21]. Upon stimulation, NPY/AgRP neurons promote, whereas CART/POMC neurons inhibit, eating [22–29]. Under normal feeding conditions GLP-1R agonist was shown to directly stimulate POMC/CART neurons via GLP-1R, but it inhibits NPY/AgRP neurons via an indirect mechanism [9]. It is, however, unknown how endogenous central GLP-1 affects these neurons in obesity.

Previous studies have shown that chronic ICV administration of the GLP-1R antagonist exendin-9 for 4 weeks, which blocks central GLP-1R signalling, prevents the development of DIO [10], raising the possibility that the increase in central GLP-1 levels might contribute to the development of obesity. To investigate the role of central GLP-1 in DIO, we here characterized hindbrain PPG mRNA expression in several obese mouse models and examined the effects of leptin signalling in PPG gene regulation. We also addressed the role of PPG overexpression in DIO mice by knocking down PPG mRNA using lentiviral mediated RNA interference. In addition, we used a chemogenetic tool to manipulate PPG neuronal activity and evaluated the consequences of this manipulation for FI, BW and energy expenditure (EE).

#### 2.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 2.3.1 Animals and housing

All experiments were approved by the Canton of Zurich Veterinary Office. The animals were kept in type 2 Macrolon cages in an air conditioned animal holding room  $(21 \pm 2 \,^{\circ}C \text{ and } 50 \pm 5\% \text{ humidity})$  maintained on a 12-hour light/12-hour dark cycle (light on at 7 : 00 am). All animals had ab libitum access to water and food, which was regular chow (CD, Kliba 3436, ProvimiKliba NAFAG, Kaiseraugst, Switzerland) unless mentioned otherwise.

All mice were bred in our animal facility: WT mice: Initial C57BL6J breeders were obtained from Charles River (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany). Glu-Cre mice: Initial breeders were obtained from Fiona Gribble/ Frank Reimann (University of Cambridge Metabolic Research Laboratories, Cambridge, United Kingdom). The Glu-Cre mice express the Cre recombinase under the glucagon promoter, the mice were bred Cre-heterozygous to avoid possible Cre-induced toxic effects. Glu-YFP mice: Initial breeders were also obtained from Fiona Gribble/Frank Reimann. The Glu-YFP mice express the YFP fluorescent protein under the glucagon promoter. The mice were bred as heterozygous. ob/ob mice: Initial breeders were obtained from Charles River (Charles River, JAX<sup>TM</sup>Mice Strain, B6.Cg-Lepob/J. Sulzfeld, Germany). db/db mice: Initial breeders were obtained from Charles River (Charles River, JAX<sup>TM</sup>Mice Strain, B6.BKS(D)-LepRdb/J. Sulzfeld, Germany).

## 2.3.2 DIO studies

For the DIO studies, animals were switched to HFD (60 kJ% fat, SSNIFF E15742-34 EF D12492 (I) mod) at the age of 8 weeks. The duration of HFD feeding is indicated for each experiment (see below).

## 2.3.3 Surgeries

Animals were anesthetized by IP injections of an anesthetic mixture consisting of 5 mg/kg xylazine (Rompun; Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany) and 86 mg/kg ketamine (Ketasol-100; Dr. E. Gräub, Bern, Switzerland). Microinjections of all viruses were performed with glass pipet tips bilaterally (50 µm) into the caudal NTS (coordinates: 0.1 mm rostral, 0.5 mm lateral to obex and 3.5 mm ventral to surface). An appropriate volume of viral solution was injected into each side using the Picospritzer III injector (Parker Hannifin, Precision Fluidics Division, East Pine Brook, NJ REF: 07058 973-575-4844). The wound was sutured using 6.0 surgical sutures (Ethicon Coated VICRYL REF: V384). After surgery the animals were subcutaneously (SC) injected (1 ml/kg BW) with a mixture of 20 mg/kg sulfadoxin and 5 mg/kg trimethoprim (Borgal 24%, Intervet, Shering-Plough Animal Health, Kenilworth, NJ) and Carprofen (Norocarp, UFAMED AG, Sursee, Switzerland), resulting in a final dose of 5 mg/kg BW. Borgal was injected only on the surgery day, whereas Norocarp was injected for 3 days post-surgery. To ensure sufficient expression of the virus, the experiments began 2 weeks post-surgery.

## 2.3.4 PPG LV-shPPG knockdown

To achieve PPG knockdown, stereotactic injections of lentiviral-mediated PPG shRNA was performed in both 60% HFD and CD-fed WT mice. Adult WT mice were injected with pLKO.1-puro vectors expressing turbo green fluorescent protein (GFP) and a U6 promoter driven shRNA targeting the mouse PPG mRNA sequence (LV-shRNA) or nontarget shRNA (LV-

control)(Sigma-Aldrich) as control. The efficiency of the PPG knockdown was assessed in the mouse enteroendocrine Glu-Tag cell line expressing PPG. Post-transfection cells were sorted by FACS and knockdown efficiency was checked using Q-PCR. Selected targeting (LV-shPPG) as well as control (LV-control) lentiviral particles were produced in human embry-onic kidney cells (HEK-293-T) using the pMD2.G and psPAX2 plasmids (gifts from D. Trono, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne; cat. no. 12259 and 12260; Addgene) and concentrated using 8% PEG6000 (Millipore) and resuspended in PBS. Virus was injected bilaterally as described in 'animal surgeries' above at a volume 300 nl per site.

## 2.3.5 DREADD activator / silencer virus injection

Glu-Cre mice were used to investigate the behavioural consequences of manipulating the PPG neurons with the designer receptors exclusively activated by designer drug (DREADDs) system upon clozapine-N-oxide (CNO) stimulation. CNO was always dissolved freshly from powder as follows: 0.5 mg of CNO were resuspended with 10 µL of DMSO, which was followed by the addition of 5 ml PBS for a final injection of 0.3 mg/kg of mice BW. We used hM3Dq (AAV5-hSyn-DIO-hM3Dq-mCherry) and hM4Di (AAV5-hSyn-DIO-hM4Di-mCherry) DREADD (North Carolina UNC vector Core) that are Cre-dependent. The virus was used according to the manufacturer's instructions.

## 2.3.6 Leptin receptor antagonist (LRA) injection

For the LRA preparation, lyophilized mouse super-active leptin antagonist (SMLA) was purchased from Protein Laboratory (Rehovot, Israel, Cat. #SLAN-1) and stored at -20 °C. LRA was dissolved in double distilled water and mixed gently resulting in a final stock concentration of  $5 \mu g/\mu L$ . For the LRA injection, a 4 mm long plastic cannula (22G) with the injector protruding 1 mm was stereotaxically positioned into the 4<sup>th</sup> ventricle of Glu-YFP HFD-fed mice (coordinates: 2.4 mm AP, 0 mm ML, -4.0 mm DV to the Lambda). The cannulas were fixed to the skull using 2 screws and dental cement. Starting one week after surgery, sham injections were performed through the cannula for 3 days followed by LRA treatment. LRA injections (0.5  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L injection volume 0.5  $\mu$ L) were performed for 7 days twice daily 1 h prior to the light or dark phase.

## 2.3.7 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)

Mice were food-deprived for 6 h with ad libitum access to water from the beginning of the dark phase. A baseline measurement was taken and an oral bolus of 20% glucose solution (Sigma – Aldrich CAS: 50 - 99 - 7) in water was given through gavage at the dose of 2 g/kg BW). Blood samples for glucose were taken from the tail vein at baseline and 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 min after the gavage. Glucose levels were measured using the commercially available glucometer and corresponding glucose strips (Aviva Roche, Accu-Check).

## 2.3.8 mRNA level quantification of other genes

For quantitative assessment of other genes in addition to PPG, extracted RNA was first subjected to reverse transcription–PCR as described before. This was followed by quantitative PCR using commercially available SYBR green (Fast SYBR Green Master Mix Applied Biosystems by ThermoFisher Scientific Cat. # 4368813) according to the manufacturer's recommendations using the following primers:

NPY

Forward: 5'-CCG CTC TGC GAC ACT ACA T-3' Reverse: 5'-TGT CTC AGG GCT GGA TCT CT-3'

POMC

Forward: 5'-AGT GCC AGG ACC TCA CCA-3' Reverse: 5'-CAG CGA GAG GTC GAG TTT G-3'

CART

Forward: 5'-CGA GAA GAA GTA CGG CCA AG-3' Reverse: 5'-CTG GCC CCT TTC CTC ACT-3'

AgRP

Forward: 5'-CAG GCT CTG TTC CCA GAG TT-3' Reverse: 5'-TCT AGC ACC TCC GCC AAA-3'

### PC1

Forward: 5'-CCA AAG TTG GAG GCA TAA GAA TG-3' Reverse: 5'-GTC TGT GTA GCC ATC ACA GTC A-3'

## PC2

Forward: 5'-GCC GTG TTT GCA TTG GCT TT-3' Reverse: 5'-GCA CAG TCA GAT GTT GCA TGT-3' PC3

## Forward: 5'-ACT TGG TCA GCC TCC CAT AGT TGT-3' Reverse: 5'-TGT TAG CTG CCA GAC CAC ATG ACT-3'

### GAPDH

## Forward: 5'-ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC-3' Reverse: 5'-CACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCC-3'

#### 2.3.9 Mouse perfusion

Mice were anesthetized using  $50 \,\mu\text{L}$  of pentobarbital and then transcardially perfused at a speed 20 ml/min with PBS for 1 min. Thereafter fixation was done with a 4% PFA solution containing 15% picric acid for 3 min. The brain was taken out from the skull and placed in a vial with 4% PBS/15% picric acid for 6 – 9 h followed by incubation in citric buffer (pH 4.5) containing  $Na_2HPO_4$  dihydrat (0.2 M) and citric acid (0.1 M) at RT for at least 6 h. For the subsequent antigen retrieval the brain was heated in 80 ml citric buffer (RT) in the microwave (650 W, 80% power) for 85 seconds. Directly after the microwaving the brain was placed in RT PBS for 1 min, than in 4 0 °C PBS for 1 min, followed by 10% sucrose solution for 3 min. Finally, the brains were incubated in 30% sucrose solution for 72 hours. When the brains sunk to the bottom of a vial they were frozen and stored at -80 °C.

### 2.3.10 Immunohistochemical staining

Perfused and antigen retrieved frozen brains were sliced into 25  $\mu$ m slices and stored in cryo protectant at -20 °C. For the staining, brain slices were rinsed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 3 x 10 min. Brain slices were then blocked using blocking solution consisting of 2% donkey serum and PBST (0.3% Triton-X 100 in PBS) for 30 min. Thereafter, the slices were incubated with a primary antibody (1 : 200 rabbit anti-PSTAT-3-antibody) in 2% blocking-solution for 48 h at 4 °C. The brain slices were washed 3 times with PBS for 10 min followed by incubation for 1 h at RT with a secondary antibody (biotinylated donkey anti rabbit antibody, 1 : 5000 in PBST). After washing with PBS, the slices were placed for 20 min at RT in a solution composed of PBS, biotinylated tyramide-solution (BTS) (5  $\mu$ L per mL PBS) and 3%-hydrogen-peroxide (3.3  $\mu$ L per mL PBS). After washing, brains were incubated in 1 : 200 streptavidin 593-conjugate solution for 3 h at 37 °C. The brain slices were mounted on slides, air dried, fixed with glycine buffer and finally cover-slipped. Using a fluorescence microscope (CW Scope A.1, Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany), fluorescence positive cells were visualized and photographed with a digital camera (Axiocam MRX, Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

## 2.3.11 Phenomaster study

Mice were single housed for indirect calorimetry using PhenoMaster/Lab-Master metabolic cages (TSE systems, Bad Homburg, Germany). BW was manually measured daily and used to normalize EE. Data are shown as average of 2 days divided in 6 h bins.

## 2.3.12 Statistical analysis

For all statistical analyses StatView version 5.0 (Distributor: SAS institute, cary NC27513, USA. www.statview.com) was used. For statistical comparisons, an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed, followed by Bonferroni post-hoc tests. Significance was set at p < 0.05. All figures were plotted using GraphPad Prism version 6.0.

## 2.4 RESULTS

## 2.4.1 HFD exposure increases central PPG mRNA expression in mice

As described previously [10, 30, 31], long-term HFD exposure increased BW compared to standard chow diet (CD) (Fig. 2.1a, 10 weeks p < 0.05, 18 weeks p < 0.05). Consistent with this BW phenotype, HFD feeding increased plasma leptin levels (Fig. 2.1b, 10 weeks p < 0.001, 18 weeks p < 0.001). Two weeks of HFD feeding did not yet result in a significant BW or PPG mRNA change compared to the CD group, indicating that PPG mRNA expression was not altered by the high fat content of the diet. Instead, the increase in PPG mRNA expression observed after 10 weeks was associated with the rise in BW and leptin levels (Fig. 2.1c, 10 weeks p < 0.0001, 18 weeks p < 0.001). Furthermore, 10 weeks of HFD feeding increased the number of cells expressing YFP under the PPG promotor (Glu-YFP mice), indicative of increased promotor activity for PPG gene expression (Fig. 2.1 d, e). These data suggest a positive correlation between BW, presumably fat mass, and central PPG mRNA production.



FIGURE 2.1: Influence of long-term HFD feeding on BW, circulating leptin levels, PPG mRNA levels and number of PPG neurons in WT mice. All measurements taken after 2, 10, and 18 weeks of HFD feeding. BW (n = 14): two-way ANOVA p < 0.05, with diet effect \*p < 0.05; b) leptin levels (n = 6): two-way ANOVA p < 0.0001, with diet effect \*\*p < 0.0005, \*\*\*p < 0.0001; c) NTS PPG mRNA level (n = 6/9): two-way ANOVA p < 0.0001, with diet effect \*\*p < 0.005, \*\*\*p < 0.0001; d) YFP expression (green) under the PPG promotor, indicating PPG neurons in the NTS of Glu YFP mice fed CD; e) PPG neurons in the NTS of Glu YFP mice fed a HFD for 10 weeks; and f) quantification of YFP expressing PPG neurons in CD vs. HFD mice (n = 7/9): Student t-test \*P < 0.05).

# 2.4.2 Leptin signalling deficiency increases central PPG mRNA expression in mice

PPG neurons express the leptin receptor [20]. To understand the role of leptin receptor signalling in PPG expression, we first confirmed signal transducer and activator of transcription- 3 (STAT3) activation in PPG neurons after leptin (IP,  $2\mu g/kg$  BW) administration in Glu-YFP mice (Fig. 2.2a). Our qualitative assessment revealed the presence of functional Leptin receptors in PPG neurons.

Interestingly, hindbrain PPG mRNA levels in leptin deficient ob/ob mice were higher than in their WT littermate controls (Fig. 2.2b, p < 0.0001). Leptin administration rapidly decreased PPG mRNA expression in ob/ob mice, whereas it did not affect PPG mRNA expression in WT mice, suggesting that PPG mRNA overexpression is part of starvation signals that contribute to hyperphagia in the leptin deficiency model. These data also suggest that, in the presence of endogenous leptin, additional exogenous leptin does not affect PPG mRNA expression.

Similarly, PPG levels in db/db mice were higher (p < 0.001) than in their WT littermates (Fig. 2.2c). Leptin injection did however not result in a reduction of PPG mRNA levels in db/db animals, consistent with the role of leptin signalling through the leptin receptor in PPG mRNA regulation.

## 2.4.3 Chronic LRA injection into the 4th ventricle triggers BW loss

We hypothesized that leptin, which gradually increases during the HFD feeding, has a regulatory effect on PPG neurons. Because PPG neurons have functional leptin receptors, excess leptin might cause their constant activation or resistance. In order to study the influence of leptin, we fed mice HFD for 18 weeks to cause DIO, then performed 4<sup>th</sup> ventricle cannulation surgery to deliver LRA locally in close proximity of PPG neurons. After recovery, the mice received twice daily ICV LRA injections for 7 days to block the leptin receptors. LRA injections resulted in a significant BW decrease compared to the vehicle (VEH) injected control group (Fig. 2.2 e, *p* < 0.05). We then generated a separate batch of animals with 4<sup>th</sup> ventricular cannulae to perform an acute LRA injection and sacrificed them after 30 min for measuring central PPG mRNA levels. We found a 30% decrease in PPG mRNA levels in the LRA group compared to the VEH control group, although the difference did not reach statistical significance (Fig. 2.2 f). These data indicate that blocking leptin receptor signalling in



FIGURE 2.2: Leptin regulation of PPG neurons: PSTAT-3 staining (red) in GLU-YFP mice after: a) saline injection and b) 2 µg/kg IP leptin injection, c) PPG mRNA levels in ob/ob mice kept on CD; n = 8, Two-way ANOVA p < 0.0001, with treatment effect \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001, group effect \*\*\*p < 0.0005 d) PPG mRNA levels in db/db mice kept on CD; n = 8, Two-way ANOVA p < 0.0001, with treatment effect NS and group effect \*\* p < 0.005, e) BW measurement of DIO mice after chronic (twice a day LRA injections for 7 days) kept on HFD (n = 7 Student t-test p < 0.05), f) PPG mRNA levels in DIO WT mice 30 min post LRA injection (n = 7 Student t-test p < 0.05), g) FI measurement in DIO mice after chronic LRA injections (n = 7Student t-test p < 0.05).

the hindbrain results in a decrease in FI, BW, and PPG levels, suggesting that excess leptin signalling in the hindbrain can contribute to obesity.

# 2.4.4 PPG mRNA knockdown decreases FI and ameliorates BW gain in DIO mice

LV-shPPG or LV-control expressing GFP was injected bilaterally into the NTS in DIO mice (Fig. 2.3a). The LV-shPPG injection led to a 30% reduction in PPG mRNA levels in the NTS, compared to the scrambled LV-control (Fig. 2.3b, p < 0.05). The LV-shPPG injection reduced BW gain compared to LV-controls (Fig. 2.4c, p < 0.05). The PPG mRNA knockdown also resulted in a decrease in FI during the dark, but not during the light phase, compared to its LV control, (Fig. 2.3d, p < 0.05). Consequently, 24 h FI in LV-shPPG mice was also lower than in LV-controls (Fig. 2.3d, p < 0.05). The NTS PPG mRNA knockdown, however, did not significantly change fat or lean mass. (Fig. 2.4e). LV-shPPG and LV-control mice also showed similar glucose profiles during an OGTT (Fig. 2.3f).

## 2.4.5 PPG mRNA knockdown reduces hypothalamic NPY expression

PPG neurons project to major hypothalamic areas involved in FI and BW regulation. To evaluate if PPG mRNA knockdown had any influence on the hypothalamic expression of genes involved in FI control, we checked hypothalamic NPY, POMC, CART and AgRP mRNA expression levels as well as NTS expression levels of NPY, POMC and CART. LV-shPPG mice, compared to LV-controls, showed a significant decrease in NPY mRNA expression levels in the hypothalamus (Fig. 2.4d p < 0.05), whereas the mRNA levels of CART, AgRP and POMC were unchanged (Fig. 2.4a, b, c). On the other hand, LV-shPPG mice showed no change in NPY, CART, and POMC mRNA expression levels compared to LV-controls in the NTS (Fig. 2.4e, f, g). These data suggest that PPG neurons control FI by modulating hypothalamic NPY neurons.

## 2.4.6 PPG mRNA knockdown does not affect PC enzyme levels in NTS

PPG mRNA is post-translationally modified by PC1/2/3 enzymes, resulting in different post-processing products. We determined whether the PC1, PC2 and PC3 levels in the NTS differed between CD and HFD-fed mice and as a result of the LV-shPPG knockdown. Our findings revealed no sig-



FIGURE 2.3: Viral-mediated PPG mRNA knockdown (LV-shPPG versus LVcontrol) in the NTS (PPG neurons) of DIO mice: WT mice were kept on a HFD for over 22 weeks after PPG KD was performed a) Injection site visualizing viral LV-shPPG shRNA expressing GFP in the NTS of DIO mice kept on HFD, representative image b) PPG mRNA levels in the NTS after LV-shPPG injection versus LV-control measured after all experiments were performed and mice were sacrificed (n = 8/12 Student t-test p < 0.05) c) BW measurement over 40 day post-surgery, LV-shPPG injection versus LV-control, d) FI measurement two weeks post-surgery, LV-shPPG injection versus LV-control, e) Echo-MRI quantification of body composition (lean and fat mass), performed 30 days after surgery, LV-shPPG injection versus LV-control, f) Glucose tolerance test, performed more than 3 weeks post-surgery, LV-shPPG injection versus LV-control.



FIGURE 2.4: Effects of PPG knockdown on hypothalamic and NTS neuropeptide mRNA expression in DIO mice kept on HFD: WT mice were kept on HFD for 22 weeks; then PPG KD virus was bilaterally injected; 2 month post-injection mice were sacrificed and mRNA for next peptides were measured, Cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART), Pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), Agouti-related protein (AgRP), Neuropeptide Y(NPY) \* p < 0.05 in Student t-test (n = 8/12). a) Hypothalamic CART, b) Hypothalamic POMC, c) Hypothalamic AGRP, d) Hypothalamic NPY, e) Hindbrain CART, f) Hindbrain, POMC g) Hindbrain NPY.



FIGURE 2.5: mRNA expression level of PPG processing enzymes Pro-protein convertase 1, 2, 3 in DIO WT mice after PPG mRNA knockdown (LV-PPG versus LV-control injection) in hindbrain. a) PC1, b) PC2, c) PC3

nificant difference among these three groups (Fig. 2.5). There was a trend towards a decrease in PC enzymes in HFD-fed compared to CD-fed mice. This lack of a change in PC enzymes makes it very unlikely that the processing enzymes could have shifted the PPG mRNA products in favor of one or the other post-processing compounds. Because PC enzymes (PC1, PC2 and PC3) process PPG gene products into GLP-1 and other peptidesa shift in the ratio of PC enzymes in the hindbrain during HFD feeding might have caused the upregulation of PPG mRNA. HFD-fed mice however showed only a trend towards a decrease in the expression of these processing enzymes compared to CD-fed mice, whereas PPG (LV-shPPG) KD had no effect on their levels compared to LV-controls.

# 2.4.7 Acute PPG neuronal activation and silencing using hM<sub>3</sub>Dq and hM<sub>4</sub>Di DREADD has opposite effects on food intake

To gain a better understanding of the function of PPG neurons, we used a designer receptor exclusively activated by a designer drug (DREADD) to specifically activate or silence PPG neurons. After viral vector delivery into the NTS, the DREADD receptor can be expressed upon Cre recombinase in Glu-Cre mice. Activation or silencing of neurons was achieved by peripheral injection of the synthetic ligand clozapine N-oxide (CNO). The human M<sub>3</sub> muscarinic receptor hM3Dq was expressed in PPG neurons of Glu-Cre mice and chemo-genetically stimulated by CNO injection to achieve neuronal activation. To achieve PPG neuronal silencing, the human M<sub>4</sub> muscarinic receptor hM4Di was expressed in PPG neurons of Glu-Cre mice and chemo-genetically stimulated by CNO injection. To examine the effect of PPG neuronal activation on eating in DIO mice, we stimulated PPG neurons with the transfected hM3Dq receptor with CNO



FIGURE 2.6: FI and BW after DREADD-mediated PPG neuronal activation or silencing in DIO mice: Glu-Cre mice were kept on a HFD for over 18 weeks, DREADD injection was performed in all animals and animals were allowed to recover for more than 2 weeks prior to experiments. CNO (injected at a dose 0.3mg/kg of BW) was compared to VEH control. Injections were performed either acutely i.e. one time or chronically i.e., every 12 hours 10 - 20 min prior to light/dark onset: a) FI after acute CNO activation acutely, n = 6, two-way ANOVA p < 0.05, with treatment effect \*p < 0.05 b) FI after chronic activation, n = 6, two-way ANOVA , no significance d) FI after chronic silencing, n = 4, two-way ANOVA , no significance f) BW after chronic silencing n = 4 two-way ANOVA , no significance.

and measured HFD intake. CNO reduced the amount of HFD consumed compared to the VEH group (Fig. 2.6a, p < 0.05). The eating-inhibitory effect of CNO lasted 4 h. Next, we examined whether PPG neuron silencing had an opposite effect on FI. To do so, we injected CNO in hM4Di receptor transfected mice; CNO increased the amount of HFD consumed within 2 h post-injection, compared to the VEH group. But, the mice compensated for this initial hyperphagia by consuming significantly less food afterwards (Fig. 2.6d, 0 – 2 h p < 0.05, and 2 – 4 h p < 0.05).
# 2.4.8 Chronic PPG neuronal activation and silencing with hM<sub>3</sub>D1 and hM<sub>4</sub>Di DREADD increases and decreases body weight, respectively

To study the consequences of a chronic PPG neuronal activation, hM<sub>3</sub>Dq was expressed in PPG neurons of Glu-Cre mice and chemo-genetically stimulated by CNO injection. CNO was IP injected twice daily for 5 days. This resulted in a significant reduction of BW in CNO injected animals compared to the VEH group (Fig. 2.6c, p < 0.05), whereas FI did not differ between the two groups during the injection period (Fig. 2.6b), suggesting that the BW loss of CNO injected mice was due to an increase in EE. To study the consequences of chronic PPG neuronal silencing, hM4Di was expressed in Glu-Cre mice. CNO was injected twice daily for 3 days in mice with the PPG neuronal silencer. This resulted in a significant increase of BW in CNO injected animals compared to the VEH group (Fig. 2.6f, p < 0.05). There was a significant increase in 24 h FI after the first day of CNO injection (Fig. 2.6e, p < 0.05), but this effect did not persist on the remaining days. To assess EE after PPG neuronal activation or silencing, mice were placed in a phenomaster system for indirect calorimetry measurements, including respiratory exchange ratio (RER), heat production, and locomotor activity. Chronic PPG neuronal activation led to a decrease in RER during the dark phase (corresponding to the FI reduction) and to an increase during the light phase (Fig. 2.7a). There was an increase in heat production in both the dark and light phase (Fig. 2.7b), consistent with the observed BW loss. No group difference in activity levels was found (Fig. 2.7c). Ironically, chronic PPG neuronal silencing also caused an increase in heat production with no change in RER and activity (Fig. 2.7d-f).

### 2.5 DISCUSSION

Peripheral GLP-1 is produced in L-cells in the small intestine and is released in response to nutrient-derived signals following meal ingestion [6]. GLP-1 acts on GLP-1 receptors (GLP-1R) of the vagus nerve, as well as directly on pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, to enhance glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [6, 32, 33]. Endogenous GLP-1 also slows gastric empting and reduces FI [2,6,34]. Less is known, however about the physiological role of centrally produced GLP-1, the mechanisms of its release, and the site of its action.

GLP-1R are expressed at both peripheral and central sites [2, 6, 35, 36, 36, 37]. The importance of centrally expressed GLP-1R in BW regulation is widely accepted [9, 18, 38]. Because many investigators use long-acting



FIGURE 2.7: Energy expenditure after DREADD-mediated PPG neuronal activation or silencing in DIO mice: a) RER after chronic activation; n = 6, two-way ANOVA p < 0.0001, with treatment effect \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.005, \*\*\*p < 0.0001 b) heat after chronic activation; n = 6, two-way ANOVA p < 0.0001, with treatment effect \*\*\*p < 0.0001, c) activity after chronic activation; n = 6, two-way ANOVA; no significance, d)RER after chronic silencing; n = 4, two-way ANOVA, no significance, e) heat after chronic silencing; n = 4, two-way ANOVA p < 0.0001, with treatment effect \*\*\*p < 0.0001, f) activity after chronic silencing; n = 4 two-way ANOVA, no significance.

GLP-1R agonists to study the physiological role of GLP-1, it is difficult to judge on the physiological relevance of the findings in terms of endogenous GLP-1 functions. Because gut-derived GLP-1 has a short half-life (less than 2 min in the blood) [6, 34, 39–41], it is unlikely that peripheral GLP-1 crosses the blood brain barrier (BBB) and acts directly on GLP-1 receptors in the brain. Importantly, a recent study from our laboratory demonstrated that the full satiating effect of peripheral endogenous GLP-1 requires GLP-1R on vagal afferent neurons, presumably terminating close to the site of GLP-1 release [33]. Previous studies have shown that centrally administered GLP-1R agonists inhibit food and water intake and that these effects require functional GLP-1R in the ARC [9, 42]. Because a direct activation of central GLP-1R by peripherally produced GLP-1 is unlikely, centrally produced GLP-1 may play a major role in regulating the forebrain neural circuits important for FI and BW regulation [38].

Previous studies have reported that PPG mRNA expression in the NTS is up-regulated in DIO mice [10]. These studies demonstrated that a central GLP-1 action during HFD feeding resulted in hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance and that blocking this action with ICV administration of the GLP-1R antagonist exendin-9 prevented the HFD-induced diabetic phenotype [10]. It is therefore important to understand the role of GLP-1 producing neurons in the pathophysiology of DIO. Here, we characterized the time course of central PPG mRNA upregulation during HFD feeding and the development of obesity. We demonstrate that reducing PPG expression using viral-mediated RNA interference ameliorates hyperphagia and slows BW gain in HFD-induced obese mice. Furthermore, we investigated the role of leptin signalling in PPG gene regulation and provide evidence that adiposity, whether it is due to lack of leptin or linked to high leptin levels, is associated with PPG mRNA overexpression. Lastly, using the chemogenetic DREADD approach, we demonstrated that a pharmacological activation of PPG neurons reduces FI and BW in DIO mice, identifying PPG neurons as a potential target for the treatment of obesity.

We found that PPG mRNA expression increases during the course of HFD feeding and DIO development. Moreover, we showed that the number of PPG expressing neurons in the NTS was higher in DIO mice compared to that of mice fed CD. This increase in PPG neuron numbers may also explain the increase in PPG mRNA levels. It is however unknown which neural or hormonal factor stimulates PPG gene expression, and which neurons become PPG expressing neurons after HFD exposure. That PPG mRNA overexpression is associated with increased BW and plasma

leptin levels during HFD feeding prompted us to hypothesize that leptin might be the major driver of PPG upregulation. We found PPG mRNA upregulation in obese diabetic ob/ob and db/db mice, which was reduced by peripheral leptin administration in ob/ob but not in db/db mice, suggesting that leptin can modulate PPG gene expression. A previous study reported that fasting, a state of low circulating leptin, decreases hindbrain PPG mRNA expression, and exogenous leptin treatment fully reversed this phenotype in normal chow-fed mice. In our study, peripheral leptin injection failed to increase PPG levels in WT littermate controls of ob/ob or db/db mice. This discrepancy between our data and published findings could be due to the difference in fasting duration, i.e., 2 h (our study) vs. 24 h fasting (Huo et al. [11]). Whereas a two-hour food deprivation hardly affects circulating leptin levels, prolonged fasting significantly decreases them, which is a starvation signal sensed by the brain. Brain PPG mRNA expression is also reduced after prolonged fasting, and leptin administration can restore PPG levels [11], indicating that PPG expression is an important hindbrain marker for feeding status. Although we did not measure circulating leptin levels, it is unlikely that 2 h food deprivation caused a significant drop in leptin. In other words, our data suggest that, in the presence of endogenous leptin, additional leptin administration has little influence on PPG levels. This is reminiscent of the fact that leptin administration strongly affects FI and EE when endogenous leptin levels are low, but that very high, pharmacological leptin doses are usually necessary to affect these endpoints when leptin levels are normal or high [43].

Our data also suggest that hyperleptinemia induced by overweight is closely associated with PPG overexpression. Because leptin regulates PPG neurons via functional LepRs, we hypothesized that hyperleptinemia [44] is the major driver of PPG mRNA up-regulation in obesity. Yet, contrary to our assumption, PPG mRNA overexpression was partially reversed by leptin injection in ob/ob mice, but not db/db mice, indicating that PPG gene regulation by leptin indeed requires functional LepRs, and that leptin can normalize PPG overexpression in a leptin-deficient state. Because both ob/ob (leptin deficiency) and DIO mice (hyperleptinemia) express high levels of PPG, it appears that PPG expression increases with obesity and hyperphagia. Intriguingly, leptin injection resulted in a decrease of PPG levels in ob /ob mice, raising the possibility that either too little or too much leptin contributes to PPG overexpression. In other words, whether exogenous leptin decreases or increases PPG expression may depend on the energetic state of the organism. In negative energy balance, such as during fasting, exogenous leptin may restore PPG expression. On the other hand, in case of leptin deficiency that leads to a positive energy balance, exogenous leptin rapidly corrects the PPG overexpression [11], which may be one of the mechanisms contributing to the FI reduction by leptin under these conditions. Remarkably, we showed that HFD feeding increases not only PPG mRNA levels but also the number of PPG expressing neurons in the NTS compared to chow-fed animals. The increase in PPG neurons may explain - or at least contribute to - the increased PPG mRNA levels. Additional questions however remain unanswered, including which signals drive this change in the neurochemical phenotype and which neurons become new PPG neurons after the exposure to HFD.

We found that mice kept on CD expressed P-STAT3 in PPG neurons after peripheral leptin administration. Previous studies have also shown that leptin depolarizes PPG neurons derived from chow-fed mice, demonstrating that they are leptin sensitive [20]. ARC neurons become resistant to leptin action with HFD-feeding, but other neurons in the hypothalamus remain responsive to leptin. It is unclear whether hindbrain PPG neurons develop leptin resistance or still respond to leptin after long-term HFD exposure. To our knowledge, there is no evidence in the literature showing altered leptin sensitivity in hindbrain neurons after HFD-feeding. However, it has been shown that deletion of the LepR in the hindbrain using Phox2b Cre LepRflox/flox mice makes these animals hyperphagic and gain weight compared to WT controls [19]. To test whether hyperleptinemia/leptin resistance contributes to hindbrain PPG overexpression and hyperphagia in DIO mice, we blocked leptin receptor signalling in the hindbrain by injecting leptin receptor antagonist (LRA) into the  $4^{th}$  ventricle and measured the effects on BW and FI. We hypothesized that reducing leptin signalling in the hindbrain improves energy balance by normalizing PPG mRNA levels, and thereby decreasing FI and BW. In fact, we found that 4<sup>th</sup> ventricle infusion of the LRA reduced FI, BW, and tended to decrease PPG mRNA levels. Our data therefore imply that leptin signalling contributes to the hyperphagia that is linked to PPG overexpression in the hindbrain. Because the PPG gene produces GLP-1 as an anorexigenic signal, PPG overproduction could increase GLP-1 projections to the forebrain where GLP-1R are highly expressed. DIO animals are however hyperphagic despite the PPG overproduction, which suggests that GLP-1R signalling in the forebrain leads to abnormal eating behavior in obesity. It is however unclear whether blocking LepR signalling reduces FI by directly affecting PPG production or indirectly via other LepR expressing neurons locally connected to PPG

neurons. Considering the therapeutic value of central GLP-1 function, it is important to better understand how leptin affects GLP-1R signalling in DIO.

Long-term HFD feeding increased BW as well as NTS PPG mRNA expression compared to chow feeding, suggesting that the central PPG expression level, and possibly the GLP-1 level, is positively correlated with obesity. To test whether reduced central PPG production alleviates DIO phenotypes, we used lentiviral-mediated RNA interference (LV-shPPG) to knockdown (KD) NTS PPG mRNA expression. PPG shRNA injection into the NTS decreased PPG expression, BW gain and daily FI in adult male mice fed HFD for over 18 weeks. Our data suggest that increased PPG levels indicate a positive energy balance and that reducing this expression directly affects eating behaviour and BW. In line with the decreased FI, hypothalamic NPY expression was significantly lower in KD mice compared to control mice, whereas POMC, AgRP and CART mRNA expression remained unchanged. This decrease in hypothalamic NPY levels in response to a reduction of hindbrain PPG expression could be one of the mechanisms through which PPG neurons inhibit FI in this situation. The exact mechanism of PPG-derived peptide action on NPY neurons is not well understood, and in our study we were unable to identify which hypothalamic NPY neurons were affected by our manipulation because we took the entire hypothalamus for our gene expression analysis. Previous viral tracing studies however have shown that NTS neurons have projections to NPY neurons in the dorsomedial hypothalamus (DMH), raising the possibility that PPG neurons could be among those neurons directly projecting to DMH NPY neurons that contribute to hyperphagia in DIO.

A recent study showed that PPG neurons play a role in glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity [45]. Acute activation of PPG neurons in lean animals enhanced glucose tolerance, decreased basal endogenous glucose production and increased insulin sensitivity [45]. In our study an oral glucose tolerance test did however not reveal any difference in glucose sensitivity between KD and control mice. The different outcome of the two studies could be due to the difference in the animals' nutritional and metabolic states: In our study the mice were obese due to the HFD exposure, and were then challenged with the OGTT, whereas the authors of the previously published study [45] used lean mice. Presumably, the function of PPG neurons greatly differs depending on the feeding status.

We also assessed the effects of PPG neuronal activation or silencing on FI and BW to compare the outcome with the PPG gene knockdown. Pre-

viously, PPG neuronal activation using DREADD technology in mice decreased FI [19]. The caveat with respect to the previous study is that the authors used Phox2B Cre mice [19], which is not specific for PPG neurons. We confirmed that acute modulation of PPG neurons using a PPG neuronal specific mouse model decreased (activation) and increased (silencing) FI in both chow and HFD-fed mice. In addition, we also characterized the consequences of chronic PPG neuronal modulation on FI and EE in DIO mice. Overall PPG neuronal activation decreased short-term FI and RER, but increased EE in DIO mice. This increase in EE appears to be largely responsible for the BW loss because overall FI was unchanged after chronic PPG neuronal activation. Paradoxically, we show that both PPG KD and PPG neuronal activation lead to a decrease in FI. Interestingly, PPG neuronal activity did not alter the PPG expression level, suggesting the mechanisms that lead to an inhibition of eating differ between the two models.

The anorexigenic effect of central GLP-1 is partially mediated by the mesolimbic dopaminergic circuit involved in reward and motivation [19, 46]. Moreover, GLP-1 neurons have been implicated in mediating the stress response and visceral malaise [46]. This is based on studies showing that GLP-1 activates the HPA axis as well as the sympathetic nervous system [46]. PPG neuronal activation may therefore lead to an activation of the stress response and thereby affect FI and EE. Glutamatergic neurons in the NTS control the excitation of the parabrachial nucleus (PBN) [47], an important nucleus in the brainstem integrating signals from different brain regions with the capacity to modulate FI and BW [47,48]. Direct delivery of a GABA receptor partial agonist into the PBN was shown to be sufficient to maintain feeding, and inactivation of GABA receptors was shown to lead to anorexia. Moreover, loss of GABA signalling as a result of AgRP neuronal lesion disinhibits PBN neurons, and consequently inhibits FI [48]. Blocking glutamatergic signalling from the NTS prevents this starvation response and maintains normal eating after AgRP neuronal lesion [47, 48]. Because NTS PPG neurons are also glutamatergic [49], it is possible that the activation of the NTS-PBN pathway is involved in the reduction in FI in response to DREADD-mediated PPG neuronal activation. Either way, our data suggest that PPG neuronal activation may be a viable therapeutic strategy for the treatment of obesity.

Overall, our results suggest that elevated central GLP-1 levels contribute to the DIO phenotype by modulating hypothalamic neural circuits involved in the control of FI. This also indicates that PPG neuronal activation and PPG mRNA upregulation doesn't produce the same results. Previous studies in rodents and humans have extensively focused on beneficial effects of peripheral administration of GLP-1 analogues and their antiobesity and insulinotropic actions in patients with T2DM [5,6,15,16,34,41,50,51]. Because peripheral GLP-1 secretion is compromised in obesity, peripheral administration of long lasting GLP-1R agonists is one strategy to improve GLP-1 actions in the periphery as well as the brain [9,17,42,51–54]. However, central GLP-1 signalling appears to be involved in a wider range of functions beyond FI and blood glucose regulation [1,6,9,18,21,34,37,38,45,46]. Therefore, understanding the physiological functions of PPG neurons in normal and pathological states is of great interest to improve GLP-1-based therapies. In sum, our findings provide new evidence that GLP-1 neurons and signalling mechanism could be a potential target for drug development toward combating obesity.

### 2.6 REFERENCES

- 1. Trapp, S. and J.E. Richards, *The gut hormone glucagon-like peptide-1 produced in brain: is this physiologically relevant?* Current Opinion in Pharmacology, 2013. 13(6): p. 964-969.
- Sandoval, D.A. and D.A. D'Alessio, *Physiology of proglucagon peptides:* role of glucagon and GLP-1 in health and disease. Physiological Reviews, 2015. 95(2): p. 513-548.
- 3. Kreymann, B., et al., *Glucagonlike Peptide-1* 7-36 *a physiological incretin in Man.* Lancet, 1987. 2(8571): p. 1300-1304.
- Schroeder, W.T., et al., Localization of the human glucagon gene (Gcg) to chromosome segment 2q36-]37. Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics, 1984. 38(1): p. 76-79.
- 5. Drucker, D.J., *The biology of incretin hormones*. Cell Metabolism, 2006. 3(3): p. 153-165.
- 6. Holst, J.J., *The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1*. Physiological Reviews, 2007. 87(4): p. 1409-1439.
- 7. Woerle, H.J., et al., *The Role of endogenous incretin secretion as amplifier of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in healthy subjects and patients with type 2 diabetes.* Diabetes, 2012. 61(9): p. 2349-2358.
- Ritzel, R., et al., *Pharmacokinetic, insulinotropic, and glucagonostatic properties of GLP-1 [7-36-Amide] after subcutaneous injection in healthy-volunteers dose-response-relationships*. Diabetologia, 1995. 38(6): p. 720-725.
- Secher, A., et al., *The arcuate nucleus mediates GLP-1 receptor agonist liraglutide-dependent weight loss*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2014. 124(10): p. 4473-4488.
- Knauf, C., et al., Brain glucagon-like peptide 1 signaling controls the onset of high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance and reduces energy expenditure. Endocrinology, 2008. 149(10): p. 4768-4777.
- Huo, L.H., et al., *Divergent leptin signaling in proglucagon neurons of the nucleus of the solitary tract in mice and rats.* Endocrinology, 2008. 149(2): p. 492-497.

- Merchenthaler, I., M. Lane, and P. Shughrue, *Distribution of pre-pro-glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor messenger RNAs in the rat central nervous system.* Journal of Comparative Neurology, 1999. 403(2): p. 261-280.
- 13. Alhadeff, A.L., L.E. Rupprecht, and M.R. Hayes, *GLP-1 neurons in the nucleus of the solitary tract project directly to the ventral tegmental area and nucleus accumbens to control for food intake*. Endocrinology, 2012. 153(2): p. 647-658.
- 14. Scott, M.M., et al., *Leptin receptor expression in hindbrain GLP-1 neurons regulates food intake and energy balance in mice.* Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2011. 121(6): p. 2413-2421.
- 15. Vrang, N. and P.J. Larsen, *Preproglucagon derived peptides GLP-1, GLP-2 and oxyntomodulin in the CNS: Role of peripherally secreted and centrally produced peptides.* Progress in Neurobiology, 2010. 92(3): p. 442-462.
- Kolligs, F., et al., Reduction of the incretin effect in rats by the glucagon-Like Peptide-1 receptor antagonist Exendin(9-39) amide. Diabetes, 1995. 44(1): p. 16-19.
- 17. Farr, O.M., et al., Short-term administration of the GLP-1 analog liraglutide decreases circulating leptin and increases GIP levels and these changes are associated with alterations in CNS responses to food cues: A randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover study. Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental, 2016. 65(7): p. 945-953.
- 18. Gaykema, R.P., et al., *Activation of murine pre-proglucagon-producing neurons reduces food intake and body weight*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2017. 127(3): p. 1031-1045.
- 19. Wang, X.F., et al., *Endogenous glucagon-like peptide-1 suppresses high-fat food intake by reducing synaptic drive onto mesolimbic dopamine neurons*. Cell Reports, 2015. 12(5): p. 726-733.
- Hisadome, K., et al., Leptin directly depolarizes preproglucagon neurons in the nucleus tractus solitarius electrical properties of glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Neurons. Diabetes, 2010. 59(8): p. 1890-1898.
- 21. Llewellyn-Smith, I.J., et al., *Preproglucagon neurons project widely to autonomic control areas in the mouse brain*. Neuroscience, 2011. 180: p. 111-121.

- 22. Billington, C.J., et al., *Effects of intracerebroventricular injection of on energy-metabolism.* Am J Physiol, 1991. 260(2): p. R321-R327.
- 23. Legradi, G. and R.M. Lechan, Agouti-related protein containing nerve terminals innervate thyrotropin-releasing hormone neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus. Endocrinology, 1999. 140(8): p. 3643-3652.
- 24. Simpson, K.A., N.M. Martin, and S.R. *Bloom, Hypothalamic regulation of food intake and clinical therapeutic applications.* Arquivos Brasileiros De Endocrinologia E Metabologia, 2009. 53(2): p. 120-128.
- Wilson, B.D., et al., *Physiological and anatomical circuitry between Agouti*related protein and leptin signaling. Endocrinology, 1999. 140(5): p. 2387-2397.
- 26. Greenman, Y., et al., *Postnatal ablation of POMC neurons induces an obese phenotype characterized by decreased food intake and enhanced anxiety- like behavior.* Molecular Endocrinology, 2013. 27(7): p. 1091-1102.
- 27. Asnicar, M.A., et al., *Absence of cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript results in obesity in mice fed a high caloric diet*. Endocrinology, 2001. 142(10): p. 4394-4400.
- 28. Kristensen, P., *Hypothalamic CART is a new anorectic peptide regulated by leptin.* Progress in Obesity Research: 8, 1999: p. 351-355.
- 29. Aja, S., et al., *Intracerebroventricular CART peptide reduces food intake and alters motor behavior at a hindbrain site.* Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2001. 281(6): p. R1862-R1867.
- 30. McNay, D.E.G. and J.R. Speakman, *High fat diet causes rebound weight gain.* Molecular Metabolism, 2013. 2(2): p. 103-108.
- Wolden-Hanson, T., et al., Cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis of age-associated changes in body composition of male brown Norway rats: Association of serum leptin levels with peripheral adiposity. Journals of Gerontology Series a-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 1999. 54(3): p. B99-B107.
- 32. Nishizawa, M., et al., *The hepatic vagal reception of intraportal GLP-1 is via receptor different from the pancreatic GLP-1 receptor.* Journal of the Autonomic Nervous System, 2000. 80(1-2): p. 14-21.

- 33. Krieger, J.P., et al., *Knockdown of GLP-1 receptors in vagal afferents affects normal food intake and glycemia*. Diabetes, 2016. 65(1): p. 34-43.
- 34. Holst, J.J., *On the physiology of GIP and GLP-1*. Hormone and Metabolic Research, 2004. 36(11-12): p. 747-754.
- Hayes, M.R., L. Bradley, and H.J. Grill, *Endogenous hindbrain glucagon*like peptide-1 receptor activation contributes to the control of food intake by mediating gastric satiation signaling. Endocrinology, 2009. 150(6): p. 2654-2659.
- Rinaman, L. and E.E. Rothe, *GLP-1 receptor signaling contributes to anorexigenic effect of centrally administered oxytocin in rats.* Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2002. 283(1): p. R99-R106.
- Dossat, A.M., et al., *Glucagon-Like peptide 1 receptors in nucleus accumbens affect food intake*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2011. 31(41): p. 14453-14457.
- 38. Turton, M.D., et al., A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. Nature, 1996. 379(6560): p. 69-72.
- 39. Deacon, C.F., et al., *Glucagon-like peptide 1 undergoes differential tissue*specific metabolism in the anesthetized pig. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 1996. 271(3): p. E458-E464.
- Holst, J.J. and C.F. Deacon, Inhibition of the activity of dipeptidyl peptidase IV as a treatment for type 2 diabetes. Diabetes, 1998. 47(11): p. 1663-1670.
- 41. Vilsboll, T. and J.J. *Holst, Incretins, insulin secretion and Type 2 diabetes mellitus.* Diabetologia, 2004. 47(3): p. 357-366.
- Baggio, L.L. and D.J. Drucker, Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptors in the brain: controlling food intake and body weight. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2014. 124(10): p. 4223-4226.
- 43. Ravussin, Y., R.L. Leibel, and A.W. Ferrante, Jr., A missing link in body weight homeostasis: the catabolic signal of the overfed state. Cell Metab, 2014. 20(4): p. 565-72.
- 44. Hall, J.E., et al., *Obesity-induced hypertension interaction of neurohumoral and renal mechanisms*. Circulation Research, 2015. 116(6): p. 991-1006.

- 45. Shi, X.M., et al., Acute activation of GLP-1-expressing neurons promotes glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity. Molecular Metabolism, 2017. 6(11): p. 1350-1359.
- Holt, M.K. and S. Trapp, *The physiological role of the brain GLP-1 system in stress.* Cogent Biol, 2016. 2(1): p. 1229086.
- 47. Wu, Q., M.S. Clark, and R.D. Palmiter, *Deciphering a neuronal circuit that mediates appetite*. Nature, 2012. 483(7391): p. 594-597.
- Wu, Q., M.P. Boyle, and R.D. Palmiter, Loss of GABAergic signaling by AgRP neurons to the parabrachial nucleus leads to starvation. Cell, 2009. 137(7): p. 1225-1234.
- Trapp, S. and S.C. Cork, PPG neurons of the lower brain stem and their role in brain GLP-1 receptor activation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2015. 309(8): p. R795-R804.
- Holst, J.J. and C. Orskov, *Incretin hormones an update*. Scandinavian Journal of Clinical & Laboratory Investigation, 2001. 61: p. 75-85.
- 51. Vilsboll, T., et al., Reduced postprandial concentrations of intact biologically active gluccagon-like peptide 1 in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes, 2001. 50(3): p. 609-613.
- 52. Willms, B., et al., *Gastric emptying glucose responses, and insulin secretion after a liquid test meal: effects of exogenous glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)-(7-36) amide in type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetic patients.* Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 1996. 81(1): p. 327-332.
- 53. Mannucci, E., et al., *Glucagon-like peptide* (*GLP*)-1 and leptin concentrations in obese patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetic Medicine, 2000. 17(10): p. 713-719.
- 54. Douketis, J.D., et al., *Systematic review of long-term weight loss studies in obese adults: clinical significance and applicability to clinical practice.* International Journal of Obesity, 2005. 29(10): p. 1153-1167.

# INTESTINAL LYMPH AS A READOUT OF MEAL–INDUCED GLP-1 RELEASE

*Authors:* Nino Jejelava<sup>a</sup>, Sharon Kaufman<sup>a</sup>, Jean-Philippe Krieger<sup>a</sup>, Marcella Martins Terra<sup>b</sup>, Wolfgang Langhans<sup>a</sup>, Myrtha Arnold<sup>a</sup>

*a* Federal Institute of Technology, (ETH) Zurich, Switzerland; *b* Federal University of Juiz de Fora- Minas Gerais, Brazil;

Based on reference doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00120.2017

#### 3.1 ABSTRACT

Intestinal lymph supposedly provides a readout for the secretion of intestinal peptides. We here assessed how mesenteric lymph duct (MLD) lymph levels of glucagon-like peptide (GLP-1), insulin, and metabolites (Glucose, triglycerides [TG]) evolve after isocaloric high and low fat diet (HFD, LFD) meals, and how they compare to hepatic portal vein (HPV) plasma levels. Moreover, we examined the effects of intraperitoneally (IP) administered GLP-1 (1 or 10 nmol/kg) on these parameters. At 20 min after the HFD meal onset, GLP-1 levels were higher in MLD lymph than in HPV plasma. No such difference occurred with the LFD meal. IP injections of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 prior to meals enhanced the meal-induced increases in MLD lymph and HPV plasma GLP-1 levels except for the MLD lymph levels after the HFD meal. IP injection of 1 nmol/kg GLP-1 only increased HPV plasma GLP-1 levels at 60 min after the HFD meal. GLP-1 injections did not increase the MLD lymph or HPV plasma GLP-1 concentrations beyond the physiological range, suggesting that IP GLP-1 injections can recapitulate short-term effects of endogenous GLP-1. DPP-IV activity in MLD lymph was lower than in HPV plasma, which presumably contributed to the higher levels of GLP-1 in lymph than in plasma. Insulin and glucose showed similar profiles in MLD lymph and HPV plasma, whereas TG levels were higher in lymph than in plasma. These results indicate that intestinal lymph provides a sensitive readout of intestinal peptide release and potential action, in particular when fat-rich diets are consumed.

#### 3.2 INTRODUCTION

Interstitial fluid surrounds cells, providing them with nutrients and participating in waste removal. Interstitial fluid composition in a tissue therefore reflects the local cellular microenvironment. Lymph provides the best readout of interstitial fluid because it drains the interstitial fluid and its contents from the tissues, including compounds that do not reenter the blood stream [6, 15]. Intestinal lymph transports the bulk of absorbed lipids as chylomicrons [8, 27, 34, 36], and it contains high concentrations of gastrointestinal (GI) peptides, which enteroendocrine cells secrete into the interstitial fluid in relation to eating [15, 20]. Lymph composition differs from blood or plasma composition due to differences in the fluid and substrate exchange processes [6,11]. Also, the concentrations and activities of various enzymes differ between lymph and plasma [7, 38]. The analysis of intestinal lymph is therefore interesting with respect to several questions related to fat handling and the physiological role of GI peptides. In addition, there is evidence for disproportional transport of GI peptides by lymph compared to blood [7, 38]. Mainly because of technical difficulties of the sampling, however, lymph has not been studied as extensively as blood or blood plasma.

Most previous studies addressing lymph composition used animals that were restrained, for instance in the Bollman cage, in which animals presumably experience massive stress. In this setup the intestinal lymph is continuously drained, and animals are sacrificed within 48 hours of experiment onset [5]. Some other studies used anesthetized instead of restrained animals, but in both cases the animals could not normally behave or eat, hence, none of these experiments reflected physiological conditions [7, 11, 25]. We previously described a novel technique of chronic superior mesenteric lymph duct (MLD) cannulation in rats [2]. This technique allows for repetitive sampling of intestinal lymph in relation to spontaneous real meals in undisturbed, freely behaving rats. The MLD is one of three lymph ducts that drain the abdominal viscera [34]. We chose it because it is 1) the major lymph duct draining the small intestine [35] and 2) big and easy to identify next to the superior mesenteric artery [19].

Here we further refined this technique and used it in rats together with a chronic hepatic portal vein (HPV) cannulation to 1) further investigate the MLD lymph GLP-1 concentrations in response to isocaloric purified high fat diet (HFD) and low fat diet (LFD) meals and 2) to compare them to HPV plasma concentrations of GLP-1. Moreover, 3) we measured the MLD lymph and HPV plasma concentrations of GLP-1 after IP injections of GLP-1 at a dose that reliably reduces food intake in rats [31,33,39]. We did this to judge whether such injections produce physiologic or pharmacologic concentrations of GLP-1 at the presumed site of its action, i.e., near the vagal afferent terminals in the wall of the small intestine. 4) We also measured the activity of the GLP-1 degrading enzyme DPP-IV in MLD lymph and HPV plasma in response to the HFD or LFD test meals and in response to IP GLP-1 injection (10 nmol/kg). There is evidence that even short-term HFD exposure can attenuate the eating-inhibitory effect of IP administered GLP-1. Comparing MLD and HPV GLP-1 levels in response to GLP-1 injections in rats given a HFD or LFD test meal may reveal whether lower concentrations of GLP-1 at the putative site of action contribute to the attenuation of the satiating effect of exogenous GLP-1 by short-term HFD exposure. Finally, 5) we measured the concentrations of insulin as well as some fat and carbohydrate metabolites in MLD lymph and HPV plasma to estimate whether there are major differences in addition to the anticipated differences in trivglyceride (TG) levels.

### 3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals and surgery: The Cantonal Veterinary Office of Zurich approved all experimental procedures. Male SD rats were purchased from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany) at an average BW of 250 - 300 g. The rats were maintained on a 12 : 12 h light-dark cycle, with lights on at 12 : 00 am, and had free access to standard laboratory chow and water unless noted otherwise. Prior to surgery, animals were fasted overnight starting from 10 pm, i.e., towards the end of their light phase. One hour before surgery, animals were subcutaneously (SC) injected (1 ml/kg body weight) with a mixture of 20 mg/kg Sulfadoxin and 5 mg/kg Trimethoprim (Borgal 24%, Intervet, Shering-Plough Animal Health, Kenilworth, NJ). Then the animals were gavaged with 1.5 ml olive oil 1 - 2 h prior to anesthesia. The oil gavage served to increase lymph flow in the mesenteric lymph duct (MLD) and gave the otherwise almost transparent lymph duct a whitish-opaque color, which facilitated identification of the catheter insertion place.

Fifteen to 30 min prior to anesthesia 0.05 mg/kg atropin (Sintetica, Mendrisio, Switzerland) was injected SC (1 ml/kg). An IP injected mixture of xylazine (5 mg/kg, Rompun; Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany) and ketamine (86 mg/kg, Ketasol-100; Dr. E. Gräub, Bern, Switzerland) was used for anesthesia.

Three catheters were implanted during the surgical procedure: an intraperitoneal (IP) catheter, a hepatic portal vein (HPV) catheter and a MLD catheter. All catheters were prepared as described before [2]. Briefly, the IP catheter was assembled using 17 cm silicone tubing (ID 0.508 mm, OD 0.914 mm; Gore WL, Newark, DE), with a 22 G V-shaped cannula polished at both ends attached to the proximal end, and with 12 holes poked in its other end using a 26 G cannula. The dead space of an IP catheter was 40 mL. The HPV catheter was assembled using 23 cm polyurethane (PU) tubing (Art. MRE-040 ID 0.60 mm, OD 0.96 mm Microrenathane, Braintree Scientific, Braintree, MA, USA.). The PU tubing had a 22 G cannula attached to one end, and its other end was tapered to about 0.7 mm by pulling it in 160 °C mineral oil. The dead space of an HPV catheter was 80 µL. The MLD catheter was assembled using 22 cm PU tubing (Art. MRE-025; ID 0.3mm OD 0.64 mm; Microrenathane, Braintree Scientific, Braintree, MA). The PU tubing had a 26 G V-shaped cannula attached on one end, and the other end was tapered to about 0.15 mm OD by pulling in 160 °C mineral oil. The dead space of the MLD catheter was about 15 µL. The proximal ends of all three catheters were sutured to polypropylene surgical mesh (Marlex; Bard Implants, Billerica). Before implantation all catheters were sterilized in disinfectant solution (Kodan-Tinktur forte farblos; Schluer and Mayr, Norderstedt, Germany) and rinsed with 0.9% NaCl. Surgery was performed under aseptic conditions using a surgical microscope.

After implanting the polypropylene mesh with the infusion ports subcutaneously at the between the scapulae the catheters were guided subcutaneously to a 4 cm ventral skin incision. After laparotomy, the tubings were inserted into the abdominal cavity through puncture holes in the abdominal muscle and a drop of medical glue (Histoacryl®, B. Braun, Melsungen, Germany) was applied to the insertion area of the silicon tubing into the abdomen, to fix them in place. The HPV catheter implantation followed a previously described procedure [4] with some modifications. Briefly, the catheter was inserted into the superior mesenteric vein at the level of the splenic vein and advanced around 6 mm to place its tip about 1 mm downstream of the gastroduodenal vein, where it ended freely in the HPV. This way the disturbances of intestinal blood flow are minimal [32]. After inserting the catheter, the tubing was fixed in its place using 4-0 silk sutures. The MLD catheter was implanted as previously described [2] and was stabilized in the lymph duct using 5 - 6 mm Vialon® tubing ( $0.9 \times 25$  mm 381223 or  $0.7 \times 19$  mm 381212, BD Insyte IV Catheters; Becton Dickinson, Madrid, Spain), which was placed in the duct first. The Vialon® tubing had a 0.15 mm hole in its wall allowing for the insertion of the MLD catheter.

After surgery, approximately 3 ml of warm 0.9% NaCl and Ringers lactate solution were injected through the IP catheter. For 3 days after surgery Carprofen (5 mg/kg, Norocarp, UFAMED AG, Sursee, Switzerland) was given SC. Borgal was prepared as described above and injected SC on the first post-surgery day. The animals were closely monitored after surgery. On average they lost less than 4% BW through the surgery and were steadily gaining weight thereafter, reaching 99.8% of pre-surgery BW within 7 days post-surgery, when the blood and lymph sampling started. Moreover, during the recovery, animals did not show any visual sign of suffering; they were always alert and well-groomed.

## 3.3.1 Catheter maintenance

IP catheters were always filled with 0.9% NaCl solution (B. Braun), whereas for the HPV and MLD catheters a lock solution of 50% glycerol containing 200 IU heparin/mL was used. All catheters were flushed daily. On experimental days, the glycerol solution of the HPV an MLD catheter was removed by aspiration, both catheters were well rinsed and filled with NaCl solution 30 min prior to the baseline measurement.

Also the lymph catheter filling solution was aspirated before each sampling. To do so, a saline-filled tubing, connected to a syringe, with a small air bubble at the distal end, was connected to the infusion port. Then the catheter filling was slowly aspirated in a way that the air bubble moved less than 20 cm/min, corresponding to no more than 15  $\mu$ L pec minute. Although the lymph in the tube (10  $\mu$ L) changed colour quickly, we aspirated and discarded two times the dead space of the catheters (i.e., 20  $\mu$ L), before the sampling reservoirs were attached and the lymph samples collected, in order to avoid contamination of the lymph with rinsing fluid.

After completion of the lymph sampling, the catheters were flushed with physiological saline by infusing one time the volume of the dead space within 1 min. This way we just filled the catheters and did not infuse substantial amounts of rinsing solution into the lymph duct. After the samplings were completed, catheters were flushed and filled with heparinized glycerol (one volume of dead space).

# 3.3.2 Lymph and blood sampling in relation to test meal with or without IP GLP-1 injection

The three catheters described above allowed for parallel sampling of MLD lymph and HPV blood as well as for peptide administration. Experimental sampling started one week after surgery, when rats had recovered and regained their pre-operative BW. During the recovery period regular chow (Provimi Kliba AG, Kaiseraugst, Switzerland #3436) was used.

On experimental days, 1 h into the dark phase, baseline samples of lymph and blood were taken and rats were injected through the IP catheter with 10 mM PBS containing 0 (vehicle), 1, or 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 and 1% BSA in a total injection volume of 1 ml. Immediately after the injections, rats were offered isocaloric high fat diet (HFD, 1.75 g, 60 kJ% fat, SSNIFF E15742 – 34 EF D12492 (I) mod) or low fat diet (LFD, 2.3 g, 10 kJ% fat, SSNIFF S9213-E001 EF D12450B (I) mod) test meals (SSNIFF Spezialdiäten GmbH, Soest, Germany). To achieve equal calorie contents of the test meal, we gave different amounts of food, i.e., 1.75 g of the calorically more dense HFD or 2.30 g of the calorically less dense LFD. The rats had been trained to complete the test meals within 3-6 min three times between surgery and the experiment. Only rats that completed their test meal within 2-3 min after injection underwent parallel lymph and blood samplings at 20, 40, 60, 120 and 180 min after injection.

Lymph (120  $\mu$ L) and blood (250  $\mu$ L) samples were cooled during collection and treated with 540 KIU/ml Aprotinin (Sigma-Aldrich, Buchs Switzerland # A6106) and 10  $\mu$ Lml DPP-IV inhibitor (200  $\mu$ Lml, catalog no. DPP4, Millipore, Billerica, MA). Lymph samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen immediately after collection. All blood samples were centrifuged at 9.500 x g for 10 min, and supernatant serum after clotting and plasma when anticoagulants were used was stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until further analysis. These samples were used for all hormone and metabolite analyses.

## 3.3.3 GLP-1 and insulin measurements

Active GLP-1 and insulin in MLD lymph and HPV plasma were analyzed using commercially available kits according to the manufacturer's specifications (Mesoscale Discovery, Rockville, MD, USA). GLP-1 using duplex (MSD, System Mouse/Rat total PYY/active GLP-1 K150JWC) and insulin using single spot (MSD, System Mouse/Rat Insulin Kit K152BZC) 96 MSD plates. The analyses were verified for linearity and checked for nonspecific immunoreactivity in MSD plates. The assay has already been extensively tested by the manufacturer for the use in EDTA rat plasma. As reported, spiking of plasma with various amounts of the calibrators to produce levels throughout the range of the assay yielded a recovery between 79 and 85%. Linearity as measured by spiking of pooled EDTA rat plasma samples with calibrator, followed by subsequent dilution, yielded a recovery rate between 98 - 120%. To validate the assay for lymph samples we ran dilution series of spiked pooled lymph and found acceptable linearity from 1:2 to 1 : 10 (79-133%, mean 101%). Recovery was determined by spiking of 10 individual lymph samples ranging from 14 - 120 pg/mL, yielding a recovery of 79 - 100%, with an average of 88%.

## 3.3.4 Glucose and TG measurements

Commercially available kits (Glucose, Triglyceride Hoffman La Roche, Switzerland, and FFS WAKO Chemicals GmbH, Neuss, Germany) adapted to the Cobas Mira autoanalyzer (Hoffman La Roche, Switzerland) were used for the analyses of glucose and TG. Samples were diluted 12 fold for TG measurement and 5 fold for the measurement of glucose; all samples were briefly centrifuged before analysis.

## 3.3.5 DPP-IV activity assay

Separate animals were used for the DPP-IV activity assay. The same procedure was used and the same volumes of lymph and blood were collected as for the hormone and metabolite analyses, but no additives or inhibitors were added, and blood was allowed to clot for 20 min at room temperature. The commercially available Activity assay kit (Sigma Aldrich, MO) was used to measure DPP-IV activity. Briefly, this assay uses a non-fluorescent substrate for cleavage of H-Gly-Pro linked to Fluorescent Amino-4-Methyl Cumarin (AMC). AMC is released upon cleavage of a non-fluorescent substrate, and the activity of one unit corresponds to the amount of enzyme that is required to hydrolyze the substrate to 1 mmol yield of AMC per minute at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Final DPP-IV activity is reported as *pmol/min/mL* = *microunits/mL*.

## 3.3.6 Data analysis

The data are presented as means  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (S.E.M.). The statistical analysis was performed using the SAS program (Version 4.3). The evolution of hormones and metabolites over time was analyzed for significant differences (p < 0.05) using a three-way ANOVA (diet x drug x time) with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. The graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism software (Version 7).

## 3.4 RESULTS

3.4.1 The HFD and LFD test meals increased MLD lymph and HPV plasma GLP-1 concentrations

The HFD test meal increased endogenous GLP-1 concentrations compared to baseline only at 20 min after meal onset (p < 0.05 vs. baseline) in MLD lymph, but not in HPV plasma Fig. 3.1a. At later time points after the HFD test meal, the GLP-1 concentration in MLD lymph appeared to remain elevated, but the difference to baseline values was not statistically significant. The LFD test meal tended to transiently increase endogenous GLP-1 levels in MLD lymph around 40 min Fig. 3.1b, but the difference to baseline was also not significant. The LFD test meal did transiently increase GLP-1 levels at 20 min in HPV plasma (p < 0.05 vs. baseline). The AUC analysis (0-180 min with baseline as a reference) for endogenous GLP-1 shows that the HFD test meal increased (p < 0.01) GLP-1 in MLD lymph more than in HPV plasma, whereas the LFD test meal increased GLP-1 in MLD lymph and HPV plasma similarly Fig. 3.1c.



FIGURE 3.1: Endogenous release of GLP-1 in response to isocaloric HFD or LFD test meals. Baseline was sampled approximately 20 min prior to vehicle injection and a test meal. Vehicle was injected at time zero, and the HFD or LFD test meal was offered immediately thereafter. GLP-1 in HPV blood plasma (a) and in MLD lymph (b). Area under the curve (AUC, 0 to 180 min above the baseline) for endogenous GLP-1 (c). Data represent means ± S.E.M with n = 5/6. The evolution of GLP-1 levels over time was analyzed for significant differences (p < 0.05) using a two-way ANOVA (diet x time) with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. For clarity, only key significant differences are indicated. \*higher (p < 0.05) than baseline MLD lymph value. \*\*greater (p < 0.01) than corresponding HPV plasma AUC value.

## 3.4.2 IP GLP-1 injections increased MLD lymph and HPV plasma GLP-1 concentrations independent of test meal fat content

IP injection of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 increased (p < 0.05) GLP-1 concentration in HPV plasma and MLD lymph at 20 and 40 min compared to vehicle with the HFD and LFD test meals Fig. 3.2. With the HFD test meal, IP injection of 1 nmol/kg GLP-1 tended to increase the GLP-1 concentration in HPV plasma and MLD lymph, but the differences compared to the endogenous release (vehicle) were not significant. With the HFD test meal, the IP 1 nmol/kg GLP-1 dose produced an almost significant increase in GLP-1 levels compared to baseline in MLD lymph at 20 (p = 0.057) and 40 min (p = 0.06) post injection Fig. 3.2b. Compared to the 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 dose, the highest GLP-1 level after IP injection of 1 nmol/kg GLP-1 appeared to be reached later (at 40-60 rather than 20 min) with the HFD test meal in HPV plasma and with the LFD test meal in MLD lymph. As a result, with the LFD test meal, the GLP-1 level in MLD lymph was lower (p < 0.05) after IP injection of 1 nmol/kg GLP-1 than after injection of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1. There was no such difference with HFD test meal.



FIGURE 3.2: Levels of GLP-1 in MLD lymph and HPV plasma in response to IP injections of 0 (vehicle) 1 or 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 immediately prior to isocaloric HFD or LFD test meals. Baseline was sampled approximately 20 min prior to injection and test meal. Please note that the curve in light grey color represents the endogenous GLP-1 release upon vehicle injection that is depicted on Fig. 3.1, is added here for comparison. Data represent means  $\pm$  S.E.M with n = 5/6. The evolution GLP-1 over time was analyzed for significant differences (p < 0.05) using a three-way ANOVA (diet x drug x time) with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. For clarity, only key significant differences are indicated. #higher (p < 0.05) than 1 nmol/kg GLP-1 baseline value.



FIGURE 3.3: Levels of insulin in MLD lymph and HPV plasma in response to IP injections of 0 (vehicle) 1 or 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 immediately prior to isocaloric HFD or LFD test meals. Baseline was sampled approximately 20 min prior to injection and test meal. The curves in light grey color represent the endogenous insulin levels with vehicle injection. Data represent means  $\pm$  S.E.M with n = 5/6. The evolution insulin over time was analyzed for significant differences (p < 0.05) using a three-way ANOVA (diet x drug x time) with Bonferroni posthoc tests. For clarity, only key significant differences are indicated. \*higher (p < 0.05) than 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 baseline value.

# 3.4.3 Insulin, glucose and fat metabolites showed similar profiles in MLD lymph and HPV plasma

The LFD, but not the HFD, test meal increased MLD lymph and HPV plasma insulin levels (p < 0.05 vs baseline). After the LFD test meal, the insulin concentration in MLD lymph reached its maximum at about 20 min, similar to the increase at 20 min in HPV plasma. IP GLP-1 injections (1 or 10 nmol/ kg BW) did not change the insulin levels compared to the endogenous release (vehicle), i.e., they did not change the insulin levels beyond the increase produced by the LFD test meal, neither in HPV plasma nor in MLD lymph. IP injection of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 produced a trend towards an insulin increase 20 min post-injection, but this change did not reach statistical significance Fig. 3.3.

Independent from the test meals, and as expected, TG were present at much higher levels in MLD lymph compared to HPV plasma Fig. 3.4. With the LFD test meal, neither the test meal itself nor GLP-1 injections resulted in any significant changes in TG levels in HPV plasma Fig. 3.4. With the HFD test meal, however, the increase in TG levels was significant in HPV plasma at 120 and 180 min (both p < 0.05 vs baseline). Also, with the HFD test meal GLP-1 injection of 1 or 10 nmol/kg BW resulted in increased TG levels from 120 min post injection (p < 0.0001 and p = 0.003 vs baseline for 1 and 10 nmol/kg BW, respectively) to 180*min* post injection (p < 0.001 and p < 0.001 vs baseline, respectively).

With the LFD test meal, the TG levels in MLD lymph tended to increase and almost reached significance at 60 min (p = 0.06 vs baseline). With GLP-1 injections (1 or 10 nmol/kg BW) TG levels increased 60 min post injection (p < 0.01 and p < 0.0001 compared to the baseline). After the HFD test meal, TG levels in MLD lymph increased (p < 0.05 vs baseline starting at 40 min). IP injection of 10nmol/kg GLP-1 prevented that increase. The LFD test meal increased the glucose levels in both HPV blood plasma and MLD lymph. These increases were unaffected by GLP-1 injections Fig. 3.5. With the HFD test meal neither the test meal nor GLP-1 injections had any detectable effect on HPV blood plasma or MLD lymph glucose levels at any time point measured.



FIGURE 3.4: Levels of triglycerides in MLD lymph and HPV plasma in response to IP injections of 0 (vehicle) 1 or 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 immediately prior to isocaloric HFD or LFD test meals. Baseline was sampled approximately 20 min prior to injection and test meal. The curves in light grey color represent the triglyceride levels with vehicle injection. Data represent means ± S.E.M with n = 5/6. The evolution of triglycerides over time was analyzed for significant differences (p < 0.05) using a three-way ANOVA (diet x drug x time) with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. For clarity, only key significant differences are indicated. #higher (p < 0.05) than 0 nmol/kg GLP-1 baseline value. \*higher (p < 0.05) than 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 baseline value.



FIGURE 3.5: Levels of glucose in MLD lymph and HPV plasma in response to IP injections of 0 (vehicle) 1 or 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 immediately prior to isocaloric HFD or LFD test meals. Baseline was sampled approximately 20 min prior to injection and test meal. The curves in light grey color represent the glucose levels with vehicle injection. Data represent means  $\pm$  S.E.M with n = 5/6. The evolution glucose over time was analyzed for significant differences (p < 0.05) using a three-way ANOVA (diet x drug x time) with Bonferroni post-hoc tests.

#### 3.4.4 DPP-IV activity was higher in HPV plasma compared to MLD lymph

Overall levels of DPP-IV activity in HPV plasma were higher (p < 0.05 at all time points) compared to MLD lymph. The test meals themselves had no effect on DPP-IV activity Fig. 3.6. IP injection of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 increased (p < 0.05) DPP-IV activity from 60 to 180 min post injection after the LFD test meal and from 40 to 180 min post injection after the HFD test meal. GLP-1 injection did not affect DPP-IV activity in MLD lymph.



FIGURE 3.6: Levels of dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-IV) Activity in MLD lymph and HPV plasma in response to IP injections of 0 (vehicle) or 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 immediately before isocaloric HFD or LFD test meals. Baseline was sampled ~ 20 min before injection and test meal. Data representmeans  $\pm$  S.E.M with n = 6. The evolution DPP-IV activity over time was analyzed for significant differences (P < 0.05) using a three-way ANOVA (diet compartment time) with Bonferroni post hoc tests. For clarity, only key significant differences are indicated. #Higher (P < 0.05) than HFD/HPV plasma baseline value. \*Higher (P < 0.05) than LFD/HPV plasma baseline value.

### 3.5 DISCUSSION

The combination of our novel MLD catheterization technique with HPV catheters allowed for the first time to sample in parallel MLD lymph and HPV blood in relation to a test meal from unrestrained and un-anesthetized rats. In addition to the MLD and HPV catheters, the animals were equipped with IP catheters for easy administration of GLP-1. Compared to most previous studies investigating intestinal lymph, our unrestrained rat model provides several advantages: 1) The animals were not stressed during GLP-1 administrations or lymph/blood collection. 2) They could freely eat a test meal, which allowed for lymph and blood sampling in response to real meal taking. 3) The parallel sampling of MLD lymph and HPV blood allowed for a direct comparison of substance concentrations between the two compartments of the circulation. 4) Finally, we sampled the blood from the HPV, which is a more adequate sampling site to monitor the release of gut peptides such as GLP-1 than systemic blood, which most other studies used [11, 13, 23, 25]. With the HFD test meal, the GLP-1 measurements in MLD lymph detected an increase in GLP-1 release that was not identified in HPV plasma. This better detectability of a HFD meal-induced GLP-1 release in MLD lymph compared to HPV plasma is relevant to judge on physiological effects of GLP-1 under these conditions because intestinal lymph presumably provides the best readout of the interstitial fluid in the intestinal wall, which 'bathes' the vagal afferent nerve endings [9].

We assume that lymph truly represents the interstitial fluid around the intestinal endocrine cells because small intestinal lymphatics in the tissue collect the lymph from the interstitial fluid and form a series of collecting (afferent) lymphatic ducts, which transport lymph to the regional lymph nodes before it gets to the superior MLD, where we peformed the sampling. As lymph nodes are densely packed with lymphocytes, dendritic cells and macrophages, various molecules such as cytokines are also secreted into the lymph. Finally, some minor re-absorption of water and electrolytes, but not protein, occurs during the passage through the lymph nodes. To our knowledge, however, there is no evidence that any of our parameters of interest (concentrations of active GLP-1, glucose, triglycerides and DPP-IV activity) is affected significantly during the passage from the intestinal interstitial space to the collection site. Endogenous GLP-1 that is released in response to meals affects eating, gastric emptying, and glycemia at least in part by acting on GLP-1 receptors on these vagal af-

ferents terminating in the intestinal wall [17]. The HFD meal presumably increased MLD lymph flow and, hence, changed the distribution of the released GLP-1 between MLD lymph and HPV plasma in favor of MLD lymph. In addition, intestinal lymph contained less activity of DPP-IV, the major GLP-1 degrading enzyme, than HPV plasma. The resulting longer biological half-life of GLP-1 in intestinal lymph compared to HPV plasma, together with the changed distribution and the slower lymph flow compared to HPV blood flow presumably explains the higher GLP-1 concentrations and the longer duration of the increase in MLD lymph compared to HPV plasma. We also measured the MLD lymph and HPV plasma concentrations of GLP-1 after IP injection of the hormone at a dose that in our hands reliably inhibited short-term eating in rats under various conditions [4,33]. The moderate increase in MLD lymph and HPV plasma GLP-1 concentration that we detected after IP injection of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 suggests that the satiating effect of this GLP-1 dose after IP administration is physiologically relevant. More specifically, that IP injection of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1, a dose that was previously shown to inhibit food intake, produced transient increases in the GLP-1 concentration in MLD lymph and HPV plasma at 20 and 40 min that can still be considered within the physiological range, indicates that this treatment may recapitulate the satiating effect of endogenous GLP-1. We had expected to find higher levels of active GLP-1 after GLP-1 administration in MLD than in HPV. This was clearly not the case, which indicates that HPV blood is a similarly viable readout for post-IP injection GLP-1 concentrations as is MLD lymph. The finding that there is no significant difference between MLD lymph and HPV plasma in this situation is nevertheless relevant because it suggests that at least under the conditions tested HPV blood can replace MLD lymph as a good readout for the microenvironment of the vagal afferent nerve terminals in the intestinal wall. The findings also suggest that the fat content of the meal influences the dynamics of the GLP-1 release and distribution. The greater GLP-1 appearance in MLD lymph after the HFD test meal may be due to the stimulating effect of dietary fat on intestinal lymph flow.

The question remains why the GLP-1 levels in HPV and MLD were rather low after IP injection of GLP-1. As we know from spiking experiments that the assay that we used detects the injected GLP-1, we can only speculate about the reasons for this. Perhaps a significant part of the IP injected GLP-1 was degraded by DPP-IV in the abdominal cavity or in any case before it reached our sampling sites. DPP-IV is a membrane bound en-

zyme expressed on the cell surfaces of most cells [1]. As an intrinsic membrane glycoprotein and a serine exopeptidase cleaving X-proline dipeptides from the N-terminus of polypeptides, DPP-IV is an enzyme that can cleave a large range of substrates. One of them is GLP-1 [10]. To address the question of possible changes in DPP-IV activity in response to a test meal and to compare its activity levels between MLD lymph and HPV plasma, we performed a DPP-IV activity assay. As expected based on the available literature [16, 38], our measurements revealed a higher baseline DPP-IV activity in HPV plasma compared to MLD lymph, and neither the HFD nor the LFD test meal affected the DPP-IV levels. Interestingly, IP injection of 10 nmol/kg GLP-1 increased DPP-IV activity in HPV plasma, but not in MLD lymph. The GLP-1 (10 nmol/kg IP) induced increase in DPP-IV activity in HPV plasma was similar after both the HFD and LFD test meals and was presumably triggered by the increase in the HPV GLP-1 concentration. It is unclear why IP GLP-1 administration did not increase DPP-IV activity in MLD lymph despite the increase in MLD GLP-1 concentration. The low baseline activity and/or amount of DPP-IV in the MLD probably limits the potential of exogenous GLP-1 to increase the activity. As suggested earlier, the different flow rate [MLD lymph in a fasting rat 2-3 ml/h [16] < HPV blood in a sleeping rat approximately 20 ml/min [22]] together with the different DPP-IV activity (MLD < HPV) presumably contributed to the higher concentration of GLP-1 in MLD lymph compared to HPV plasma. Together, this also indicates that at least during HFD meals the vagal afferent terminals are exposed longer and to higher concentrations of GLP-1 (and probably other gut peptides) than one might estimate from HPV plasma. Insulin is released from the pancreas through the pancreatic vein into the HPV blood, i.e., it can reach MLD lymph only indirectly, via the systemic circulation and, ultimately, via the mesenteric artery and then diffusing from the capillaries into the interstitial fluid and, hence, intestinal lymph. It is therefore not surprising that the changes in MLD insulin levels induced by the meals and produced by the GLP-1 administrations mirrored the changes in HPV insulin levels, but at a much lower level. This is also true for MLD glucose concentrations, which showed a similar increase as HPV glucose after the LFD test meal, just starting from a lower level. Because insulin and glucose show similar postprandial profiles in MLD lymph and HPV plasma, measuring MLD lymph concentrations does not offer any advantages over measuring HPV plasma concentrations of these parameters.

As expected, TG were present at much higher levels in MLD lymph than in HPV plasma, and the HFD test meal resulted in higher TG levels in MLD lymph than the LFD test meal. Dietary fat-derived TG with long-chain fatty acids, which accounted for approximately 34.6% in our HFD test meal, are reesterified in the enterocytes, packed into chylomicrons, and transported away from the intestine via the lymphatic route, whereas medium-chain fatty acids released after digestion of TG molecules are absorbed via the HPV [16]. Interestingly, the high dose of IP GLP-1 dampened the rise in TG levels in MLD lymph after the HFD test meal. The most plausible explanation for this observation is the inhibition of gastric emptying that presumably occurred after the injection of GLP-1 and that slowed down the absorption and, hence, appearance of TG in MLD lymph. Previous studies addressing intestinal lymph composition were done using Bollman cages, in which the lymph is drained terminally from a severely restrained animal exposed to massive stress because no anesthesia is used [5]. In other studies in which Bollman cages were not used, animals were anesthetized and lymph was also drained terminally. The disadvantage of these procedures is that on one hand the anesthesia severely slows down lymph flow from 2-3 ml/h (reference) to 0.1-0.6 ml/h, thus also reducing the real time resolution in addition to any other effects that anesthesia may have on lymph composition [3, 16, 36]. In some studies a lymph fistula rat model without anesthesia was used for lymph collection, but the animals were still placed in restraint cages and, hence, subjected to a high level of stress that presumably affects the lymph production profile as well as the secretion of gut peptides [16,20,40]. This could also affect the GLP-1 measurements because stress was previously linked to the cleavage of DPP-IV from the cell surfaces into the blood stream, hence changing the physiologically relevant concentrations of active GLP-1 [18, 29, 30].

Our model avoids the problems related to anesthesia and stress by implanting MLD, HPV and IP catheters. Allowing the animals to fully recover from the surgery and regain their pre-surgical BW and handling them daily prior to sampling, minimizes the stress level during our experiments. Rats are recovering for at least one week post-surgery prior to experiments performed on them. Also, no restraint is needed during the sampling, and in general, the animals can freely move and eat the test meal while corresponding drug injections are done or blood and lymph samplings are performed. As mentioned above, our method allowed for the first time to sample HPV blood and MLD lymph in parallel, thus permitting for a direct comparison between the secretome of these two fluid compartments. Moreover, because our method allows for multiple sampling time points it is very useful to monitor both the secretion and degradation profiles and thus gives a better idea about the life-time of different measurable compounds in lymph compared to the blood.

Perspectives and significance: Our findings support IP administration as an adequate route of administration for investigations into the physiological relevance of GI peptides. In addition, the present study as well as previous experiments [2] document the usefulness of MLD lymph sampling for investigations into the in-vivo GI peptide release and function in relation to eating, in particular when fat rich food is consumed. This is because then intestinal lymph provides a better readout of the interstitial fluid of the intestinal wall than HPV blood. Employing intestinal lymph samplings and measurements in relation to studying in-vivo enteroendocrine cell function with and without involvement of the extrinsic innervation of the intestine can produce very interesting results. To realize the full potential of this novel technique, however, it should be employed addressing phenomena that can not, or can at least only hardly, be detected in HPV blood or elsewhere in the systemic circulation. Thus, intestinal lymph sampling, perhaps together with tracing techniques, might be useful to examine the release of lipids that are temporarily stored in the wall of the small intestine after a fat containing meal [12, 21, 28, 41]. This is a well-documented, but poorly understood phenomenon. Other potential applications relate to immune functions of the intestinal wall, perhaps in conjunction with modifications of the gut microbiome, a currently very fashionable topic of research [14,24,37]. In addition, lymph and blood parallel sampling technique could be applicable for a better understanding of the antiobesity and antidiabetic effects of bariatric surgery. Because previous studies have shown the effective upregulation of some GI peptides after bariatric surgery [26], further investigations of their compartmentalization and functional relevance would be of a great importance. Overall, we hope that the unrestrained rat intestinal lymph sampling model, in combination with other in vivo and in vitro analyses, will provide further useful data and help to better understand gut biology as well as gut-brain interactions.

### 3.6 REFERENCES

- 1. Ansorge S, Buhling F, Kahne T, Lendeckel U, Reinhold D, Tager M, and Wrenger S. *CD26/dipeptidyl peptidase IV in lymphocyte growth regulation*. Adv Exp Med Biol 421: 127-140, 1997.
- 2. Arnold M, Dai Y, Tso P, and Langhans W. *Meal-contingent intestinal lymph sampling from awake, unrestrained rats.* Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 302: R1365-1371, 2012.
- 3. Arnold M, and Langhans W. *Effects of anesthesia and blood sampling techniques on plasma metabolites and corticosterone in the rat.* Physiology & behavior 99: 592-598, 2010.
- 4. Baumgartner I, Pacheco-Lopez G, Ruttimann EB, Arnold M, Asarian L, Langhans W, Geary N, and Hillebrand JJG. *Hepatic-portal vein infusions of GLP-1 reduce meal size and increase c-Fos expression in the nucleus tractus solitarii, area postrema and central nucleus of the amygdala in rats.* J Neuroendocrinol 22: 557-563, 2010.
- 5. Bollman JL, Cain JC, and Grindlay JH. *Techniques for the collection of lymph from the liver, small intestine, or thoracic duct of the rat.* J Lab Clin Med 33: 1349-1352, 1948.
- 6. Brotons ML, Bolca C, Frechette E, and Deslauriers J. *Anatomy and physiology of the thoracic lymphatic system.* Thorac Surg Clin 22: 139-153, 2012.
- 7. D'Alessio D, Lu W, Sun W, Zheng S, Yang Q, Seeley R, Woods SC, and Tso P. Fasting and postprandial concentrations of GLP-1 in intestinal lymph and portal plasma: evidence for selective release of GLP-1 in the lymph system. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 293: R2163-2169, 2007.
- 8. Dahan A, and Hoffman A. *Evaluation of a chylomicron flow blocking approach to investigate the intestinal lymphatic transport of lipophilic drugs.* European journal of pharmaceutical sciences : official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences 24: 381-388, 2005.
- 9. de Lartigue G, de La Serre CB, and Raybould HE. *Vagal afferent neurons in high fat diet-induced obesity; intestinal microflora, gut inflammation and cholecystokinin.* Physiology & behavior 105: 100-105, 2011.
- 10. de Meester I, Lambeir AM, Proost P, and Scharpe S. *Dipeptidyl peptidase IV substrates. An update on in vitro peptide hydrolysis by human DPPIV.* Adv Exp Med Biol 524: 3-17, 2003.
- 11. Edwards GA, Porter CJ, Caliph SM, Khoo SM, and Charman WN. *Animal models for the study of intestinal lymphatic drug transport*. Advanced drug delivery reviews 50: 45-60, 2001.
- 12. Farese RV, Jr., and Walther TC. *Lipid droplets finally get a little R-E-S-P-E-C-T.* Cell 139: 855-860, 2009.
- 13. Hauss DJ, Fogal SE, and Ficorilli JV. *Chronic collection of mesenteric lymph from conscious, tethered rats.* Contemp Top Lab Anim 37: 56-58, 1998.
- 14. Hooper LV, Littman DR, and Macpherson AJ. *Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system*. Science 336: 1268-1273, 2012.
- 15. Kohan A, Yoder S, and Tso P. *Lymphatics in intestinal transport of nutrients and gastrointestinal hormones.* Ann Ny Acad Sci 1207: E44-E51, 2010.
- 16. Kohan AB, Yoder SM, and Tso P. Using the lymphatics to study nutrient absorption and the secretion of gastrointestinal hormones. Physiology & behavior 105: 82-88, 2011.
- 17. Krieger JP, Arnold M, Pettersen KG, Lossel P, Langhans W, and Lee SJ. *Knockdown of GLP-1 receptors in vagal afferents affects normal food intake and glycemia*. Diabetes 65: 34-43, 2016.
- Lamers D, Famulla S, Wronkowitz N, Hartwig S, Lehr S, Ouwens DM, Eckardt K, Kaufman JM, Ryden M, Muller S, Hanisch FG, Ruige J, Arner P, Sell H, and Eckel J. *Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is a novel adipokine potentially linking obesity to the metabolic syndrome*. Diabetes 60: 1917-1925, 2011.
- 19. Lee JS. *Lymph pressure in rat intestinal lymph duct with lymphatic obstruction.* Am J Physiol 251: G321-325, 1986.
- 20. Lu WJ, Yang Q, Sun W, Woods SC, D'Alessio D, and Tso P. *The regulation of the lymphatic secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) by intestinal absorption of fat and carbohydrate.* Am J Physiol Gastr Liver Physiol 293: G963-971, 2007.

- 21. Maljaars J, Romeyn EA, Haddeman E, Peters HPF, and Masclee AAM. *Effect of fat saturation on satiety, hormone release, and food intake.* Am J Clin Nutr 89: 1019-1024, 2009.
- 22. Mansbach CM, and Dowell RF. Portal transport of long Acyl-Chain lipids - effect of phosphatidylcholine and low infusion rates. Am J Physiol 264: G1082-G1089, 1993.
- 23. Noguchi T, Charman WNA, and Stella VJ. *Lymphatic appearance of Ddt in thoracic or mesenteric lymph duct cannulated rats.* Int J Pharm 24: 185-192, 1985.
- 24. Pagliari D, Piccirillo CA, Larbi A, and Cianci R. *The interactions between innate immunity and microbiota in gastrointestinal diseases.* J Immunol Res 2015.
- 25. Porter CJH, Charman SA, and Charman WN. *Lymphatic transport of halofantrine in the triple-cannulated anesthetized rat model: Effect of lipid vehicle dispersion.* J Pharm Sci 85: 351-356, 1996.
- 26. Pournaras DJ, and Le Roux CW. *The effect of bariatric surgery on gut hormones that alter appetite.* Diabetes Metab 35: 508-512, 2009.
- 27. Randolph GJ, and Miller NE. *Lymphatic transport of high-density lipoproteins and chylomicrons.* J Clin Invest 124: 929-935, 2014.
- 28. Robertson MD, Parkes M, Warren BF, Ferguson DJ, Jackson KG, Jewell DP, and Frayn KN. *Mobilisation of enterocyte fat stores by oral glucose in humans*. Gut 52: 834-839, 2003.
- 29. Rohrborn D, Eckel J, and Sell H. Shedding of dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is mediated by metalloproteases and up-regulated by hypoxia in human adipocytes and smooth muscle cells. Febs Lett 588: 3870-3877, 2014.
- 30. Rohrborn D, Wronkowitz N, and Eckel J. *DPP4 in Diabetes*. Front Immunol 6: 386, 2015.
- 31. Ronveaux CC, de Lartigue G, and Raybould HE. *Ability of GLP-1 to decrease food intake is dependent on nutritional status.* Physiology & behavior 135: 222-229, 2014.
- Ruttimann EB, Arnold M, Hillebrand JJ, Geary N, and Langhans W. *Intrameal hepatic portal and intraperitoneal infusions of GLP-1 reduce spon taneous meal size in the rat via different mechanisms*. Endocrinology 150: 1174-1181, 2009.

- 33. Ruttimann EB, Arnold M, Hillebrand JJ, Geary N, and Langhans W. Intrameal Hepatic portal and intraperitoneal infusions of GLP-1 reduce spontaneous meal size in the rat via different mechanisms. Endocrinology 150: 1174-1181, 2009.
- 34. Thomson AB, Keelan M, Garg ML, and Clandinin MT. *Intestinal aspects of lipid absorption: in review.* Can J Physiol Pharmacol 67: 179-191, 1989.
- 35. Tilney NL. Patterns of lymphatic drainage in the adult laboratory rat. J Anat 109: 369-383, 1971.
- 36. Tso P, Pitts V, and Granger DN. *Role of lymph flow in intestinal chylomicron transport.* Am J Physiol 249: G21-28, 1985.
- 37. Ussar S, Griffin NW, Bezy O, Fujisaka S, Vienberg S, Softic S, Deng LX, Bry L, Gordon JI, and Kahn CR. *Interactions between gut microbiota, host genetics and diet modulate the predisposition to obesity and metabolic syndrome*. Cell Metab 22: 516-530, 2015.
- Wang F, Yoder SM, Yang Q, Kohan AB, Kindel TL, Wang J, and Tso P. Chronic high-fat feeding increases GIP and GLP-1 secretion without altering body weight. Am J Physiol Gastr Liver Physiol 309: G807-G815, 2015.
- 39. Williams DL, Baskin DG, and Schwartz MW. *Evidence that intestinal GLP-1 Plays a physiological role in satiety*. Endocrinology 150: 1680-1687, 2009.
- 40. Yoder SM, Yang Q, Kindel TL, and Tso P. Differential responses of the incretin hormones GIP and GLP-1 to increasing doses of dietary carbohydrate but not dietary protein in lean rats. Am J Physiol Gastr Liver Physiol 299: G476-G485, 2010.
- 41. Zhu JB, Lee BG, Buhman KK, and Cheng JX. A dynamic, cytoplasmic triacylglycerol pool in enterocytes revealed by ex vivo and in vivo coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering imaging. J Lipid Res 50: 1080-1089, 2009.

# 4

# GENERAL DISCUSSION

#### 4.1 OVERVIEW OF THE MAIN FINDINGS

The results presented in the two manuscripts that are included in this thesis contribute on one hand to a better understanding of the role of PPG neuron regulation (possibly central GLP-1 regulation). On the other hand, they provide a critical test of an animal model that supposedly allows for the precise monitoring of the release of peripheral GLP-1 in vivo and, hence, for better studying its function.

In the study described in Chapter 2 of the thesis, our aim was to expand current knowledge and gain more insight into the mechanism of how PPG neurons in the NTS contribute to the regulation of energy homeostasis. We specifically investigated the role of PPG neurons, the main producers of central GLP-1, in mediating the control of energy intake and expenditure. Interestingly, PPG mRNA levels were upregulated after HFD feeding and in all animal models with altered leptin signalling that we tested. This suggests leptin as a candidate PPG regulator. We also showed (quantified) for the first time that HFD exposure actually increased the number of PPG expressing neurons in the NTS, raising the question, which are those additional neurons in the NTS that start PPG production and presumably contribute to the overall PPG mRNA increase? With the aim of better understanding the PPG mRNA upregulation and its physiological relevance, we performed a bilateral PPG KD in WT mice, and demonstrated that PPG KD decreased FI and BW gain. In addition we addressed consequences of PPG neuronal modulation, using DREADD virus in Glu-Cre DIO animals. Our results indicate that a chronic increase in central PPG levels (possibly GLP-1) with HFD feeding contributes to the development of obesity by modulating neural circuits involved in the control of EI and EE. In turn, acute changes in PPG neuronal activity presumably recruit separate CNS circuits to produce opposite effects on FI (activation a decrease and silencing an increase, respectively) compared to the PPG KD.

In the studies described in Chapter 3 of the thesis, we focused on peripheral rather than central GLP-1 and wanted to examine MLD lymph as a potentially better readout than HPV plasma for monitoring intestinal GLP-1 secretion. We used and refined a previously developed tool to precisely investigate the release of peripheral GLP-1. We sampled MLD lymph and HPV blood over time, in relation to the consumption of isocaloric test meals with different fat contents, with the aim of precisely measuring the endogenous GLP-1 release, as well as addressing the possible physiological relevance of IP administered GLP-1. Our findings indicate that the dynamics of GLP-1 appearance in MLD lymph and HPV plasma are different, due to various factors including differences in DPP-IV activity in these two compartments and the fat content of the meal. Overall, however, MLD lymph did not provide a better readout for endogenously released GLP-1 than HPV plasma. Nevertheless, intestinal lymph may have advantages for other applications, such as investigations into postprandial fat metabolism or intestinal immune functions.

#### 4.2 CENTRALLY AND PERIPHERALLY PRODUCED GLP-1

To address the role of central GLP-1, it is important to differentiate its function from the function of peripherally produced GLP-1, or to consider how and where these two possibly interact. This raises several critical questions: 1) Does only centrally produced GLP-1 have the capacity to reach the GLP-1 receptors in the brain because it is released locally? 2) Or does some peripherally derived GLP-1 also gain direct access to GLP-1 receptors within the CNS despite its short half-life? 3) Or does peripheral GLP-1 signal the CNS only through afferent nerve connections?

# 4.2.1 Do peripheral and central GLP-1 have different roles?

The following effects, which were reported by several laboratories, generate a dilemma:

- 1. Plasma levels of GLP-1 are downregulated in DIO [1-3].
- 2. PPG mRNA is upregulated in DIO in mice [4] (and our own data).
- 3. PPG mRNA is upregulated in situations when leptin signalling is altered in mice [4] (and our own data).

Thus, do peripheral and central GLP-1 have different functions, and why do peripheral and central GLP-1 appear to change in opposite directions? Of course, one needs to consider that we talk here about an 'increase' in

central GLP-1, but what was reported is not an increase in GLP-1 itself but rather in the mRNA level of its precursor PPG, which does not necessarily mean an increase in the GLP-1 level. PPG gives rise to several different peptides [5], and it is conceivable that the posttranscriptional processing of the PPG changes in different situations.

Peripheral administration of long-lasting GLP-1R agonists has shown beneficial effects on BW and glycaemic control [6–10]. GLP-1R agonists are therefore a viable treatment option for obese and diabetic patients [1,11,12]. As these compounds appear to act mainly centrally [5,9], it appears counterintuitive that GLP-1, a known satiating signal, should be upregulated in the brain of DIO mice [4], while its level has been shown to be lowered in the periphery [3]. Moreover, according to our data and other findings, downregulation of central PPG production and blocking of central nervous system GLP-1R signalling have unexpected effects on body weight (BW) and glycaemic control [13–15]. ICV injection of the GLP-1R antagonist exendin-9 (Ex9) in DIO mice in fact improved these animals' metabolic phenotype [15]. This finding highlights the possibility of negative effects of excess central GLP-1R signalling and suggests that DIO is a state of central GLP-1 resistance. It would be worth testing whether central GLP-1 overexpression is a cause or consequence of the DIO phenotype.

This raises an interesting question: Is it possible that a reduction in peripheral GLP-1 may cause an increase in central GLP-1 production? In other words, is there a negative feedback mechanism at work between the peripheral and central GLP-1 systems? PPG neurons themselves do not express GLP-1 receptors, excluding the possibility that peripheral GLP-1 directly affects central PPG neurons to inhibit GLP-1 production. Hence, some other signals than GLP-1 presumably modulate central PPG upregulation and GLP-1 release. This, of course, does not exclude the possibility that these other signals might be directly or indirectly controlled by peripheral GLP-1.

#### 4.2.2 Possible mechanism of PPG upregulation

In the experiments presented in Chapter 2, we showed that mice kept on regular CD express functional leptin receptors on PPG neurons. Previous studies have shown that leptin depolarizes PPG neurons derived from chow-fed mice, which demonstrates that these neurons are leptinsensitive [16]. It is however unknown whether PPG neurons remain leptinsensitive in DIO. We attempted to address this question using HFD-fed GLU-YFP mice to visualize PSTAT-3 activation in PPG neurons of DIO mice, but we failed to reliably demonstrate PSTAT-3 staining, making it impossible to draw conclusions about the leptin sensitivity of these neurons. When we performed the PSTAT-3 staining, to verify the staining itself we had included 10 week-old mice as a positive control, and confirmed that the staining worked. In our HFD experiments, however, there were no CD animals as control. Therefore, after there was no PSTAT-3 positive staining after either leptin or saline injection in the HFD animals, the lack of an appropriate control unfortunately did not allow us to draw any conclusion with respect to leptin sensitivity or resistance of these neurons. Another interesting experiment to address the question of whether PPG neurons are leptin resistant after chronic HFD exposure would be to perform electrophysiological recordings from PPG neurons of HFD fed obese animals and examine whether the addition of leptin would still lead to depolarization of these neurons.

Our experiments indicated that even though leptin can regulate PPG neurons, it is not a major driver of central PPG mRNA upregulation. Other molecules should be involved. Because DIO is associated with chronic inflammation and an increase in secretory pro-inflammatory cytokines [17,18], it could be that these cytokines – or some of them – upregulate central PPG expression. One viable candidate may be the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 (IL-6). Data showing that IL-6 stimulates peripheral GLP-1 secretion from the intestine and pancreas and that PPG neurons have functional IL-6 receptors (IL-6R) support this idea [19]. On one hand it was shown that GLP-1 reduces inflammatory markers [20-25], on the other hand GLP-1 has the capacity to enhance inflammatory signalling [26]. Interestingly, IL-6 appears to be involved in the central mediation of the FI and BW effects of GLP-1 in rats and mice [27] because blockade of central IL-6 (and IL-1) signalling eliminated these effects of Ex4. Other studies suggest that leptin increases brain interleukin signalling [28, 29]. The CNS cell types producing IL-6 in response to peripheral signals remain unclear, but various studies point to neurons, astrocytes, and microglia as potential GLP-1-interleukin interaction targets. Interestingly, microglia in an activated state can also produce GLP-1 [22, 30], but the relevance and possible function of this phenomenon has scarcely been examined. Considering the protective properties of GLP-1 in the brain, it is possible that elevated central GLP-1 provides an additional neuroprotective function [31] during the state of chronic low inflammation such as DIO.

All in all, there seem to be bidirectional interactions between IL-6 and GLP-1, and perhaps other cytokines as well, and pathophysiological states such as obesity might further enhance the relevance of these interactions. Importantly, the relationship of central GLP-1 with inflammatory signals has not yet been extensively studied in the context of the chronic inflammatory state of obesity. To do so, one could do in vivo screenings with IP injections of pro-inflammatory cytokines at different concentrations and examine if this would lead to an upregulation of central PPG mRNA.

#### 4.2.3 Can PPG KD prevent DIO?

In order to address the potential of central PPG downregulation in the prevention of obesity, a useful experiment would have been to KD PPG using a LV-shPPG before the development of obesity. That is, perform the KD in mice on CD, then switch them to a HFD and test whether those mice might be protected from the DIO phenotype or at least be spared some of its aspects compared to LV-control infected animals. Unpublished data (not included in this thesis) from an experiment in which we performed the LV-mediated PPG KD in animals fed CD suggest that PPG KD might in fact have a protective effect because these mice gained less weight over time compared to LV-control animals and showed overall the same outcomes when compared to the HFD KD experiments. However, in those experiments we failed to confirm the KD in animals fed CD and, hence, could not use the data.

In fact, all experiments with PPG KD animals on HFD were also done in parallel in animals kept on CD, and the results tended to be similar, hence supporting our major findings and interpretations. Unfortunately, however, the LV-induced KD of PPG in chow-fed animals turned out to be not significant; therefore, I did not include the results in this thesis. The surgeries were performed exactly at the same time, the animals were from the same breeders, and the virus used was from the same badge. Therefore, we can only speculate about the reasons for the difference between HFD and CD-fed animals. One possibility is that the KD was perhaps more efficient when PPG was upregulated, as in HFD-fed DIO mice, than when it was not increased as in CD-fed animals. Further experiments should address this possibility.

In addition, we found that the PPG KD animals had decreased FI and BW compared to the control animals. We did not perform any behavioural test in these animals to examine whether they were eating less because of enhanced satiation and satiety or of other behavioural consequences (e.g. feeling sick). Without this crucial piece of information, it is difficult to speculate about a possible mechanism of the effect of the PPG KD on eating.

Interestingly homozygous glucagon-GFP knock-in mice lacking PPG derived-peptides including GLP-1 were shown to display glucose intolerance similar to their heterozygous controls after 15-20 weeks of HFD exposure, but had lower BW gain and exhibited increased oxygen consumption. Overall these findings suggest that the absence of proglucagon-derived peptides results in resistance to the obesity phenotype [32]. This raises the possibility that central GLP-1 signalling outweighs the, or dominates over, peripheral GLP-1 signalling, or that peripheral and central GLP-1 have different functions.

To further advance our understanding of the role of specifically central GLP-1, it would have been similarly interesting to generate mice with a global PPG KD and re-express PPG only centrally. This should also help to dissect the functions of peripheral and central GLP-1. The down-side of this approach is, however, that when mice are genetically modified to lack a certain gene from birth, other genes often compensate for the absence of the gene of interest, i.e., there may be no particular phenotype. One vivid example are the GLP-1R KD mice with a targeted disruption of the GLP-1R (confirmed with ICV administration of GLP-1, which inhibited FI in WT but not in GLP-1R KO mice). These mice exhibit a rather 'mild' metabolic phenotype with diminished levels of circulating insulin, but no evidence for abnormal BW or FI behaviour [33].

# 4.2.4 Species differences

All experiments of this thesis on the role of central PPG were done in mice. Therefore, we cannot exclude that some of the phenomena that we saw, might differ among species. This might also apply to our experiments

with PPG mRNA upregulation after HFD feeding, when leptin signalling was altered. Some of the discrepant findings in the literature may also be related to species differences. To further emphasize this point I would like to mention that there is a striking difference between mouse and rat PPG neurons. Mouse PPG neurons have leptin receptors and are clearly regulated by leptin, i.e., leptin depolarizes PPG neurons from mice kept on a regular CD [16]. Rat PPG neurons on the other hand are not regulated by leptin [4]. In addition, fasting mice results in lower central PPG mRNA levels, and leptin treatment re-establishes pre-fasting levels. In contrast, neither fasting nor leptin treatment alters central PPG mRNA levels in rats [4]. These species differences raise the question of whether this phenomenon (the PPG overexpression in DIO models) only occurs in mice or whether it is also relevant for human obesity. To my knowledge there are no published data in humans addressing central levels of PPG in obesity, hence the relevance of PPG expression in humans has yet to be established.

#### 4.3 FINAL REMARKS

With the work presented in this thesis, we aimed at contributing to a better understanding of the role of centrally produced GLP-1 in BW homeostasis. We employed several experimental models to address 1) the role of leptin in the regulation of PPG expression by blocking leptin signalling in DIO mice, 2) the role of HFD-induced PPG overexpression in the regulation of BW and food intake using viral-mediated RNA interference, and 3) a different way of PPG neuronal manipulation by using the DREADD technology. In showing that PPG neurons contribute to both aspects of energy homeostasis, that is EI and EE, the obtained results expand current knowledge about the role of central PPG in the regulation of energy balance and raise additional important questions, which need to be addressed in the future.

We also addressed the question of whether MLD Lymph could be used as a readout for peripheral GLP-1 and metabolite release. In our particular experimental setup, the GLP-1 measurements in intestinal lymph did not provide additional insights. Nevertheless, this model could still be useful for addressing different questions, for instance to examine whether the sampling of intestinal lymph could be a valuable tool to monitor the release of other intestinal peptide or metabolites derived from enterocytes, or for questions in relation to fat absorption and intestinal immunity. Overall, the results raise several questions and suggest future experiments that could not be performed anymore within the scope of this thesis. I believe, however, that if further pursued, the proposed approaches and the animal models developed would allow for further improvements of our basic understanding of the diverse roles of central and peripheral GLP-1 in regulating energy homeostasis.

## 4.4 REFERENCES

- Hussein, M.S., et al., Plasma level of GLP-1 in obese egyptians with normal and impaired glucose tolerance. Archives of Medical Research, 2014. 45(1): p. 58-62.
- 2. Baggio, L.L. and D.J. Drucker, *Biology of incretins: GLP-1 and GIP.* Gastroenterology, 2007. 132(6): p. 2131-57.
- 3. Mannucci, E., et al., *Glucagon-like peptide* (*GLP*)-1 and leptin concentrations in obese patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetic Medicine, 2000. 17(10): p. 713-719.
- 4. Huo, L.H., et al., *Divergent leptin signaling in proglucagon neurons of the nucleus of the solitary tract in mice and rats*. Endocrinology, 2008. 149(2): p. 492-497.
- 5. Holst, J.J., *The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1*. Physiological Reviews, 2007. 87(4): p. 1409-1439.
- Ben-Shlomo, S., et al., *Dipeptidyl peptidase 4-deficient rats have improved bile secretory function in high fat diet-induced steatosis*. Dig Dis Sci, 2013. 58(1): p. 172-8.
- Ding, X., et al., Exendin-4, a glucagon-like protein-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist, reverses hepatic steatosis in ob/ob mice. Hepatology, 2006. 43(1): p. 173-81.
- 8. Kolligs, F., et al., *Reduction of the incretin effect in rats by the GLP-1 receptor antagonist Exendin*(9-39) *amide.* Diabetes, 1995. 44(1): p. 16-19.
- 9. Bradley, D.P., R. Kulstad, and D.A. Schoeller, *Exenatide and weight loss*. Nutrition, 2010. 26(3): p. 243-9.
- Buse, J.B., et al., DURATION-1: exenatide once weekly produces sustained glycemic control and weight loss over 52 weeks. Diabetes Care, 2010. 33(6): p. 1255-61.

- 11. Kitzinger, H.B. and B. Karle, *The epidemiology of obesity*. European Surgery-Acta Chirurgica Austriaca, 2013. 45(2): p. 80-82.
- Astrup, A., et al., *Safety, tolerability and sustained weight loss over 2 years with the once-daily human GLP-1 analog, liraglutide.* Int J Obes (Lond), 2012. 36(6): p. 843-54.
- Shi, X.M., et al., *Acute activation of GLP-1-expressing neurons promotes glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity*. Molecular Metabolism, 2017. 6(11): p. 1350-1359.
- 14. Trapp, S. and J.E. Richards, *The gut hormone glucagon-like peptide-1 produced in brain: is this physiologically relevant?* Current Opinion in Pharmacology, 2013. 13(6): p. 964-969.
- Knauf, C., et al., Brain glucagon-like peptide 1 signaling controls the onset of high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance and reduces energy expenditure. Endocrinology, 2008. 149(10): p. 4768-4777.
- Hisadome, K., et al., Leptin directly depolarizes preproglucagon neurons in the nucleus tractus solitarius electrical properties of GLP-1 neurons. Diabetes, 2010. 59(8): p. 1890-1898.
- 17. Xu, H.Y., et al., *Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance.* Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2003. 112(12): p. 1821-1830.
- van der Heijden, R.A., et al., *High-fat diet induced obesity primes inflam*mation in adipose tissue prior to liver in C57BL/6j mice. Aging-Us, 2015. 7(4): p. 256-268.
- Anesten, F., et al., Preproglucagon neurons in the hindbrain have IL-6 receptor-alpha and show Ca2+ influx in response to IL-6. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 2016. 311(1): p. R115-R123.
- 20. Chaudhuri, A., et al., *Exenatide exerts a potent antiinflammatory effect*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2012. 97(1): p. 198-207.
- 21. Dokken, B.B., et al., *Glucagon-like peptide-1* (*GLP-1*), *immediately prior to reperfusion, decreases neutrophil activation and reduces myocardial infarct size in rodents.* Horm Metab Res, 2011. 43(5): p. 300-5.

- 22. Iwai, T., et al., *Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits LPS-induced IL-1beta production in cultured rat astrocytes.* Neurosci Res, 2006. 55(4): p. 352-60.
- 23. Kodera, R., et al., *Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist ameliorates renal injury through its anti-inflammatory action without lowering blood glucose level in a rat model of type 1 diabetes*. Diabetologia, 2011. 54(4): p. 965-978.
- 24. Parthsarathy, V. and C. Holscher, *The type 2 diabetes drug liraglutide reduces chronic inflammation induced by irradiation in the mouse brain.* European Journal of Pharmacology, 2013. 700(1-3): p. 42-50.
- 25. Yanay, O., et al., *Effects of exendin-4, a glucagon like peptide-1 receptor agonist, on neutrophil count and inflammatory cytokines in a rat model of endotoxemia.* Journal of Inflammation Research, 2015. 8: p. 129-135.
- 26. Kanoski, S.E., M.R. Hayes, and K.P. Skibicka, *GLP-1 and weight loss: unraveling the diverse neural circuitry*. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2016. 310(10): p. R885-95.
- 27. Shirazi, R., et al., *Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor induced suppression of food intake, and body weight is mediated by central IL-1 and IL-6.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2013. 110(40): p. 16199-16204.
- 28. Flores, M.B.S., et al., *Exercise improves insulin and leptin sensitivity in hypothalamus of Wistar rats.* Diabetes, 2006. 55(9): p. 2554-2561.
- 29. Le Foll, C., et al., *Amylin-induced central IL-6 production enhances ventromedial hypothalamic leptin signaling*. Diabetes, 2015. 64(5): p. 1621-1631.
- 30. Kappe, C., et al., *GLP-1 secretion by microglial cells and decreased CNS expression in obesity.* J Neuroinflammation, 2012. 9: p. 276.
- Harkavyi, A. and P.S. Whitton, *Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor stimulation as a means of neuroprotection*. British Journal of Pharmacology, 2010. 159(3): p. 495-501.
- 32. Takagi, Y., et al., *Mice deficient in proglucagon-derived peptides exhibit glucose intolerance on a high-fat diet but are resistant to Obesity.* Plos One, 2015. 10(9).
- Scrocchi, L.A., et al., *Glucose intolerance but normal satiety in mice with a null mutation in the glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor gene*. Nature Medicine, 1996. 2(11): p. 1254-1258.



APPENDIX

Curriculum Vitae

Kornstrasse 3, Schwerzenbach, 8603, CH (+41) 77 484 29 48, nino.jejelava@gmail.com

PERSONAL	31 years old, Georgian Swiss permit B
EDUCATION	<i>PhD student</i> , in Life Sciences Swiss Federal Institutes of Technology (ETHZ), Zürich, Switzerland Expected in February 2018 Specialization: Neuroscience
	Master of Science, in Life Sciences Swiss Federal Institutes of Technology (EPFL), Lausanne, Switzerland February 2011 Specialization: Bioengineering and Biotechnology
	Bachelor of Science, in Physics Tbilisi State University (TSU), Tbilisi, Georgia August 2007 Specialization: General Physics
TECHNICAL SKILLS	<ul> <li>Chemistry: Photolysis of compounds, Solid phase peptide synthesis, Native chemical ligation.</li> <li>Biochemistry: Expression of proteins in E.coli, Purification of proteins (using: anion and cation exchange chromatography, hydrophobic/hydrophilic interaction chromatography, reverse-phased (RP-HPLC) chromatography) Western Blot analysis, Native page, Dot blot, MALDI and ESI analysis.</li> <li>Molecular biology: Single-point mutagenesis, Classical cloning, PCR, RNA extraction quantification.</li> <li>Biophysics: Protein oligomerization assays, Circular dichroism, Thioavin T fluorescence assay.</li> <li>Cellular biology: Cell culture, Transfections, Isolation of embryonic primary cortical/hippocampal neurons, Cytotoxicity assays, Immunocytochemistry, Microvescile and Exosome isolation.</li> <li>Microscopy: Transmission electron microscopy, Wide-field fluorescence microscopy, Confocal microscopy.</li> <li>Animal experimentation: Handling mice and rats, blood sampling, dissections, perfusion.</li> <li>Surgery: Stereotaxic injections, 3rd and 4th ventricular cannulation in mice, implantation of hepatic portal vein, jugular vein and vena cava cathetars in rats.</li> </ul>
RESEARCH EXPERIENCE	Phd Student2012 - NowLaboratory of Physiology and Behavior in the Institute of Food, Nutrition and HealthETH Zürich, Switzerland• Investigating on leptin regulation of preproglucagon neurons.• Influence of GLP-1 on mice behavior in high fat diet conditions.• Lymph and blood parallel sampling in unrestrained rat model.

Laboratory experience

Laboratory of Systems and Cell Biology of Neurodegeneration in the Division of Psychiatry Research, UZH, Zurich, Switzerland 2011 - 2012

- Working on cellular basis of the release and transmissibility of amyloidogenic proteins.
- Investigating the origin of presence of cytosolic proteins in the human cerebrospinal fluid (CSF).
- Performing characterization of Amyloid beta aggregates, isolation of different aggregated species and their further use on cytotoxicity studies.

#### Master thesis project

Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology and Functional Neuroproteomics (LMNN), EPFL, Lausanne, Switzerland

• Working on characterization and applications of a novel chemical tool with photolable linker to control protein/peptide folding and amyloid formation.

# Engineer

Georgian National Found, Tbilisi, Georgia

• My responsibilities included conducting various calculations using Numerical methods like FDTD and MAS.

#### Researcher

Laboratory of Applied Electrodynamics, TSU, Tbilisi, Georgia

• Involved in a project concerned with investigation of "The influence of electromagnetic radiation on living objects", where we developed software to simulate different physical phenomena, especially from electromagnetic field theory.

COMPUTER Languages & Software: Fortran, Delphi, Pascal, Python, Java, Mathematica, LaTex, Eclipse, Netbeans, Web development. SKILLS

## **OPEN INITIATIVES**

- 2016 Developed recycling event converter for Schwerzenbach Gemeinde
  - Python-based event converter for calendar integration
  - Supports Google and MS Outlook calenders

# 2015 - Co-Organizer of a joint EPFL - ETHZ summer school in Translational Biology

- Event initiator and coordinator from ETHZ side
- Recruitment and management of volunteers for organizing the event
- Management of administrative aspects
- Speakers selection and invitation
- Marketing activities for popularizing the event

2010 - Extending features and capabilities of the open source digital library system Invenio, maintained at CERN by CERN Document Server (CDS) group.

- Suggested usability improvements
- Extended language pack to support new languages

2011 - 2012

2010 - 2011

2006 - 2007

2003 - 2007

# **PUBLICATIONS** 1. Jejelava N., Langhans W., Shin J. L., "Pre-Pro-Glucagons neuronsin in regulating energy homeostasis." In preparation.

- 2. Jejelava N., Kaufman S., Krieger JP., Terra MM., Langhans W., Arnold M., "Intestinal lymph as a readout of meal-induced GLP-1 release in an unrestrained rat model." Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2018 Jan 17.
- 3. Awad L., **Jejelava N.**, Burai R., Lashuel HA., "Novel chemical tools to facilitate the synthesis and control the folding and Self-assembly of amyloid-forming polypeptides." Chembiochem. 2016 Dec 14;17(24):2353-2360.
- Shin J. L., Diener K., Kaufman S., Krieger JP., Pettersen G. K., Jejelava N., Arnold M., Watts A., Langhans W., "Limiting glucocorticoid secretion increases the anorexigenic property of Exendin-4." Mol Metab. 2016 May 4; 5(7):552-65.
- Razmadze, L. Shoshiashvili, D. Kakulia, G. Kajaia, N. Jejelava, R. Zaridze. "Accuracy Control of Finitr Difference Time Domain (FDTD) Method using Method of Auxiliary Sources (MAS) and Invesigation of Correlation between SAR and Temperature Rise". Topical Meeting Notes of 17th International Zurich Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility. 27 February - 3 March, 2006, Singapore. pp. 89-92. http://www.emc-zurich.org
- 6. R. Zaridze, D. Kakulia, D. Mazmanov, L. Manukyan, N. Jejelava, T. Gogua. "Analyses of Several Realistic Exposure Scenarios near Cellular Base Stations". Proceedings of 17th International Zurich Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility. 27 February - 3 March, 2006, Singapore. pp. 273-276. http://www.emczurich.org
- R. Zaridze, D. Kakulia, A. Razmadze, L. Shoshiashvili, D. Mazmanov, L. Manukyan, N. Jejelava, G. Bit-Babik, A. Bijamov, A. Faraone. "Assessment of Human Exposure to RF Energy in Some Real Scenarios", Proceedings of the 2006 IEEE AP-S International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC/URSI National Radio Science Meeting, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA, July 9 - 15, 2006. pp. 729-732.
- R. Zaridze, D. Kakulia, A. Razmadze, L. Shoshiashvili, D. Mazmanov, L. Manukyan, N. Jejelava, T. Gogua. "Average Human Model Introduction to Study Realistic Human Exposure to RF Energy". Proceedings of MEDITERRANEAN MICROWAVE SYMPOSIUM 2006, September 19-21, 2006, Genova, Italy. pp. 52-55.
- L. Shoshiashvili, A. Razmadze, N. Jejelava, R. Zaridze, L.G. Bit-Babik, A. Faraone. Validation of numerical bioheat FDTD model. Proceedings of XIth International Seminar/Workshop on Direct and Inverse Problems of Electromagnetic and Acoustic Wave Theory (DIPED-2006), October 11-13, 2006, Tbilisi, Georgia. pp. 201-204.
- Zaridze R., Kakulia D., Kajaia G., Mazmanov D., Manukyan L., Jejelava N., Gogua T. "EM Field Propagation Outdoors and Indoors and Unconfined Spaces". Proceedings of the European Conference on Antennas & Propagation (EuCAP 2006), November 6-10, 2006, Nice, France.

POSTER PRESENTATION

- Jejelava N., Langhans W., Lee J. S., Increased central glucagon like peptide-1 (GLP-1) production contributes to high fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity (DIO) SSIB 2016, the 24th Annual Meeting of the Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior, Portugal, Porto July 2016
- Jejelava N., Thürlemann M., Langhans W., Lee J. S., Leptin receptor in GLP-1 neurons contributes to diet-induced obesity Innovation for Health, Netherlands, Rotterdam February 2016

	• Jejelava N., Arnold M., Langhans W., Characterization of Glucagon-like peptide- 1 (GLP-1) release and distribution in blood and lymph using the unrestrained rat model, Switzerland, Ascona, September 2014
	• Minakaki G., <b>Jejelava N.</b> , Surendranath V., Rajendran L., On the origin of cytosolic proteins in the cerebrospinal fluid, Tag der Forschung der Psychiatrie und Kinderund Jugendpsychiatrie, Switzerland, Zurich, December 2011
	• Awad L., <b>Jejelava N.</b> , Brik A., Lashuel H., Novel chemical tools to facilitate the synthesis and control the folding and Self-assembly of amyloid-forming polypep- tides, The 22nd American Peptide Symposium, USA, San Diego, June 2011
	• Awad L., <b>Jejelava N.</b> , Brik A., Lashuel H., Novel chemical tool to control folding and amyloid-formation, The EPFL-ETH-Tokyo Tech Joint Symposium, Switzer- land, Lausanne, June 2011
CERTIFICATIONS AND AWARDS	• 2011 - LTK module 1.
	• 2008 - Development and research scholarship for MS studies.
	• 2007 - Excellence scholarship in BS studies.
	• 2006 - First Degree Diploma in programming and computer modelling, at 66 <sup>th</sup> student's conference (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2005 - Second Degree Diploma in programming and computer modelling, at 65 <sup>th</sup> student's conference (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2005 - Diploma in physics at $65^{th}$ student's conference (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2004 - Third Degree Diploma in physics at $64^{th}$ student's conference (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2003 - Diploma in actual of physics at student's conference (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2003 - Certificate in 16 <sup>th</sup> International Young Physicists' Tournament (Sweden, Uppsala).
	• 2003 - Second Degree Diploma at 12 <sup>th</sup> Republic Young Physicists' Tournament (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2003 - First Degree Diploma at South Caucasus 3 <sup>rd</sup> Regional Young Environmentalists' Tournament (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2002 - Third Degree Diploma in biology, at Republic Olympiad (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2001 - Third Degree Diploma in biology, at Republic Olympiad (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 2000 - Third Degree Diploma in biology, at Republic Olympiad (Georgia, Tbilisi).
	• 1999 - Won award in biology, at City Olympiad (Georgia, Tbilisi).
LANGUAGES	Georgian   Russian   English   German
	Mother tongue Fluent Fluent Intermediate
EYTRA-	• 2015 now Mombon of Schwarzonhach Tannis duh
CURRICULAR	<ul> <li>2013-now - Member of Schweizenbach Tennis Club.</li> <li>2014-now - Founder of startup for producing educational toys and puzzles</li> </ul>
ACTIVITIES	<ul> <li>2004-2007 - Member of the Tbilisi State University girl's basketball team.</li> </ul>

 $\bullet~1995\mathchar`-2002$  - School of music with specialization in Fortepiano.